
 

 

Democratic Services ◦ Chief Executive’s Department ◦ Leicestershire County Council ◦ County Hall  

Glenfield ◦ Leicestershire ◦ LE3 8RA ◦ Tel: 0116 232 3232 ◦ Email: democracy@leics.gov.uk 
 

 

www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy  

  
www.http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk 

 

 

 

 
  

 

Meeting: Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee  
 
 

 

Date/Time: Wednesday, 11 November 2020 at 2.00 pm 

Location: Microsoft Teams Video link.  

Contact: Mr. E. Walters (0116 3052583) 

Email: Euan.Walters@leics.gov.uk 

 
Membership 

 
Dr. R. K. A. Feltham CC (Chairman) 

 
Mr. D. C. Bill MBE CC 

Mr. J. G. Coxon CC 
Mrs. A. J. Hack CC 

Dr. S. Hill CC 
 

Mr. J. Morgan CC 
Mr. J. T. Orson JP CC 
Mrs. R. Page CC 
Mr T. Parton CC 
 

Please note: The Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting on Wednesday 11 
November 2020 at 2:00pm will not be open to the public in line with Government 
advice on public gatherings. 
 
This meeting will be filmed for live or subsequent broadcast via YouTube: 
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCWFpwBLs6MnUzG0WjejrQtQ 

 
 

 
AGENDA 

 
Item   Report by   

 
1.  

  
Minutes of the meeting held on 9 September 
2020.  
 

 
 

(Pages 5 - 16) 

2.  
  

Question Time.  
 

 
 

 

3.  
  

Questions asked by members under Standing 
Order 7(3) and 7(5).  
 

 
 

 

4.  
  

To advise of any other items which the 
Chairman has decided to take as urgent 
elsewhere on the agenda.  

 
 

 

mailto:democracy@leics.gov.uk
http://www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy
http://www.leics.gov.uk/local_democracy
http://www.leics.gov.uk/local_democracy
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCWFpwBLs6MnUzG0WjejrQtQ


 
 
 
 

 

 
5.  

  
Declarations of interest in respect of items on 
the agenda.  
 

 
 

 

6.  
  

Declarations of the Party Whip in accordance 
with Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rule 
16.  
 

 
 

 

7.  
  

Presentation of Petitions under Standing Order 
35.  
 

 
 

 

8.  
  

Healthwatch Leicestershire report - Patient 
experience of Children and Adolescents 
Mental Health Services.  
 

 
 

(Pages 17 - 50) 

9.  
  

Healthwatch Leicestershire Report - Using 
dental services with Special Educational 
Needs and Disabilities.  
 

 
 

(Pages 51 - 72) 

10.  
  

Health Performance Report.  
 

Chief Executive 
 

(Pages 73 - 124) 

11.  
  

Development of a Healthy Weight Strategy for 
Leicestershire.  
 

Director of Public 
Health 
 

(Pages 125 - 
152) 

12.  
  

Director of Public Health Update on Covid-19.  
 

Director of Public 
Health 
 

 

 A presentation will be given by the Director of Public Health for 
Leicestershire Mike Sandys. 
 
 

 

13.  
  

Dates of future meetings.  
 

 
 

 

 Future meetings of the Committee are scheduled to take place on 
the following dates all at 2:00pm: 
 
13 January 2021; 
18 March 2021; 
02 June 2021; 
01 September 2021; 
10 November 2021. 
 
 

 

14.  
  

Any other items which the Chairman has 
decided to take as urgent.  
 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 
 

 

QUESTIONING BY MEMBERS OF OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
 
The ability to ask good, pertinent questions lies at the heart of successful and effective 
scrutiny.  To support members with this, a range of resources, including guides to 
questioning, are available via the Centre for Public Scrutiny website www.cfps.org.uk.  
 
The following questions have been agreed by Scrutiny members as a good starting point 
for developing questions:- 
 

 Who was consulted and what were they consulted on? What is the process for and 
quality of the consultation? 

 How have the voices of local people and frontline staff been heard? 

 What does success look like? 

 What is the history of the service and what will be different this time? 

 What happens once the money is spent? 

 If the service model is changing, has the previous service model been evaluated? 

 What evaluation arrangements are in place – will there be an annual review? 
 

http://www.cfps.org.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



 

  

 
 

Minutes of a meeting of the Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee held via Microsoft 
Teams video link on Wednesday, 9 September 2020.  
 

PRESENT 
 

Mr. D. C. Bill MBE CC 
Mr. J. G. Coxon CC 
Dr. R. K. A. Feltham CC 
Mrs. A. J. Hack CC 
Dr. S. Hill CC 
 

Mr. J. Morgan CC 
Mr. J. T. Orson JP CC 
Mrs. R. Page CC 
Mr T. Parton CC 
 

 
In attendance 
Mr. L. Breckon CC, Cabinet Lead Member for Health and Wellbeing. 
Mukesh Barot, Deputy Manager, Healthwatch Leicestershire. 
Hazel Buchanan, Associate Director of Strategic Programmes, Nottingham and 
Nottinghamshire CCG (minute 10 refers). 
Miriam Duffy, Programme Director, National Rehabilitation Centre (minute 10 refers). 
Tamsin Hooton, Assistant Director of Urgent and Emergency Care, LLR CCGs (minutes 
11 and 13 refer) 
Tim Sacks, Head of Estates Planning, LLR CCGs (minutes 11 and 12 refer). 
 

1. Appointment of Chairman.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That Dr. R. K. A. Feltham CC be appointed Chairman of the Health Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee for the period ending with the date of the Annual Meeting of the 
County Council in 2021. 
 

Dr. R. K. A. Feltham CC in the Chair. 
 

2. Election of Deputy Chairman.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That Mr. T. Parton CC be elected Deputy Chairman of the Health Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee for the period ending with the date of the Annual Meeting of the County 
Council in 2021. 
 

3. Minutes of the previous meeting.  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on held on 3 June 2020 were taken as read, confirmed 
and signed.  
 

4. Question Time.  
 
The Chief Executive reported that no questions had been received under Standing Order 
34. 
 

5 Agenda Item 1



 
 

 

 

5. Questions asked by members under Standing Order 7(3) and 7(5).  
 
The Chief Executive reported a question had been received from Mr. M. Hunt CC under 
Standing Order 7. 
 
Mr Max Hunt CC asked the following question of the Chairman: 
 
Since the covid-19 pandemic arrived, to what extent are more consultations with patients, 
with life threatening conditions, being conducted by telephone, rather than face to face? If 
so, why and what measures are in place to correct this?  
 
To what extent are patients allowed to be accompanied by family members for such life 
critical consultations? If family members are not permitted to accompany patients to face 
to face appointments what measures are being put in place to correct this?  
 
How do these matters affect Oncology, in particular? 
 
 
The Chairman replied as follows: 
 
Prior to the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic, the NHS Long Term Plan (released in 
January 2019) required NHS organisations to expand the usage of digital & telephone 
technologies within outpatients (to meet the year 33% target of reducing face to face 
outpatient appointments). The COVID-19 pandemic has acted as a catalyst for this 
programme and technology has been a key tool in ensuring vital outpatient appointments 
are not lost because of either national/local lock downs and/or population shielding.  
 
The use of technologies such as virtual & the telephone have grown from approximately 
20% of all appointments to between 50-60% and have supported the reduction in waiting 
times for outpatient new/follow up appointments to lower than before the onset of COVID-
19 (approximately 2,500 patients are now no longer waiting for an appointment as 
opposed to the same time in January 2020). 
 
Face to Face outpatients (where medically required), were not stopped (in their entirety) 
throughout the pandemic and technology was utilised on a patient by patient basis 
(based on clinical need) as part of a varied landscape of appointments types.  
A standard Operating Procedure (SOP) is in place for the delivery of virtual outpatients, 
which ensures the nature of the conversation and attendance by family members is 
assessed before the appointment takes place. 
 
There have been no known instances of telephone/virtual technologies being used 
inappropriately and feedback from patient surveys has demonstrated 88% satisfaction 
with the use of technologies such as telephone/virtual. 
 
Patients are able to request the support of family members/carers during a non-face to 
face appointment (telephone and virtual) and clinician’s will also ensure this is the case 
(where required). 
 
At the current time UHL continues to have more restricted visiting and attendance for 
face to face appointments than usual to try and provide the required level of protection for 
all and to decrease the possibility of spread. UHL are continuously reviewing their policy 
triangulating with national guidance, specialty guidance and the local prevalence of 
infection rates. They do however aim to assess each case on an individual basis at the 

6



 
 

 

 

discretion of the clinician and the nature of that particular consultation (breaking bad 
news for example). Throughout the pandemic UHL has tried to always assess the needs 
of its patients and their families and react with a compassionate manner whilst 
maintaining everyone’s safety. UHL has just recently updated its visiting policy in line with 
the national restoration and recovery phase. Specific paragraphs from the revised 
guidance are set out below and UHL are in the process of developing a patient and family 
leaflet to further explain.  
 

In specific circumstances it is beneficial for carers or family  
members to be invited into the clinical areas to support adult patients, such as 
patients with learning disabilities or who are cognitively impaired. There are also 
specific circumstances where the individual needs of a patient warrant the presence 
of a family member or carer, such as patients with communication difficulties.  
If a patient is to receive bad news in relation to their healthcare prognosis or general 
well-being, it may be in their best interests to invite a relative / carer or significant 
other to provide support during or after receiving this news.  
 
The current visiting restrictions also apply to Outpatients Facilities, and each clinic 
should undertake an assessment to ascertain the feasibility of implementing the 
relevant exceptions for a patient attending an outpatient clinic accompanied by their 
relative. The physical layout of the clinic; the risk to the patients attending and the 
number of clinic attenders will need to be considered. It is anticipated that only a 
small number of patients will fall into the exception criteria and if the physical 
environment means that the clinic is unable to accommodate relatives attending 
then the clinic should consider other support mechanisms, such as (where 
appropriate) involving a clinical nurse specialist or using a virtual clinic format so the 
relatives can be present and offer support. 
 
Maternity Specific   
Scan Facilities - Partner may attend scan ensuring social distancing is maintained.  
Antenatal Facilities – restricted visiting however each clinic will undertake individual 
assessments, and if social distancing can be maintained then partners may attend. 
Will be communicated on an individual clinic basis. 

 
The use of virtual and telephone technologies have been vital in ensuring that patients 
within UHL oncology (and wider cancer services) did not have their care negatively 
impacted during the first phase of the pandemic (especially for those shielding). Medical 
oncology are currently delivering 50-60% of appointments virtually and this has risen from 
approximately 10% pre COVID-19. Each patient’s needs were assessed prior to making 
the decision on whether or not to proceed with a virtual outpatient and this includes the 
appropriateness of the conversation in terms of the non-face to face context and the 
attendance of family members. Appointments will not take place virtually if the clinical 
teams assess the needs as not meeting the requirements within the Standard Operating 
Procedures. 
 
The meeting of the Leicestershire, Leicester and Rutland Health Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee on 23 September 2020 will have an agenda item relating to the response of 
the health service to the covid-19 pandemic and the report will make specific reference to 
cancer treatment performance. I will ensure that the Democratic Services Officer 
forwards a copy of the report to Mr Hunt CC.  
 
 
 

7



 
 

 

 

6. Urgent items.  
 
There were no urgent items for consideration. 
 

7. Declarations of interest.  
 
The Chairman invited members who wished to do so to declare any interest in respect of 
items on the agenda for the meeting. 
 
No declarations were made. 
 

8. Declarations of the Party Whip.  
 
There were no declarations of the party whip in accordance with Overview and Scrutiny 
Procedure Rule 16. 
 

9. Presentation of Petitions under Standing Order 35.  
 
The Chief Executive reported that no petitions had been received under Standing Order 
35. 
 

10. NHS Rehabilitation Centre.  
 
The Committee received a presentation from NHS Nottingham and Nottinghamshire 
Clinical Commissioning Group regarding a consultation they were holding on proposals 
for a NHS Rehabilitation Centre on the Stanford Hall Rehabilitation Estate near 
Loughborough. The Committee was also in receipt of written comments from Leicester, 
Leicestershire and Rutland CCGs regarding the proposals. Copies of the presentation 
slides, the consultation documents and the comments from Leicester, Leicestershire and 
Rutland CCGs are filed with these minutes.  
 
The Committee welcomed to the meeting for this item Hazel Buchanan, Associate 
Director of Strategic Programmes, Nottingham and Nottinghamshire CCG, and Miriam 
Duffy, Programme Director, National Rehabilitation Centre. 
 
Arising from discussions the following points were noted: 
 
(i) The NHS Rehabilitation facility would be located alongside the military rehabilitation 

facility on the Stanford Hall estate. There would also be a National Research and 
Innovation Hub and a Training and Education Centre on the site. The NHS patients 
would be treated by NHS staff not military staff entirely separately from the military 
patients however the NHS patients would be able to use the military facilities. The 
NHS staff would have access to the whole site including the military area and would 
be able to take patients onto the military part of the site to use the facilities there. 
The distance between the NHS part of the site and the military part was 
approximately 400 metres so it was not far for the patients to travel. It was not 
intended that equipment would be moved around the different parts of the site. 

 
(ii) Some of the equipment at the Rehabilitation Estate was genuinely state of the art 

such as the the Gait Laboratory, and the Computer Assisted Rehabilitation 
Environment (CAREN) which was one of only six in the world, and. Other 
equipment on the site, such as the hydrotherapy pool, was not state of the art but 
had not been available for NHS patients in the East Midlands to use before. 

8



 
 

 

 

 
(iii) In response to concerns raised by members and LLR CCGs that there would be 

insufficient demand for the facilities provided by the NHS Rehabilitation Centre it 
was explained that the Centre was proposed to be a level 2b rehabilitation facility 
and whilst in Leicestershire there were level 1 and level 2a facilities, currently there 
were no 2b facilities. The nearest 2b facility was in Nottinghamshire. The East 
Midlands region was short of inpatient rehabilitation capacity and was only able to 
provide 33% of that recommended in the British Rehabilitation Standards. There 
were currently long waiting lists therefore the NHS Rehabilitation Centre would fulfil 
a pressing need.  

 
(iv) With regard to the comments from LLR CCGs regarding favouring a Home First 

model, Nottingham and Nottinghamshire Clinical Commissioning Group clarified 
that they strongly supported the Home First model, and the NHS Rehabilitation 
Centre facility was designed to complement the Home First services not replace 
them.  

 
(v) Concerns were raised by a member that should the military no longer be involved in 

combat operations and as a consequence lose their funding for the rehabilitation 
centre, the NHS patients would no longer be able to use the military rehabilitation 
facilities. In response reassurance was given that 85% of the military patients that 
used the rehabilitation centre required treatment as a result of day to day military 
activities, not combat operations therefore there would continue to be a military 
need for the rehabilitation centre whether the military was involved in combat 
operations or not. The military had also committed to using the site to conduct 
research with the NHS. 

 
RESOLVED: 
 
(a) That the contents of the presentation be noted; 
 
(b) That the comments now made by the Committee be forwarded to NHS Nottingham 

and Nottinghamshire Clinical Commissioning Group to form part of the consultation. 
 

11. Community Services in Ashby de la Zouch.  
 
The Committee considered a report of Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Clinical 
Commissioning Groups (LLR CCGs) which provided an update on progress in developing 
the community services redesign work, particularly in relation to Ashby de la Zouch. A 
copy of the report, marked ‘Agenda Item 11’, is filed with these minutes. 
 
The Committee welcomed to the meeting for this item Tamsin Hooton, Assistant Director 
of Urgent and Emergency Care, LLR CCGs, and Tim Sacks, Head of Estates Planning, 
LLR CCGs. 
 
Arising from discussions the following points were noted:  
 
(i) The six Community Hubs were based in Coalville, Melton, Hinckley, Loughborough, 

Market Harborough and one based on Warren Park Way, in Enderby, Blaby District. 
Ashby de la Zouch was served by the Coalville Hub and Ashby residents could also 
access services provided by the District Nursing Clinic. A map showing the 
boundaries of the Hubs would be circulated to members after the meeting along 
with a briefing note which set out what services each of the Hubs were providing. 

9



 
 

 

 

 
(ii) The model of care proposed under the Community Services Redesign work applied 

to the Lutterworth area and in particular Feilding Palmer hospital. 
 

(iii) In response to a question regarding the £720,000 funding received under Section 
106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and invested in the privately owned 
Ascebi House premises, it was explained that funding received under Section 106 
was treated as a capital grant by the NHS and used for the development of 
premises. Notional rent payments were made by the NHS for premises delivering 
General Practice services and the use of Section 106 to fund the capital required to 
develop the premises meant that the rent could be abated for 15 years, either 
entirely or reduced by 66%. The Section 106 developer contributions were passed 
to the CCG and then used to fund the premises developments. The ownership of 
the premises remained with the person, practice or organisation named on the title 
deeds including the additional value added by the contribution. Were the building to 
be sold it would still have to be used for providing healthcare. 

 
(iv) By spending the funding on NHS buildings this benefited new and existing patients 

in that new or improved facilities could be provided to deliver health care services 
from. With the Community Services Review the investment in capital would result in 
more revenue and an expansion in the primary care workforce. 
  

RESOLVED: 
 
That the update on progress in developing the community services redesign work be 
noted. 
 

12. Primary Care Estate Strategy.  
 
The Committee considered a report of Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Clinical 
Commissioning Groups (LLR CCGs) which provided an update on progress towards 
developing a Primary Care Estate Strategy. A copy of the report, marked ‘Agenda Item 
12’, is filed with these minutes. 
 
The Committee welcomed to the meeting for this item Tim Sacks, Head of Estates 
Planning, LLR CCGs. 
 
Arising from discussions the following points were noted: 
 
(i) The previous Estates Strategy was completed in the period 2008-2010 therefore it 

was now out of date and the new version would be significantly different as 
circumstances had changed greatly since then. NHS England had funded the latest 
baseline survey regarding Estates. The CCG was confident that the target to have 
Phase 3 of the process completed by the end of December 2020 would be met. 
Members were reassured that the new Primary Care Estates Strategy would be a 
living document which would be regularly revised and if the planning guidance 
changed as a result of the August 2020 Government White Paper on Planning then 
the Estates Strategy could be updated to reflect the new guidance.  
 

(ii) Members emphasised the need for health infrastructure to match housing and 
population growth. Members asked to be more involved in the process for deciding 
where health facilities were to be located and how many patients the services could 
accommodate, in order that members could give reassurance to local people that 

10



 
 

 

 

there would be enough provision. In response to a request from a member that 
Local Authorities be able to feed into the draft version of the Primary Care Estates 
Strategy it was explained that the CCG was not at the stage of producing a draft yet 
and timescales for publication of the document had not yet been agreed but 
partners would be involved at the appropriate time. The CCGs acknowledged that 
improvements did need to made in the way the process under Section 106 of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 was communicated to Councils and 
Councillors and reassurance was given that in future members would be involved 
when their division was impacted. It was intended that in future the Planning 
process would give greater clarity to what the CCGs’ intentions were with using the 
Section 106 monies; whether a new facility would be built or existing facilities be 
improved. As part of the process the CCGs would give consideration to whether 
public sector premises could be used to provide health services from. Members 
were pleased to see that there would be more joint working between health partners 
and local authorities in regard to planning health infrastructure and identifying need.  
 

(iii) Members asked that when the CCGs were considering need they took into account 
the demographics of the population living in a particular area and the amount of 
specialist housing being built. In response it was acknowledged that housing was 
not generic and the demographics of the population were taken into account when 
assessing what infrastructure was needed, and more work would be carried out in 
relation to this in future Estates planning. 

 
(iv) A member asked that the Primary Care Estates Strategy did not just focus on need 

created by population growth and new housing but also considered the needs of 
existing communities. It was acknowledged that in most geographical areas the 
health facilities were not underutilised, they were often overstretched therefore 
Estates Planning needed to give due consideration to existing communities. 

 
(v) It was important that Section 106 monies were received early in the process rather 

than once houses had already been built and inhabited so that existing health 
premises were not overrun. In response to a query from a member as to whether 
rent abatements were the best way to spend Section 106 monies and whether it 
should be spent on new equipment instead, it was explained that the Section 106 
contributions were used to fund the capital expenditure necessary to improve, 
extend or build health premises.  The CCGs did not have capital allocations 
therefore they could not give capital funding to GP Practices. This is why the 
Section 106 contributions were so important. When the contributions were used, the  
CCGs were able to abate the rent paid to the practice, for fifteen years, which 
reduced the additional pressure on revenue budgets.   

 
(vi) New premises did not always lead to new staff, and recruitment was a problem 

however it was more difficult to recruit staff for premises that were in need of 
maintenance therefore it was important to focus on the quality of the premises first. 
Where there was a population increase for a particular area, that was likely to result 
in an increase in the list size for a GP Practice and consequently an increase in 
revenue. GP Practices were required to provide services for the patients in their 
area and although CCGs could not instruct GP Practices to spend the money in a 
specific way on additional staffing, it was likely that as list sizes grew there would be 
increased spending by GP Practices on staffing and recruitment would take place. 
The CCG could only intervene where the quality of services the GP Practices were 
providing was below the standard expected, and numbers of staff would form part of 
any review process.  

11



 
 

 

 

 
(vii) A member suggested that the hub and spoke model was better for GP Practices as 

patients had to travel less far and it was more environmentally friendly. In response 
it was explained that Hubs/branch surgeries were hard to staff and there were 
economies of scale with bigger surgeries and more services and appointments 
could be provided.  

 
(viii) In response to concerns that due to Covid-19 patients would be asked to wait 

outside GP Practices during the winter, it was clarified that patients were being 
asked to attend on time and not arrive early which would avoid the need for waiting 
outside, and if patients did need to sit in the waiting area they would be required to 
wear face masks. 

 
RESOLVED: 
 
(a) That the update on progress towards developing a Primary Care Estates Strategy 

be noted and the proposals for how the system should work in future be welcomed. 
 

(b) That officers be requested to provide a report to the Committee on the Primary Care 
Estates Strategy when the document is completed. 

 
13. Independent Review of East Leicestershire and Rutland Minor Injury Units.  

 
The Committee considered a report of East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG which 
provided an update on progress made with regards to the external review of daytime 
provision of minor injury services in the East Leicestershire & Rutland CCG (ELR CCG) 
area. A copy of the report, marked ‘Agenda item 13’, is filed with these minutes. 
 
The Committee welcomed back to the meeting for this item Tamsin Hooton,  Assistant 
Director of Urgent and Emergency Care, LLR CCGs. 
 
It was noted that the review only related to the Minor Injury Units at Market Harborough, 
Melton and Oakham. The Oadby Urgent Care Centre was under a different contract. 
There was a report produced as a result of the review, but it was more discursive in 
nature and there were no clear recommended outcomes. In any case the findings of the 
review now had to be looked at in the wider context of the Community Services work and 
the Covid-19 recovery. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the update regarding the external review of minor injury services in East 
Leicestershire and Rutland be noted. 
 

14. Director of Public Health Update on Covid-19.  
 
The Committee received a presentation from the Director of Public Health which provided 
an update on the spread of Covid-19 in Leicestershire and the actions taken to tackle the 
problem. A copy of the presentation slides, marked ‘Agenda Item 14’, is filed with these 
minutes. 
 
Arising from the presentation the following points were noted: 
 

12



 
 

 

 

(i) The Covid-19 outbreak which occurred in Oadby and Wigston over the summer 
covered the whole District whereas the recent outbreak in Melton was more 
localised so different strategies were required for each outbreak. When outbreaks 
such as these occurred Incident Management Teams were set up involving the 
Director of Public Health, colleagues from the County Council Communications 
Team, and from the relevant District Councils. Messages and leaflets were 
disseminated to the public. A strategy was in place to ensure testing was taking 
place where it was most needed and the post code data which was now available 
helped target this work. 

 
(ii) The spread of Covid-19 had escalated rapidly over the previous few days not just in 

Leicestershire but nationally. Of most concern was the rise in cases in people under 
40 and particularly in the 20-29 age group. Work had been taking place to instil 
good behaviours amongst the population of Leicestershire but further work was 
required and a strategy needed to be put in place urgently. The Cabinet Lead 
Member for Health and Wellbeing emphasised the need for messages to be 
disseminated to all age groups regarding social distancing. 

 
(iii) Concerns were raised by members about testing capacity, the distance people were 

being required to travel to be tested, and the availability of online tests. In response 
the Director of Public Health explained that the issues with testing capacity related 
more to laboratory capacity rather than not having enough appointments available 
at testing centres. The Director was concerned about the number of people 
attending test centres without symptoms and messages needed to be sent to the 
public about not getting tested unless they had Covid-19 symptoms. The Director of 
Public Health was of the view that targeted testing was more appropriate than mass 
testing because mass testing could result in more false positives. 

 
(iv) The testing data which was now going into the public domain was more up to date 

than previously and related to an average over the previous 7 days. The Director 
did have sight of even more up to date data which enabled him to have a better idea 
of trends. This particular data had heavily influenced the approach that was being 
taken nationally to halt the spread of Covid-19 as well as the current approach the 
Director was taking in places such as Harborough and Wigston. 

 
(v) It was acknowledged that there was a risk relating to the number of students 

returning to Loughborough University but it was not considered to be appropriate to 
close the University down. The greatest concern related not to when students were 
in the teaching environment which would be more regulated in terms of social 
distancing, but related to informal gatherings when students were mingling in their 
own free time. Work had taken place with Charnwood Borough Council colleagues 
to deliver messages to students regarding social distancing. The business case had 
been approved for a local testing centre in Loughborough which was approximately 
one mile away from the University campus.  

 
(vi) There were no plans to move the Blaby testing centre away from County Hall, 

Glenfield. Discussions had taken place with Blaby District council colleagues and 
this was the best site available. 

 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the update regarding the spread of Covid-19 in Leicestershire and actions being 
taken to prevent further spread be noted. 

13



 
 

 

 

 
15. Healthwatch Leicestershire Annual Report 2019/20.  

 
The Committee considered a report of Healthwatch Leicestershire which presented their 
Annual Report 2019-20. A copy of the report, marked ‘Agenda Item 15’, is filed with these 
minutes. 
 
The Committee welcomed to the meeting for this item Mukesh Barot, Deputy Manager, 
Healthwatch Leicestershire. 
 
Arising from discussions the following points were noted: 
 
(i) Members welcomed the format of the report and the clear and simple way in which 

it was presented. However, members stated that given that Healthwatch was 
funded equally by Leicester City Council and Leicestershire County Council the 
report should give equal weighting to matters relating to both the City and the 
County. Over the previous few months Healthwatch had experienced staffing 
capacity issues in relation to the Leicestershire part of the organisation however the 
Deputy Manager would now be focusing on Leicestershire for the next two quarters 
to ensure Leicestershire received the appropriate level of coverage. 
 

(ii) Over the year Healthwatch had helped 351 people get the advice and information 
they needed, and members asked Healthwatch to consider how the number of 
people engaged with could be increased 
 

(iii) Members were of the view that the Annual Report did not reflect the full breadth of 
the valuable work carried out by Healthwatch and should contain a full list of the 
projects Healthwatch were involved in. 

 
(iv) Since the Covid-19 pandemic had begun Healthwatch had continued to carry out its 

work and had been taking part in meetings remotely. Unfortunately, Healthwatch 
was no longer able to carry out its Enter and View work, however, UHL had now 
provided patients with tablets/IPads and it was hoped these could be used to enable 
patients to give feedback to Healthwatch. Consideration was also being given to 
using hospital radio to enable patients and carers to call in and give their views on 
the health services being provided. 

 
(v) Healthwatch had become aware that many patients were being told by GP 

Practices that they were out of area and registered with the wrong GP Practice. 
Healthwatch had also received a large amount of feedback relating to patients 
struggling to access appointments at GP practices and long waiting times. A 
member raised concerns that whilst appointments could be booked online not all 
patients were able to use the internet. The lack of access to the internet meant that 
some patients missed out on more general messaging which was conducted online 
and therefore other methods of engaging with patients were required such as 
leaflets. 

 
(vi) Healthwatch were aware that some patients of Black and Minority Ethnic (BME) 

origin could not read or write in their own language and so Healthwatch were 
carrying out work to establish the extent of this problem and establish what could be 
done to disseminate messages to these people. Members emphasised that BME 
patients resided in rural areas as well as inner city areas and therefore the work 
needed to be targeted at the whole of Leicester and Leicestershire. 

14



 
 

 

 

 
(vii) Healthwatch had been involved in a research project relating to mental health and 

urgent care. Healthwatch were hoping to raise awareness of the symptoms of not 
just major mental health conditions but of mild mental health issues which arose 
particularly in the context of the Covid-19 lockdown, and let people know where to 
go for help. A member welcomed this focus on mental health from Healthwatch but 
raised concerns that in tackling both minor and serious mental health conditions 
Healthwatch would be spreading their resources too thinly and needed to make 
sure that those with serious mental health conditions were the primary focus.  

 
(viii) Other priority areas for Healthwatch Leicestershire were patients with disabilities 

and those receiving domiciliary care. Healthwatch were interested in members’ 
views on how to engage with these types of patients. Members made Healthwatch 
aware of the County Council disability network. 

 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the Healthwatch Leicester and Leicestershire Annual Report 2019/20 be noted. 
 

16. Date of next meeting.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
It was noted that the next meeting of the Committee would be held on 11 November 2020 
at 2:00pm. 
 
 
 

     2.00  - 4.45 pm CHAIRMAN 
     09 September 2020 

 

15



This page is intentionally left blank



Using Child & Adolescent Mental 
Health Services (CAMHS) in 
Leicester & Leicestershire –
August 2020 

We surveyed 87 people across Leicester and Leicestershire who use CAMHS, to find 
out about their experience of the service. 

Waiting Times

 Many people felt the time between being referred to CAMHS and their first 
appointment was poor. 57% of people gave a low score of between 1 to 5 (1 being 
totally unacceptable).

 63% of people gave a low score between 1 to 5 for the wait between their first 
appointment, and treatment or a care plan beginning.

Signposting and Complaints

 Signposting to support services that can be used whilst waiting for appointments 
was either not received by people (52%) or said it was unhelpful (13.5%). 

 67% of people said they would not know what to do if they had a concern and 43% 
said they didn’t know how to raise a complaint. 

Key Findings

First Appointments

 First Appointments were a positive experience for a lot of people with 71% 
saying they felt listened to.

 72.5% of people also said they knew what was going to happen next.

Care Plans and Treatment

 The delay in treatment/care plans was viewed negatively with 39% of people 
saying the delay added to their mental health conditions. 

 Once started treatment/care plans were viewed positively.  87% of people said 
the treatment/care plan met their needs.

Our Recommendations

 Reduce waiting times and keep people better 
informed as to what they can expect

 Use better signposting and make sure 
everyone is aware of the support services 
they can use between appointments. This 
would lessen the impact of long waiting times 
for people using the service.

 Raise awareness of the ways in which 
patients and carers can make complaints or 
raise concerns about the service, with CAMHS 
directly or externally.

 Champion and celebrate the things that 
CAHMS do well to help build patient and 
carer confidence and trust in the service.

If you would like to look at the full 
CAMHS report, please visit our website

www.healthwatchll.com

Dyslexic friendly and large print versions 
of the report are available upon request

0116 2518313 | enquiries@healthwatchll.com | www.healthwatchll.com | HealthwatchLeic@

17 Agenda Item 8



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
Using CAMHS in Leicester and 

Leicestershire 
 

Gathering the patient experience of accessing and using the Children 
and Adolescents Mental Health Services in Leicester and Leicestershire 

 

19



2 
 

 Page left BLANK 

  

20



3 
 

 

Contents 
Introduction ............................................................................................................................................................ 4 

Background ............................................................................................................................................................. 4 

What We Did & Why ............................................................................................................................................... 5 

Key findings ............................................................................................................................................................. 6 

Survey Results ..................................................................................................................................................... 6 

Conclusion ............................................................................................................................................................. 20 

Recommendations ................................................................................................................................................ 21 

Next steps! ............................................................................................................................................................ 22 

Thank You! ............................................................................................................................................................ 22 

Appendixes ............................................................................................................................................................ 23 

Appendix A – Demographic Information .......................................................................................................... 23 

Appendix B – all comments for question 10 ..................................................................................................... 27 

Appendix C– all comments for question 11 ...................................................................................................... 28 

Appendix D– all comments for question 12 ..................................................................................................... 29 

Appendix E – all comments for question 19 ..................................................................................................... 29 

Appendix F– all comments for question 20 ...................................................................................................... 30 

Appendix G – all comments for question 23 ..................................................................................................... 30 

Appendix H– all comments for question 28 ..................................................................................................... 30 

 

  

21



4 
 

Introduction 
 

Healthwatch Leicester and Healthwatch Leicestershire (Healthwatch) are the local independent 
voice of the public in the delivery of Health and Social Care in Leicester and Leicestershire. We 
collect feedback from members of the public about their experiences of using health and social 
care services. One of the ways that feedback is collected is through carrying out Special Projects. 
The findings are shared with service commissioners and service providers to influence service 
improvements.  

The subject of a Special Project is chosen by Healthwatch the experiences shared by the public and 
conversations with the local authorities.  Once a Special Project has been agreed, Healthwatch 
focus on the project between 3-12 months, gathering information and opinions of the public.  The 
findings are shared with service commissioners and service providers to influence service 
improvements.  

This project was undertaken to understand the experiences of people using the Children’s and 
Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) in Leicester and Leicestershire. 

Dyslexic friendly and large print versions of the report are available upon request. 

 

Background  
 

Healthwatch have received feedback from parents over a number of years about delays in 
accessing treatment for Children and Adult Mental Health Services (CAMHS). Since then, work has 
been carried out by Leicestershire Partnership Trust (LPT) to address the delays within CAMHS. 
Recent feedback received by Healthwatch suggests this may have moved delays from waiting to be 
assessed, to waiting for treatment. Further investigation is therefore needed to see if this is the 
case. 

This project will seek to evaluate peoples experience of the referral process and their 
treatment/plan of care and identify what changes may be needed to continue to improve people’s 
experience. CAMHS was a national focus for Healthwatch England in 2017-18 and is an area of 
concern highlighted in several Healthwatch areas across the Midlands. 

  

22



5 
 

What We Did & Why 
 

A survey was created to find out how people feel about different aspects of the CAHMS service.  
This included: - 

 The referral processes 
 Treatment/Plan of Care 
 Venue/Transport 
 Overall experience 

The survey was made available on-line for people to complete.  Healthwatch members of staff also 
attended clinics at Westcotes and Valentines Road and ask people attending the clinics to complete 
the survey whilst waiting for appointments. 

We had hoped to complete more surveys and talk to people in waiting rooms, but due to COVID 19 
we had to cease all face to face activities, so the report is based on the survey alone. 

Demographic information was captured as part of this survey and can be found in Appendix A. 

  

23



6 
 

Key findings 
Survey Results 
 

90 surveys were completed.  These included surveys completed on-line and face-to-face at CAHMS 
clinics.  

PART 1  

Questions About the Referral Process 

Healthwatch ask when people were first referred and then when they had their first appointment.  
The information provided is shown in the 2 graphs below. 

 

Q1 When were you first referred to CAMHS? 

 

 

Q2 When did you have your first appointment/assessment after you were referred to CAMHS? 

 

24



7 
 

Using this information, we were able to work out how long people wait between being referred and 
their first appointment. 

 

Some people didn’t answer when their first appointment/assessment was after being referred but 
we are able to compare 74 responses. 23 people (31%) were seen within a month of their referral 
and another 23 (31%) people were seen between 1-3 months. 13 people (17.5%) were seen between 
4-6 months.  7 (9.5%) people were seen between 6 -12 months.  6 (8%) people were seen between 
12 and 18 months and 2 people (2.7%) waited more than 18 months. 

 

Q3 When waiting for your appointment/treatment were you given any resources or 
information, or signposted to any services for support?  Please tick all that apply. 

 

 

25



8 
 

53 (62%) out of 89 people advised they were given some information, resources or signposted while 
waiting for an appointment/treatment.  33 people (38%) advised they did not receive any 
information of this kind whilst waiting. 

 

Q4 Did you find the resources or information or signposting that you received useful? 

67 people answered this question. 

 23 people said yes, very helpful (34.5%) 
 9 people said yes, not very helpful (13.5%) 
 35 said no (52%) 

 

Q5 How do you feel about the length of wait from being referred to having your first 
appointment/assessment?  

On a scale of 1-10 where 1 is a totally unacceptable amount of time to wait to 10 being very 
prompt. 

 

49 people (57%) gave a score of between 1 and 5 with 14 people (16%) advising it was a totally 
unacceptable amount of time to have to wait before they had their first appointment/assessment. 

37 people (43%) gave a score of between 6 and 10 with 10 people (11.5%) advising it was very 
prompt between being referred and their first appointment/assessment. 

  

26



9 
 

Q6 During your initial assessment did the clinician seek your views and opinions? 

80 people answered this question. 

 71 people said yes, they asked for my views (88.75%) 
 7 people said no they didn’t ask me for my views (8.75%) 
 2 people said they tried to share their views but weren’t listened to (2.5%) 

Comments (sic) 

o Cause my child behaved at the assessment she was dismissed as not being at risk 
o Didn't feel comfortable with the clinician so became yes/no and just wanted to 

leave 
o Tactless in parts, especially when dealing with autistic literalness 
o Yes, however my wife was at the initial assessment 

 
 
Q7 After having your initial appointment did you feel you knew what was happening 
next? 
 
80 people answered this question. 

 58 people said yes, they knew what was happening next (72.5%) 
 22 people said no they didn’t ask me for my views (27.5%) 

Of the 22 people who said they did not feel knew what was going to happen next, we ask 
them to tell us why.  Below are some of the comments we received (sic). 

o Didn’t tell us 
o I was 15 and confused 
o Wasn't really explained 
o I didn't know exactly what was going to happen 
o The appointment felt rushed 
o Wasn’t told anything 
o Everything was unclear and timeframes not given 

 

 

  

27



10 
 

Q8 Was the information you were given after your first access appointment clear 

 

Out of 77 people who answered this question 55 (71.5%) said yes.  14 people (18%) said they 
received information, but it wasn’t clear and 8 people (10.5%) did not receive any information. 

 

Q9 Did you feel involved in your care plan/plan of care with your clinician? 

81 people answered this question. 

o 55 people said yes (68%) 
o 13 people said no (16%) 
o 13 people said they weren’t sure (16%) 

When asked why they didn’t feel involved in their care plan/plan of care people left the following 
comments (sic). 

o It was given to us rather than any discussion 
o No one asked me about what I wanted 
o As I wasn't consulted 

 

Q10 Did you agree with the proposed plan of care by the clinician? 

72 people answered. 

 

53

19

Yes

No

0 10 20 30 40 50 60

28



11 
 

 

People who didn’t agree with their care plan gave various reasons some are listed below 

o Didn't understand fully 
o Wasn't asked just informed 
o Wait in between too long 
o Didn't feel it was enough 

 

No common theme emerged.  The full list of reasons can be found in Appendix B. 

 

Q11 Do you have any additional comments or suggestions to make regarding your involvement 
with your care plan and the CAMHS professionals you have been involved with? 

People left positive comments on their involvement in their care plan and with professionals as 
well as areas for improvement. 

On the whole teams and individuals within the CAHMS service received good comments including 
clinicians being “great for my daughter” and “referred by eating disorder team, always rec'd huge 
amount of valuable support”. 

Improvements suggested by people using the service included more updates when waiting and 
interim appointments, home visits and faster times for a care plan to be sent out. 

Full comments to this question can be found in Appendix C. 

 

Q12 Was the venue that you attended for your first CAMHS appointment easy to get to? 

 

68 people (87%) said it was easy to get their first appointment. 

13 people (13%) said no it was not easy 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

Yes No

29



12 
 

Reasons given for it not being easy were mainly because Leicester is too far away.  Some people 
have to get a train or a more than one bus.  Full comments are in Appendix D  

 

Q13 How did you get to the initial appointment? 

 

66 people (85%) got there by car. 11 people (14%) used public transport and 1 person used patient 
transport. Of the 66 people using a car 44 people (71%) said it was easy to park. 18 people (29%) 
answered no to this question.   

Of the 18 people who said it was not easy to park, 2 of these said issues with parking had made 
them late for appointments. One person commented that there are not enough spaces. 

 

Q14 Could you use public transport if you needed to? 

 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

car public transport patient transport

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

Yes No n/a

30



13 
 

26 people (39%) said yes they could use public transport if needed.  31 people (46%) said No and 10 
(15%) advised it was not applicable. 

 

Q15 If you used Patient Transport, were you picked up on time and returned within a 
reasonable time? 

The one person who said they use Patient Transport in Q13 said yes, they were picked up on time 
and returned within a reasonable time. 

5 other people also answered yes to this question.  10 people answered no. 

 

PART 2 – Questions About Treatment & Care 

53 people advised they had started attending a clinic for support/treatment following their initial 
appointment  

 

Q16 When did your care/treatment start? 

 

The graph above shows when people care/treatment started 

 

 

 

 

 

 

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

31



14 
 

 

Q17 How do you feel about the length of wait from first appointment/assessment to the plan of 
care/treatment starting. 

On a scale of 1-10 where 1 is a totally unacceptable amount of time to wait to 10 being very 
prompt.  

42 people (57.5%) gave a score of 1-5, 1 being a s a totally unacceptable amount of time to have to 
wait. 31 people (42.5%) gave a score of 6-10, 10 being a very prompt amount of time to be seen in. 

 

Q18 Which part of the CAMHS services have you been receiving treatment from? 

Service Number % 

CAMHS City Outpatients 19 42.22 
CAMHS County Outpatient 7 15.56 
Young Peoples Team (YPT) 8 17.78 
Eating Disorder Team (EDT) 0 0.00 
Learning Disabilities Team (LDT) 1 2.22 
Crisis 3 6.67 
Group Work 0 0.00 
Paediatric Psychology 7 15.56 

 
Other services used by people answering the survey are listed 
below 
 

o ADHD assessment team 
o Family therapy 
o Clinical psychologist and 

psychiatrist 
o Physiotherapy 

    

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

32



15 
 

4 people said they use more than one service. 
 
Q19 Does the care plan meet your needs? 
 
60 people answered this question 

o 12 people (20%) said no 
o 40 people (67%) said yes  
o 8 people (13%) said it was not applicable 

 
 

Of the people who said the care plan does not meet their need the most common theme (4/12) was 
the wait in receiving their plan.  One person who is happy with their plan said it had taken a year 
for the plan to be put together. 
 
Full comments are listed in Appendix E. 
 
Q20 Does the treatment you are receiving meet your needs? 

 
 
 
45 people said this question was applicable to them.  39 people (87%) said that treatment meets 
their needs.  6 people (13%) said treatment does not meet their needs. 
 
2 people who said the treatment does not meet their needs referred again to not having a care 
plan. 
 
Other themes include: - 

o Focus being on the parent and not the child 
o Feeling they need more help but not “bad enough” to receive it 
o Medication alone with no therapy 

 
Full comments can be found in Appendix F 
  

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

Yes No N/A

33



16 
 

Q21 Are you given any choice as to when your day and appointment time will be? 
 
65 people answered this question. 
 

o 32 people (49%) said No 
o 33 people (51%) said Yes 

 
 

Q22 Are the days and appointment times suitable for you? 

63 people answered this question. 

o 32 people (51%) said no, it was not suitable 
o 31 people (49%) said yes, it was suitable 
o  

 
Q23 Was the venue that you attended for your clinic appointment easy to get to? 

48 people (84%) said it was easy to get their clinic appointment. 

9 people (16%) said no it was not easy 

Reasons given for it not being easy were mainly because the clinic is too far away or public 
transport is not available.  Full comments are in Appendix G. 

 

Q24 How did you get to your clinic appointment(s)? 

52 people (87%) got there by car. 7 people (11.5%) used public transport and 1 person used patient 
transport. 

 

For people using a car (52) 31 people (60%) said it was easy to park. 16 people (31%) said it was not 
easy to park. 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

Car Public Transport Patient Tranport

34



17 
 

Of the 16 people who said it was not easy to park, 1 person said issues with parking had made them 
late for appointments. 3 people commented that there is enough parking spaces. 

 

Q25 Could you use public transport if you needed to? 

25 people (50%) said yes, they could use public transport if needed.  22 people (44%) said No and 3 
people (6%) advised it was not applicable. 

 

Q26 If you used Patient Transport, were you picked up on time and returned within a 
reasonable time? 

The one person who said they use Patient Transport in Q24 said yes, they were picked up on time 
and returned within a reasonable time. 

1 other person also answered yes to this question.  5 people answered no. 

 

Q27 How do you feel about the length of wait from first appointment/assessment to the plan of 
care/treatment starting?   

On a scale of 1-10 where 1 is a totally unacceptable amount of time to wait to 10 being very 
prompt. 

 

19 people (63%) gave a score of between 1 and 5 with 8 people (26.5%) advising it was a totally 
unacceptable amount of from their first appointment/assessment to the plan of care/assessment 
starting. 

11 people (37%) gave a score of between 6 and 10 with 3 people (10%) advising it was very prompt 
from their first appointment/assessment to the plan of care/assessment starting. 

 

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

35



18 
 

 

Q28 Did the length of time waiting for treatment to start after you had your initial assessment 
have any impact on you? 

 

50 people answered this question.  31 people (56%) said yes, it had an impact on them.  24 people 
(44%) said it didn’t have an impact on them. 

If the length of time waiting for treatment/plan of care impacted people, we asked people what 
this had been.   

28 people left additional comments.  The main themes were: - 

 Worsened mental health (11 people – 39%) 
 Used private counselling whilst waiting (3 people – 11%) 
 Negative impacts to the wider family (2 people – 7%) 

1 person told us that whilst waiting they had made suicide attempts waiting for their 
treatment/plan of care to begin. 

All comments have been included in Appendix H. 

 

Q29 Whilst waiting for your clinic appointments to start were you offered/signposted to any 
other type of support/care? 

63 people answered this question. 

o 21 people (33%) said yes 
o 42 people (67%) said no 

 

 

 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

Yes No

36



19 
 

Q30 Would you know what to do if you had a concern or worry about your care within CAHMS? 

64 people answered this question. 

o 34 people (53%) said yes 
o 30 people (47%) said no 

 
 

Q31 Would you know what to do if you wanted to make a complaint? 

65 people answered this question. 

 

37 people (57%) said yes they would.  28 (43%) people said no they wouldn’t. 

 

Q32 Overall, how satisfied are you with the service from CAMHS LPT?   

51 people answered this question.

 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

Yes No

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

Very Good Good OK Poor Very Poor

37



20 
 

19 people (38%) advised they thought overall the service was good or very good.  21 people (42%) 
advised they thought the service was poor or very poor.  10 people (20%) said it was OK. 

 

Conclusion 
 

The survey illustrates that 62% of people are seen for their first appointment/assessment with 3 
months of being referred.  A small minority are still waiting a long time.  This does appear to be 
historic, with the most people waiting 6 months or longer, having been referred before 2018.   

Signposting and being given other places of support during the time people are waiting for their 
first assessment needs to be improved.  52% of people said they had not received any at all and 
13.5% of people said they found the resources unhelpful.  There is a lack communication between 
services and patients and carers, including information on wait times for assessment and treatment  

Most people still feel it is too long to wait between being referred and their first appointment.  57% 
of people scored this wait time between 1 and 5 with 1 being a totally unacceptable time to wait. 
It is clear that the additional resources that have been put into place to bring the wait times down 
has been noticed by people using the service, however in spite of this investment, the majority of 
people feel that the wait time for assessment is too long. If additional high-quality signposting and 
support services were put in place, it could help to manage what patients and carers are going 
through, helping to make them feel supported.   

The initial appointment was is a positive experience for a lot of people with 71% saying they felt 
listened to.  We also received some positive comments relating to CAMHS staff and professionals.  
72.5% of people also said they felt they knew what was going to happen next after the initial 
appointment. 

This then seems overshadowed by the time treatment or a plan of care is started.  2 people who 
said the care plan didn’t meet their needs specifically said this was due to the delay in the plan 
being started.  All other issues with treatment or care plans were individual with no common 
themes.  

The delay in treatment and care plans starting is having a detrimental effect on people using the 
service. 39% of people said they felt the delay added to existing mental health conditions. 
Increased depression and anxiety were particularly mentioned. One-person attempted suicide 
during this period.  The impact to family was also mentioned by 2 people, one citing the wait 
causing a parent’s mental health issue. Care plans need to be put in place in a timely fashion to 
ensure the patients and carers needs are supported from the very start.   

Once begun, results show that treatment/plans of care do meet people’s needs, confirmed by 87% 
of people.  Care plans, overall, seem to be viewed positively.  The majority (77%) of people with a 
care said it met their needs and 68% of people felt involved in the plan.  This does mean that there 
is opportunity to further improve the personalisation of care plans to ensure that services better 
meet the needs of patients and their carers.   

Most people said the venues for appointments and how easy they are to get to were positive with 
only 1 person saying issues with parking had made them late for an appointment.  However, only 39 

38



21 
 

per cent of respondents felt able to use public transport is they needed to.  The reasons behind 
this need to be explored further with patients and carers.   

Information around what to do if anyone has a concern about their experience of CAMHS or what to 
do if someone wanted to raise a complaint looks like it could be improved.  67% of people said they 
would not know what to do if they had a concern and 43% said they would know how to raise a 
complaint.  The process for complaining and ensuring that people know what support is available 
including through third parties, including mental health charities and POWHER, and the corporate 
complaints needs to be publicised more widely, including on the back of appointment letters or on 
posters in waiting areas.  

Based on what people find acceptable, the survey does corroborate feedback Healthwatch received 
that delays have moved from referral/first appointment to first appointment/treatment or care 
plan beginning.   More people (26.5%) found the wait between first appointment and starting 
treatment or a care plan totally unacceptable compared to 16% saying it was totally unacceptable 
between referral and first appointment. More people (63%) also gave the wait time a low score 
between 1 and 5 for time between first appointment to treatment/care plan compared to 57% 
giving a low score between 1 and 5 for the time between referral.  There needs to be open, 
transparent, and regular communication about all the waiting times between service, patients and 
carer.    

Overall people feel listened to once they have been engaged with CAHMS.  They know what will 
happen next and feel the treatment or care plan meets their needs.   If delays between being 
referred and a first appointment and treatment/care plan beginning could be improved and 
signposting for support during this would greatly enhance the service people receive from CAMHS.  
To help patients and carers have confidence in the service provided, it is important that the 
service makes them aware of the things that the service does well.  

Recommendations 
 

These recommendations on the information and evidence gathered:  

 Reduce waiting times between referral/ first appointment and treatment/care plan 
beginning concentrating on the time between first appointment and treatment/care plan 
beginning. 

 Improve and ensure that there is regular communication between services, patients and 
carers to help set expectations by making patients and carers aware of waiting times for 
assessment and treatment and that after initial assessment, there is agreement between 
everyone about what happens next.  

 Ensure that care plans are personalised to the specific needs of patients and their carers 
and ensure that they are put together in a timely fashion.  

 Proactively publicise the ways in which patients and carers can make complaints or raise 
concerns about the service through internal and external processes.   

 More useful signposting and making sure everyone is made aware of support services they 
can use whilst waiting should be considered and there is a need to ensure that it is a good 
quality and personalised offer. This would lessen the negative impact of long waiting times 
for people using the service. 

39



22 
 

 Champion and celebrate the things that CAHMS do well to help build patient and carer 
confidence and trust in the service.  

 Unpick the reasons why patients and carers using CAHMS do not use public transport and 
provide support to enable patients and carers to use public transport.    

 Further investigation could be carried out concentrating on CAHMS and Black and Ethnic 
Minority service users (BAME). 82% of people who completed the survey identified as white 
British.  The investigation could focus on if this is representative of people using the CAMHS 
service and if there are any specific issues facing BAME communities when trying to access 
the service. (Due to lockdown, this is not something that we have been able to pursue 
further). 

 Focus group and one to one interviews could also be considered as a way of building on the 
findings of this report. 
 

Next steps!  
 

This report will be made publicly available through various channels including our website and 
social media to ensure that there is openness and transparency around the report findings and 
recommendations.   

Once this report has been signed off the Board of Healthwatch Leicester and Healthwatch 
Leicestershire, then this report will be sent to the Executive Team and Board of the Leicestershire 
Partnership NHS Trust, service commissioners (including the Clinical Commissioning Group),  the 
mental health and children young people delivery boards for Leicester and Leicestershire and other 
relevant partners who will be asked to give formal consideration of the report and how the 
recommendations could be implemented.  The Board of Healthwatch will ask for a full response to 
the report from these bodies and will review the response in at a Healthwatch Board meeting.  
Through our Board lead for Mental Health and our Board lead for Children and Young People and 
the relevant Healthwatch staff support lead to keep under review the implementation of the 
recommendations.   This will be to ensure that the voices of the people that took part in this 
review are truly listened to and to help ensure that this report leads to service improvements for 
patients and their carers.  Where we have the contact information of those who took part in the 
survey and permission to make contact, we will update them on the outcomes of this review.   

The report will be shared the commissioners of this report, with local authority lead members, the 
City and County Health and Wellbeing Boards and relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committees, the 
Youth Advisory Board of LPT and other relevant boards and committees, who may want to look into 
specific areas in further detail.  We will be ready to help them in whatever we can.   

 

 

Thank You! 
Healthwatch Leicester and Healthwatch Leicestershire would like to thank all the participants who 
helped with this project.  Without you this project would not have been possible. 

40



23 
 

 

Appendixes 
 
Appendix A – Demographic Information 
All demographic information that was completed is captured below.  Some participants chose not 
to complete this section. 

 

1. What is the first part of your postcode? 

 

Based on postcodes, 60% of respondents were from Leicester City and 40% from Leicester County.    

 

2. What age group are you in? 

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35 40 45

City Post Code

County Post Code

41



24 
 

 

64 people who completed the survey and age group information were under the age of 17.  As we 
wanted to capture the experiences of young people this show that we targeted the correct age 
group. 

The survey didn’t ask if it was being completed by a parent or carer.  It could be that the older age 
groups are parents, but we can’t be certain. 

 

3. What ethnic background do you identify as? 

 

82% of people who completed the survey identified as white British.  More needs to be done to look 
into the experience of Black and Minority Ethnic (BAME) within CAHMS.  Investigations should also 
look into this majority and see if it is representative of people using the CAMHS and if so why more 
BAME are not being referred to the service. 

 

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70

Under 11

12 to 17 years old

18 to 24 years old

25 to 34 years old

35 to 44 years old

45 to 54 years old

Prefer not to say

0 10 20 30 40 50 60

White
British/English/Scottish/Welsh/Northern…

Asian/British Asian- Indian

White Irish

Asian/British Asian- Chinese

Any other mixed background

Any other White Background

Mixed White and Black Caribbean

42



25 
 

4. What is your religion or belief? 
 

 

5. What is your marital status? 
 
As this survey concentrated on young people and adolescents, we can’t draw any conclusions 
from this information but it is included for your information. 

 

 

 

6. What is your sexual orientation? 
 

0 5 10 15 20 25 30

Christian

Muslim

Hindu

No Religion

Any other religion or belief

Prefer not to say

Sikh

0 10 20 30 40 50 60

Co-habiting

Married

Single

Prefer not to say

43



26 
 

 
  

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35 40 45

Bisexual

Other

Prefer not to say

Heterosexual

44



27 
 

7. Do you consider yourself to have a disability or long-term condition? 

 

o 20 people (35%) said no 
o 30 people (52%) said yes 
o 8 people (14%) preferred not to say 

 

Appendix B – all comments for question 10 
If you did not feel involved in your care plan, please tell us why. 
  

o It was given to us rather than any discussion 
o No one asked me about what I wanted 
o As nothing was done on first appointment 
o I didn't get one 
o Not aware of care plan 
o Because I wasn't myself, I didn't get the night care 
o Can't remember a plan of action even though I remember seeing the care plan 
o Care plan only issued after overdose 
o Talked about it 
o Still unsure what is happening seems to be little progress. We have been waiting 

for months to med 
o Wasn't very good they didn’t tell me anything 
o As I wasn't consulted 

 

  

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35

Yes

No

Prefer not to say

45



28 
 

Appendix C– all comments for question 11 
Do you have any additional comments or suggestions to make regarding your involvement with 
your care plan and the CAMHS professionals you have been involved with? 

o I don’t mind that the care plan was given to us as CAMHS are professionals and knew what 
was needed 

o Plans more narrative of meeting and very basic plan. No real support more parent/carer to 
do 

o Hanna is great for my daughter it’s a very long process for help 
o More updates when waiting & interim appointments felt like I was just left waiting -would 

be useful 
o Very supportive to my son and his needs Dr Smith is very understanding 
o I don’t feel XXXX was has been well assessed. He had been discharged which should not 

have happened 
o Asked for my view but didn’t listen and wasn't time. Follow up tried to tell them I was 

feeling low 
o I was seen very quickly which is good 
o Lack of organisation, lost letters has made this all drag out too long 
o Everything is good 
o Very long waiting times for psychiatrist 
o Having 3 children need going CAMHS it still a learning curve but staff are really helpful 
o The first crisis nurse didn't seem to listen seemed to have already decided b4 the meeting 
o Can the child choose the male/female. Maybe a home visit. Desperate people in need of 

help 
o Process for ADHD should have started sooner 
o They were very keen to pigeonhole my son. Had to fight to get complex needs considered 
o MHP need to listen more, does not read my child's notes when is holding up the process 
o When my son was first seen by CAMHS they spend 5 mins with him and said nothing 

about the diagnosis 
o Need to see Dr more often and therapy /counselling 
o Please try and ensure continuity of care, so don’t have to explain detailed stuff every 

appt 
o Seems very woolly. Unsure what progress is being made. Fully understand the need for 

patient 
o Quicker response time for care plan to be sent out 
o The wait was too long but once accessed the service was very good 
o Very nice understanding man 
o There should be more 24/7 online chats as Kooth and ChildLine are good but can't help 

all the time 
o Greater face to face contact needed. All except 1st assessment done over the phone 
o When you need the services urgently, like we did, there is a long waiting period but no 

help or support 
o After being transferred to another physio things were much better 
o Try getting the opinions of the child 
o I made official complaint against child’s lead worker in Nov 19 and I am still waiting 
o It would have been nice to have the next steps written down-due to wait between 

appointments was 
o Referred by eating disorder team, always rec'd huge amount of valuable support 

 

46



29 
 

Appendix D– all comments for question 12 
 
All comments on why people find it difficult to get to their first appointment 
 

o But only because I got a lift 
o We had to get train and then taxi 
o Leicester is either a 60-mile round trip or 36-mile round trip depending on route 

and traffic 
o It was not near my house 
o Taxi or 2 bus trips to and from 
o Taxi or 2 bus trips her and back (4 bus trips) 
o I did get lost at Valentine Centre no signposts 
o Need to get taxi and 2 buses 
o Volume transport tricky 
o Other side of city 
o Just a long way 
o We live in Loughborough 
o But a long way to travel to 
o I don’t drive, I’m disabled and struggle to walk 

 

 

Appendix E – all comments for question 19 
 

If your care plan does not meet your needs please tell us why? 

o Since diagnosis no real plan/intervention 
o Need more intervention 
o No support / extra diagnosis 
o See previous comments 
o Other problems remain, only med is for ADHD not enough, other problems glaced 

over 
o Still waiting 
o We are still waiting for a proper care plan 
o It does now after 1 year and 3 assessments 
o He is on the waiting list for other treatments but the treatment at the moment is 

helping partially 
o Can't get to speak to crisis without GP/MHP referral 
o Sometimes 
o Seems to be a little progress no meds prescribed for months 
o No recent plan received 
o No as no one sticks to it 
o We have now been referred to a new worker and psychiatrist 
o Unsure as first appointment today o  

47



30 
 

Appendix F– all comments for question 20 
 
If the treatment does not meet your needs, please tell us why? 
 

o Since diagnosis no real plan/intervention 
o No pd help 
o We are still waiting for a proper care plan 
o Difficult to say at this time 
o Now it does 
o Need more help but apparently my is not 'bad' enough despite taking an 

overdose 
o Only medication at the moment no therapy 
o Focus on me and not on child 
o Unsure as first appointment today 

 
 

Appendix G – all comments for question 23 
 
If it wasn't easy to get to your clinic appointment, please tell us 
why  

o Easy 
o Westcotes good as walk in but Beaumont leys not had to use 

taxi 
o Its 30-minute drive from my house 
o I don't drive can’t get from Oakham 
o 45min to 1hour as travel from other side of Leicestershire 
o No busses 
o 40 minutes away by car 

 
 

Appendix H– all comments for question 28 
 
Did the length of time waiting for treatment to start after you had your initial 
assessment have any impact on you?  If yes please explain how. 
 

o Caused extra strain on family 
o Don’t / didn't know what to do as not diagnosed 
o Waited years for paediatrician and diagnosis and now still 

unsure off diagnosis 
o Yes, my daughter struggled and felt let down 
o Huge because its mental health 
o Once assessed the sooner you can start getting better 
o Better now only because I fought for his care 
o Anxiety kicked in 
o I was doing A-levels 
o My child hasn't received the care she has needs 

48



31 
 

o Possibly but other services (social care) were delayed also 
o As daughter was not settled the uncertainty of what’s next 
o Increased mental health problems 
o Private counselling was used 
o Made my condition worse 
o Got worse 
o Son has anxiety disorder the anxiety got worse 
o Yes, I had to pay for private counselling 
o Anxiety got worse 
o A long time 
o Many days lost at school father depressed as a result 
o Had to get private counselling 
o No support, no assistance: anxiety, depression and 

abandoned 
o Suicide attempts while waiting for support 
o Quick referral 
o No knowledge or information on how to deal with things 
o Made my child’s mental health worse 
o More anxious 

  

 

End of Appendixes  

  

49



32 
 

 

50



(S.E.N.D)

29 people completed a survey and 4 people were interviewed to gain an
understanding of how people with SEND find visiting the dentist in Leicester and 
Leicestershire.

Key Findings

 The interviews highlight how one negative experience can 
affect a child’s relationship and perception of going to the 
dentist for a long time.

 39% of people found the experience of finding and accessing 
dental services for people with SEND to be poor or very poor.  
This was reflected by 43% respondents saying they had a poor 
or very poor experience of registering and attending 
appointments with a dentist.

 71% of people who answered the survey said they have a 
good or very good relationship with their dentist and 71% 
said staff make them feel comfortable at appointments but 
12% didn’t visit the dentist at all.

 When patients are spoken to about their treatment and feel involved 
with what is going on it makes a big difference to how they 
experience the dentist.

 Taste can play a big part in peoples negative experience.

Recommendations

If you would like to look at the 
full SEND dentistry report, 
please visit our website

www.healthwatchll.com

Easy Read, Dyslexic friendly 
and large print versions of the 
report are available upon 
request

 Taking time to talk to a person before an 
examination or treatment can make a 
real difference to how it is received.  
Even if a person can’t communicate with 
a dentist it doesn’t mean they don’t 
understand what is being said to them.  

 Information on the specialist SEND 
dentist should be more widely available.  
This could be advertised in waiting areas, 
GP’s could talk to people about the 
service at annual SEND check-ups or 
schools could be made aware of the self-
referral process to raise awareness of 
this specialist service and let people 
know how to access it.

 Additional sounds smells and tastes at a 
dentist can make visiting the dentist 
overwhelming for people with SEND. 
Small changes could be made, for 
example finding out what fluoride flavour 
someone can tolerate, would make a big 

51 Agenda Item 9



This page is intentionally left blank



  
 

1 
 

 
Using dental services 
with Special 
Educational Needs and 
Disabilities (S.E.N.D) 
Experience of patients with a Special Educational 
Need or Disability using dental service in Leicester and 
Leicestershire.  

  

53



  
 

2 
 

Contents 
Special Project report: S.E.N.D. Access to Dentistry ............................................. 3 

Background .............................................................................................. 3 

What We Did & Why .................................................................................... 4 

Who Took Part .......................................................................................... 4 

Key findings ............................................................................................. 5 

Survey Results ........................................................................................... 5 

Survey Considerations ................................................................................. 9 

Interviews .............................................................................................. 10 

Child case study ..................................................................................... 10 

Interview with a parent ............................................................................ 10 

Conclusion .............................................................................................. 12 

Recommendations ..................................................................................... 13 

Next Steps .............................................................................................. 14 

Thank You! ............................................................................................. 14 

Appendixes ............................................................................................. 15 

Appendix A – Survey Demographics .............................................................. 15 

Appendix B – Full Comments ...................................................................... 17 

Appendix C – Interviews ........................................................................... 18 

 

 

  

54



  
 

3 
 

Special Project report: Patients with a 
S.E.N.D. and access to Dentistry 

 

Healthwatch Leicester and Healthwatch Leicestershire (Healthwatch) are the local 
independent voice of the public in the delivery of Health and Social Care n Leicester and 
Leicestershire. We collect feedback from members of the public about their experiences 
of using health and social care services. One of the ways that feedback is collected is 
through carrying out Special Projects and the findings are shared with service 
commissioners and service providers to influence service improvements.  

The subject of a Special Project is chosen based on experiences shared by the public and 
conversations with the local authorities.   

This project was undertaken to understand the experiences of those using dentist services 
or their carer/family, with a Special Educational Need or Disability (SEND). 

Dyslexic friendly and large print versions of the report are available upon request. 

 

 

Background  
 

Healthwatch attends community groups, and scrutiny boards as part of its work to 
understand people’s experiences of the health and social care services they use.  By 
attending these forums and listening to feedback provided by the public it became 
apparent that the experiences of people with SEND when visiting the dentist could be very 
different.   

People’s experiences either seemed to very good, with dentists building rapport and 
explaining what was going to happen, or very negative, for example someone with autism 
was faced with a dentist in full protective equipment on entering the dentists’ room which 
very frightening.  This experience is captured in more detail as part of the report.  

To better understand how people with SEND find visiting the dentist a special project was 
raised by us.  Special Projects allow Healthwatch to focus on more specific themes or 
issues.  They are chosen in different ways.  It could be the general public, or a volunteer 
organisation have highlighted something we would like to gather more information on.  
Sometimes in discussions with local authorities or other strategic partners they tell us 
areas they would like to know more about.  Projects are then agreed between our 
commissioners and the Healthwatch Leicester Healthwatch Leicestershire Board. 

  

55



  
 

4 
 

What We Did & Why 
 

As part of this project a survey was designed to capture peoples’ overall experience when 
visiting the dentist.  This included things that people with SEND find helpful when going to 
the dentist as well as problems they may face. The survey enabled us to capture feedback 
in an anonymous way and could be shared widely across Leicester and Leicestershire. 

 A QR code was developed that allowed individuals to access the survey online.  This was 
circulated at events and was an effective method when used at the Local Offer event and 
the Hidden Disabilities event. 

3 interviews were also held with the parents of a children with SEND and one interview 
with a child.  This enabled us to explore in more detail people experience of going to 
dentist and find out any issues that had been encountered and how these may have been 
avoided. 

 

Who Took Part 
 
25 people completed the survey.  The demographics of those who took part can be found 
in Appendix A.  Due to the small number of people who completed the survey we can’t 
draw any conclusions from the demographic information, so no analysis has been carried 
out, but the information is included for your information. 
 
One child, 2 women and 1 man were individually interviewed.   
 
  

56



  
 

5 
 

Key findings 

Survey Results 
 

The survey consisted of 3 main sections aimed at gaining an understanding of people’s 
overall experience when accessing dental services. Each section had a series of statements 
that people were asked to rate from very good to very poor.  Additional information was 
captured in a comments box at the end of each section. 
 
Not everyone who responded to the survey completed all the sections.  All information 
provided has been captured below. 
 
SECTION 1 
 
Please rate your experiences of various aspects of accessing dentistry services for 
yourself or the person you care for. 
 

 
 
 
 

 9 of the 23 respondents (39%) advised the experience of finding and accessing 
dental services for SEND patients to be poor or very poor.  This is reflected in 10 
out of 23 (43%) respondents advising they had a poor or very poor experience of 
registering and attending appointments with a dentist. 
 

 Publicity of strategies in place to accommodate SEND patients (was the plan for 
SEND patients made public) was rated poor or very poor by 8 out of 22 (36%) of 
responses.  This rating however also got the most “Very Good” responses with 5 out 
of 22 (23%) indicating this may depend on the dentist you attend. 

0 5 10 15 20 25 30

Information available to you access to dental services

Registering and attending appointments with a dentist

The practice’s understanding of your needs or those of 
the person you care for

Methods of communication used by dental practice

The adaptations the practice made to accommodate your
needs or those of the person you care for

Accessibility of information on help available

Publicity of strategies in place to accommodate SEND
patients

Finding and accessing dental services for SEND patients

Very Poor Poor Average Good Very Good

57



  
 

6 
 

 
 Accessibility of information (being made aware of information and how easy it is to 

understand) on help available was rated by 18 out of 23 (78%) respondents as being 
average, good or very good.  Whilst information may not be readily available, when 
it is it seems to be accessible. 

 
 13 out of 22 respondents (59%) felt their practice have good or very good 

understanding of their needs or those of the person they care with 11 out of 23 
respondents (48%) also stating that adaptations the practice made to accommodate 
your needs or those of the person you care for were good or very good.  This 
illustrates that where a practice has a good understanding of a patient’s needs, 
they are also adjusting for that person. 

 
 Methods of communication used by dental practice such as text messages or 

telephone calls were also responded to positively with 15 out of 24 (62%) responses 
being good or very good.  This section had the highest number of “Good” responses 
with 14/24 (58%). 

 
 Information available to you access to dental services had a very split response.  8 

out of 22 (37%) advised a poor or very poor experience.  5 out of 22 (23%) advised it 
was average and 11 out of 22 (50%) said it was a good experience.  This could show 
that more can done to inform people on how to access dental services. 
 

Additional comments and information for section 1 – comments have been 
unchanged 
 
 NHS dentist - I registered myself, helpful, friendly accommodates change of room due 

to stairs, same dentist each time  specialist dentist used - referral system via early 
years, used 2 dentists  1st - one older friendly but daughter not so happy with 
treatment  2nd - younger - very good extremely helpful great experience trust 
developed 

 Don't go a lot. Nobody tells me 
 I get given all the suitable information needed for when I go for a dentist appointment. 

The dentist gives me all the correct information for when I go 
 OK but nerve raking 

 
  

58



  
 

7 
 

SECTION 2  
 
Please rate the treatment and support that you or the person you care for has 
received throughout their treatment plan. 
 

 
 

 The practice’s ability to support you or the person you care for to learn how to 
keep their teeth healthy (brushing technique, frequency, impact of diet) was rated 
good or very good by 15 out of 20 (75%) of respondents. 

 18 out of 25 (72%) advised how they received treatment to be good or very good.  
Advice given around treatment reflects this with 18 out of 22 respondents (73%) 
advising advice was good or very good, however 4 of the 22 respondents advised 
this was poor or very poor showing marked level of disparity on advice given by 
dentists on treatment received by people. 

 How comfortable people were made to feel during appointments was rated as good 
or very good by 17 out of 22 (77%).  This is reflected in people being made to feel 
at ease.  13 out of 21 (62%) said this was good or very good. 

 17 out of 22 (77%) advised that staff/dentist had a good or very good understanding 
of their additional needs.  4 (19%) people however advised they feel is poor or very 
poor again showing a disparity between experiences. 

 When asked how friendly staff are 17 out of 22 (77%) advised this was good or very 
good. 

 This links into people’s ability to build a relationship with their dentist. 15 out of 
21 people (71%) said this was good or very good.  No one said this poor but 3 people 
(14%) said it was very poor. 
 

 

0 5 10 15 20 25 30

How was the treatment received?

Your ability to build a relationship with the dental staff

Staff/dentist knowledge of additional needs

Advice given around the treatment

The helpful and friendly nature of staff

How comfortable you felt during the dental
appointments?

Were you or the person you care for put at ease?

The practice’s ability to support you or the person you 
care for to learn how to keep their teeth healthy 
(brushing technique, frequency, impact of diet)

Very Poor Poor Average Good Very Good

59



  
 

8 
 

Additional comments and information for Section 2 - comments have been 
unchanged 
 
 The dentist I go and see takes a close look at my teeth and says I am doing very well at 

brushing properly. He gives me the right advice when I need to know what I need to 
improve on. 

 Nobody supports me cos I don't go anymore 
 

SECTION 3 
 
Please rate any issues or examples of good practice that you have experienced 
with your dental practice or for the person you care for. 
 

 
 
This section received fewer responses than the previous 2 sections with a 
maximum of 11 people answering a specific question.  As most questionnaires were 
completed in waiting areas before appointments, it may be that people ran out 
time to complete it before being seen by the dentist. 
 

 This seems to be the most polarised section which reflects what we have 
seen in the previous sections around good and bad experiences.  On the 
whole people had a good experience or a very poor one when it came to 
issues or best practice. 

 Location, time and frequency off appointments was felt to be good or very 
good by 4 out of ten (40%) of people.  The same amount however felt it to 
be very poor. 

0 2 4 6 8 10 12

Involving patient in own care

Involving parent/carer in treatment plan

Accommodating individual needs

Dentist/staff knowledge of patients and their individual
needs

Communication methods

Location, time, frequency of appointments

Very Poor Poor Average Good Very Good

60



  
 

9 
 

 7 out of 11 people (63%) advised communication methods were good or very 
good but 3 people (27%) said they felt this was very poor. 

 Involvement in their own care was rated  
 6 out of 11 people (55%) advised that they felt good or very good about the 

staff/dentists understanding of their individual needs.  This isn’t as high as 
in the previous section, but this may be because less people completed 
Section 3.  It is similar to the number of people who felt good or very good 
about the accommodation of their needs. 7 out of 11 people said this was 
good or very good (64%) 

 Involving a person in their own care or involving a carer/parent in a 
treatment plan was less favourable.  4 out of 10 (40%) advised involvement 
in their own care was very poor.  Involvement of a carer or parent in a 
treatment plan was better with 2 out of 11 (18%) advising this was very 
poor.   

 
  
Additional comments and information for Section 3 
 
 Getting to know the person and building trust before any treatment begins.  

Showing equipment and feel/touch before treatment begins. Remember the person 
and talking about what they enjoy doing & their likes 

 Never been contacted about joining a dentist 
 Good information and comments given on my teeth 
 They always talk to mum about treatment, impact of diet. No information is given 

to patient with needs 
 

Survey Considerations 
 

The survey was shared online through the Special Educational Needs and Disability 
Information Advice and Support Service (SENDIASS) and through our own social media, also 
with key NHS and Social Care partners (LA, UHL, LPT, CCG) who sent out through their 
networks.  Feedback we received from respondents did suggest possible improvements to 
the survey, which has been taken onboard for future surveys. 

Dentists were also approached and encouraged to ask people to fill in the survey.  One 
problem with this approach was that it is not always obvious if a person has a special 
educational need or disability and it was difficult for dentists to identify people to answer 
the survey. 

 Healthwatch will use these considerations to improve survey design and circulation 
for future projects. 

  

61



  
 

10 
 

Interviews 
 

4 interviews were held as part of this project.  3 were with the parents of a SEND person 
and 1 with a child with SEND.  2 interviews are included in the report, one with a parent 
and one with a child.  The other interviews can be found in Appendix C. 

The information below has been anonymised, but as much as possible the words have been 
kept. 

 

Child case study 
 

This interview concentrates on the experience of a child with SEND visiting the dentist.  
They were interviewed with a parent.   

This child visits 2 dentists.  A general dentist and a specialist.  They don’t mind the 
general dentist but hates going to the specialist.  The child had a bad experience when 
they received fluoride treatment.  They “hated” the taste.  The child was very adamant 
about how much this was disliked.  That experience has triggered a negative feeling 
towards going to the dentist. 

Even just brushing the child’s teeth is difficult.  They don’t like the feel of the brush in 
their mouth.  Mouthwash stings so they don’t like using it. 

Would be interested in using the mouthwash used at the dentist as it has a milder taste 
and they like the colour. 

When asked how involved the child feels when going to the dentist, they weren’t sure.  
Feels like they talk to the parents but not to them.  Would like to be talked to more.  
When visiting a hygienist for the first time, the hygienist took time to talk to the child.  
This made them feel much more comfortable and the appointment went well.  If time 
could be taken by dentists to talk to the child at appointments and they agreed a plan and 
the dentist would understood what the child likes and doesn’t like this would make them 
feel better about going to the dentist. 

 
Interview with a parent 
 

This interview was with a parent whose child is non-verbal autistic. 

The child’s school said they needed to find a dentist.  The parents weren’t given any 
advice on how to do this or where to go but wanted to find a dentist that the child was 
comfortable with.  The child 5 years old and they wanted somewhere that feel 
comfortable.  The parent found a general dentist and explained their child has non-verbal 
autism.  The receptionist said that would offer “stuttered sessions” until the child was 
more comfortable.  They had a couple of sessions and the child wasn’t comfortable the 
situation.  The dentist has full protective equipment and didn’t talk to the child at all. 
The parent explains you could tell the dentist was scared. As the dentist was anxious this 
made the child more anxious.  The parent and child could both hear the conversation 

62



  
 

11 
 

between the dentist and dental assistant.  The parent says, “it was more like handling a 
dog or something that was gonna bite you and all the headgear and stuff”. 

The parent spoke to the practice about this very uncomfortable experience but felt 
“dehumanised” when trying to talk about it.   The parent knew the dentist didn’t want to 
see them again.  The parent is annoyed because if the dentist was hesitant about seeing 
them, he would have preferred that the appointment was cancelled, and they had been 
referred to the specialist SEND dentist.  As a parent they feel let down.  This very negative 
experience has now it much harder for their child to feel comfortable about going to the 
dentist. 

Due to this experience the parent wanted to find their child to a different dentist but 
wasn’t sure how to go about it.  The parent spoke to Healthwatch about this experience.  
It was after speaking to us that the parent became aware of the specialist SEND dental 
service. 

The child is now 7 and still struggles at the specialist SEND dentist but is getting better.  
The specialist gives the child time to look round room and get comfortable.  They talk to 
him directly.  The dentist is reassuring even if he doesn’t get to look the child’s teeth and 
says they can try again in 6 months.  The dentist is good at providing different brushes and 
pastes trying to find something the child likes.  

This parent suggests it might be better for young children with SEND to go to the specialist 
first.  If they get on ok there, then they can go to a more general service.  Also suggests 
better training for reception staff.  The receptionist had been told that the child is 
autistic but was asked very few questions about what accommodation might be needed. 

 

 

  

63



  
 

12 
 

Conclusion 
 

Although the survey is from a small sample, we can still draw some common themes from 
the information.  Whilst people’s experiences can be very different, overall, most 
experiences seem to be good.  People feel that the treatment they receive is good and 
most dentists seem to have a good understanding of a person’s needs and accommodate 
people with SEND in a way that makes them feel comfortable when attending 
appointments.  There are however some people who perceive the service they are 
receiving as very poor.  This is either because they don’t attend a dentist at all (12%) or 
because when they do, they have a negative experience.   

Trying to find a dentist and register with one seems more difficult.  9 of the 23 people 
(39%) found the experience of finding and accessing dental services for SEND patients to 
be poor or very poor.  This is reflected in 10 out of 23 (43%) respondents advising they had 
a poor or very poor experience of registering and attending appointments with a dentist.   

The interviews highlight how one negative experience can affect a child’s relationship and 
perception of going to the dentist.  Even when the experience is ok it can still be “nerve 
racking”.  Quicker referrals to the specialist service and advertising the self-referral 
process could mean that people with SEND have a positive experience of dentists from the 
start. 

Both the survey and interviews highlight the importance of communication with a dentist 
and building rapport.  The interviews particularly show what a difference someone taking 
time to talk to a person can make to their experience.  Ensuring patients are spoken to 
about their treatment and feel involved with what is going on makes a big difference to 
how they experience the dentist. 

On the whole whilst some people have a good relationship with their dentist it is clear 
that others either aren’t attending the dentist or when they do have a very poor 
experience which can affect their view of dental services for a long time. 

  

64



  
 

13 
 

Recommendations 
These recommendations are based on the survey results and interview. 

 Taking time to talk to a person before an examination or treatment can make a 
real difference to how it is received.  Even if a person can’t communicate with a 
dentist it doesn’t mean they don’t understand what is being said to them.   

 Information on the specialist SEND dentist should be more widely available.  This 
could be advertised in waiting areas, GP’s could talk to people about the service at 
annual SEND check-ups or schools could be made aware of the self-referral process 
to raise awareness of this specialist service and let people know how to access it. 

 Additional sounds, smells and tastes at a dentist can make visiting the dentist 
overwhelming for people with SEND. Small changes could be made, for example 
finding out what fluoride flavour someone can tolerate, would make a big 
difference. 

 If a dentist feels they have not had the right level of training to be able to attend a 
person with SEND, it would be better if another dentist examines that person.  
Dentists should feel comfortable in attending SEND patients, so training could be 
provided more widely. 

 Reception staff could also be provided with more training to ensure a person’s 
needs are better understood before they visit the dentist. Where dentists 
understand a SEND, persons needs they are good at making them feel comfortable 
during appointments. 59% said dentists were good or very good at understanding 
there needs of these 92% went on to say the dentist was good or very good at 
making them feel comfortable.    If reception staff felt better able to ask questions 
around people’s needs this would help peoples experiences. 

 Links between GP’s and Dental Services should be better established.  This way 
dentists might be able to identify SEND people in their area and reach out to them 
rather than a person having to register themselves. 

 It should be highlighted that NHS 111 can be used for dental emergencies  

  

65



  
 

14 
 

 

Next Steps 
Westcotes Specialist Dental Service could provide best practice information to other 
dental services within Leicester and Leicestershire.  This would benefit general practices 
and also make them aware of when to make referrals. 
Whilst Healthwatch Leicester and Healthwatch Leicestershire made every effort to include 
Leicester and Leicestershire in this project, based on the post codes provided by 
respondents most surveys were completed by people living in Leicester City.  Further work 
could be carried looking more at experiences of people living in the county. 

This report will be shared with the following Boards and Organisations. 

 Local Dental Network 
 Oral Health Protection Board 
 Leicester City Parent and Carer Forum 
 Leicester City Council 
 Leicestershire County Council 
 Care Quality Commission 
 Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Clinical Commissioning Group 

 

Thank You! 
Healthwatch Leicester and Healthwatch Leicestershire would like to thank all the 
participants who helped with this project.  Without you this project would not have been 
possible. 

  

66



  
 

15 
 

Appendixes  
Appendix A – Survey Demographics 
All demographic information that was completed is captured below.  Some participants 
chose not to complete this section. 

1. What is the first part of your postcode? 
 
Post Code No. 
LE1 1 
LE2 5 
LE3 4 
LE4 3 
LE5 2 

 

2. What age group are you in? 
 

 
 

3. What ethnic background do you identify as? 
 

 

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

17 or
Under

18-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64 65 or overPrefer not
to Say

0 2 4 6 8 10 12

White…

Any other White Background

Mixed White and Black Caribbean

Mixed White and Asian

Black/Black British African

Asian/British Asian- Indian

Asian/British Asian- Pakistani

Any other ethnic background

Prefer to not say

67



  
 

16 
 

 
4. What is your religion or belief? 

        

 

5. What is your marital status? 

Married 1 
Civil 
Partnership 1 
Single 13 
Divorced 1 
Separated 0 
Widowed 0 
Co-habiting 0 
Prefer not to 
say 4 

 

6. What is your sexual orientation? 

Heterosexual 9 
Homosexual  0 
Bisexual  0 
Other  0 
Prefer not to 
say 10 
 

7. Do you consider yourself to have a disability or long-term condition? 

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7

Christian

Buddist

Muslim

Hindu

Sikh

Jewish

No religion

Any other religion or belief

Prefer not to say

68



  
 

17 
 

 

 

Appendix B – Full Comments 
All the comments that people left for each section are shown below.  The comments have 
not been changed in anyway. 

SECTION 1 
 
Please rate your experiences of various aspects of accessing dentistry services for 
yourself or the person you care for. 
 
 Very hard after they stop cater for the person who has learning difficulty for one issue 

or other. There's not much dentist who takes on for special adult 
 NHS dentist - I registered myself, helpful, friendly accommodates change of room due 

to stairs, same dentist each time  specialist dentist used - referral system via early 
years, used 2 dentist  1st - one older friendly but daughter not so happy with 
treatment  2nd - younger - very good extremely helpful great experience trust 
developed 

 Don't go a lot. Nobody tells me 
 Doesn't attend a dentist 
 I get given all the suitable information needed for when I go for a dentist appointment. 

The dentist gives me all the correct information for when I go 
 OK but nerve raking 

SECTION 2  
 
Please rate the treatment and support that you or the person you care for has 
received throughout their treatment plan. 
 
 The dentist I go and see takes a close look at my teeth and says I am doing very well at 

brushing properly. He gives me the right advice when I need to know what I need to 
improve on. 

 Nobody supports me cos I don't go anymore 
 Fantastic 
 Nobody signs 

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

Yes No Prefer not to say

69



  
 

18 
 

 My dentist is brilliant 
 I don’t go 
 
 
SECTION 3 
 
Please rate any issues or examples of good practice that you have experienced 
with your dental practice or for the person you care for. 
 
 They have poor appointment system when they do not send an appointment 
 Getting to know the person and building trust before any treatment begins.  

Showing equipment and feel/touch before treatment begins. Remember the person 
and talking about what they enjoy doing & their likes 

 Nobody contacted me about dentist 
 Never been contacted about joining a dentist 
 Good information and comments given on my teeth 
 They always talk to mum about treatment, impact of diet. No information is given 

to patient with needs 
 I have no issue 
 Tells me my appointment after the treatment and gets me in straight the way for 

emergency 
 There are no issues at present 

 
 
Appendix C – Interviews 
Below is a summary of the additional 2 interviews carried out as part of this project.   

1. Interview with a parent 

This interview was with a parent of 3 children.  The second child has downs syndrome. 

The child goes to the dentist without any problems.   

The child had some cavities but wouldn’t let the dentist look properly.  The dentist was 
very patient and referred them to Leicester Royal Infirmary (LRI) where anaesthesia was 
given to have them removed. 

Overall, the dentist has been very good.  Always sees them if the parent is worried about 
something.  They always see the same dentist.  He has developed a good rapport the 
child.  Asks about school and has a small conversation before the appointment starts.  

As a parent they weren’t sure if the dental practice has a plan for people with SEND but 
felt they were doing a good job naturally. 

The dentist they attend is a general practice.  This parent hadn’t heard of the specialist 
SEND dental service but would like more information in case it is needed in the future. 

 

2. Interview with a parent  

In this interview a parent talked about their child’s experience. 

70



  
 

19 
 

They use 2 dentists.  A general one and a specialist paediatric dentist.  The child is quite 
comfortable with the general dentist.  They go there for check-ups and see the same 
dentist each time.  The dentist talks to the child and explains what he going to do.  

At first the child was comfortable with the specialist paediatric dentist, but then they had 
a fluoride treatment.  The fluoride was toffee flavoured and the child really dislikes 
sweets things.  This experience means that now just the mention fluoride “makes her 
jump out the chair” and the child refuses to have it.   

The child is particular about how things feel in their mouth.  Doesn’t like foaming 
toothpaste or anything with a strong flavour.  The parent has found a toothpaste from 
Japan that doesn’t foam as much but hasn’t had advice from her dentist on where to get 
something similar in the UK. 

The parent feels like they have to go to 2 dentists as the general practice will only do a 
check-up.  The specialists will do a proper clean.  The child has a heart condition, so they 
have to be very careful with the cleanliness of the gums.  

They saw a hygienist recently who they haven’t seen before.  This went well because the 
hygienist took some time before treatment to talk to the child about books they liked. 

More generally, access to emergency dental services were also discussed.  Only recently 
did they find out you can use 111 for emergency dental issues and thinks this should be 
better advertised. 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

  

71



  
 

20 
 

 

    

27/07/2020 

27/07/2020 

72



 
 

                                                      
 

 
HEALTH OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE:  

11 NOVEMBER 2020  
 

REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND CCG PERFORMANCE 
SERVICE 

 
HEALTH PERFORMANCE UPDATE     

 
 
Purpose of Report 
 
1. The purpose of the report is to provide the Committee with an update on public 

health and Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) performance in Leicestershire 
and Rutland based on the available data at October 2020.    

 
Background 
 
2. The Committee has, as of recent years, received a joint report on health 

performance from the County Council’s Chief Executive’s Department and the 
CCG Commissioning Support Performance Service. The report aims to provide 
an overview of performance issues on which the Committee might wish to seek 
further reports and information, inform discussions and check against other 
reports coming forward.  

 
NHS Oversight Framework   
 
3. At a national level the health performance reporting model has been influenced 

by the   NHS Oversight Framework, issued in August 2019. The Framework 
summarised the interim approach to oversight.  The interim Framework has 
informed reporting related to CCG performance set out later in this report.   

 
4. There are also still a wide range of separate clinical and regulatory standards 

that apply to individual services and providers. The Public Health Outcomes 
Framework (PHOF) sets out metrics on which to help assess public health 
performance and there is a separate framework for other health services. Adult 
social care outcomes are covered by the Adult Social Care Outcomes 
Framework (ASCOF) and the Better Care Fund is subject to separate 
guidance.   

 

 

 

73 Agenda Item 10



 
 

    
Changes to Performance Reporting Framework 
 
5. As well as changes brought about by the Oversight Framework a number of 

changes have been made to the way performance is reported to the Committee 
in recent times to reflect comments at previous meetings, including inclusion of 
a wider range of cancer metrics and Never Events and Serious incidents 
related to UHL. The overall framework will continue to evolve to take account of 
the above developments, as well as any particular areas that the Committee 
might wish to see included.        

 
6. The following 4 areas therefore form the basis of reporting to this committee: -  

 

a. Some contextual information related to coronavirus and Covid-19 locally;  
b. Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) performance for both West 

Leicestershire and East Leicestershire and Rutland CCGs; 
c. Quality - UHL Never Events/Serious Incidents;    
d. An update on wider Leicestershire public health outcome metrics and 

performance; and 
e. Performance against metrics/targets set out in the Better Care Fund plan 

and in relation to adult care and integration.  
 
 
Corona Virus and Covid-19 Contextual Intelligence   
 

7. Due to the impact and prioritisation of the Covid-19 response, usual data 
collection and reporting have been paused in a number of areas.  Some 
elements of national data collection and release, such as around delayed 
transfers of care, were put on hold to help providers focus on tackling the 
immediate coronavirus emergency. So previous data is not able to be reported 
in a small number of areas.   
 

8. Business intelligence services have been redirected significantly to help the 
NHS, Local Resilience Forum, County Council and other agencies to better 
understand and help manage the response to the pandemic, including creating a 
range of new analysis, intelligence sources, statistics, management reporting, 
system modelling and surveys. These range from covid-19 cases, deaths, 
excess deaths, bed capacity and modelling, health and care provider 
intelligence, testing, body storage and crematoria capacity, shielding of 
vulnerable individuals and vulnerable children’s school attendance.   

 
9. Attached as Appendix 1 is the weekly covid-19 intelligence report showing data 

up to 24 October 2020. This shows the wider context of Covid-19 in 
Leicestershire including pillar 1 and 2 cases, age profile of cases, district 
breakdown and per 100k population, cumulative cases per 100k, cases by middle 
super output area.  

 

10. Appendix 2 covers week 41 (20 October position) in terms of local covid-19 
related deaths, excess deaths, areas with a higher percentage of deaths, and 

74



 
 

weekly incidence rates and a district level summary. There were no excess 
deaths in LLR in the latest week and in 14 of the last 16 weeks. There were 8 
deaths mentioning Covid-19 on the death certificate in the latest week, up from 5 
the week before. UHL are operating within ventilator capacity but are currently 
experiencing increasing demand.   

 

11. At the time of writing, Leicestershire has a higher rate (but not significantly) of 
weekly incidence rates for COVID-19 cases than nationally. Despite this, 
Leicestershire has a lower rate of deaths per 100,000 population than in many 
areas of the country, with the exception of parts of the south-west which have 
experienced the lowest rates. However due to progressive local increases as the 
second wave has developed, the LLR Covid-19 SAGE Alert Group raised the 
local alert level from 3a to 3b on 26 October. UHL alert level was also raised from 
level 2 to Level 3 on 26 October. The 7-day average for confirmed Covid-19 
cases across LLR is now above 500, with over 600 cases each day between 19 
and 22 October.    

    
CCG Performance    
 
Governance and System-wide working 
 
12. As part of LLR CCGs Quality and Performance Improvement Strategy, the CCGs 

have drawn together separate meetings to form an LLR CCGs’ Joint Quality and 
Performance (Q&P) Committee.  The purpose of the committee is to seek 
assurance and adopt an integrated approach to quality assurance and 
performance improvement, ensuring the CCGs are compliant with their statutory 
duties and obligations.   

 
13. In addition to this, a System Quality and Performance Group will be focused on 

quality assurance and improvement, through continuously improving the 
performance and delivery of healthcare services, aiming to provide better 
outcomes to the people of Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland, ensuring that 
those services delivered are of high quality, clinically safe and effective, within 
available resources. The first meeting of the group was held on 22nd October 
2020. 

 
14. Also, as a system, there is a drive towards offering quality and performance 

improvement support to nine system-wide Design Groups.  The form and function 
of these clinically led Design Groups will be developed as they are established.  
The nine groups are outlined in the following diagram.  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

75



 
 

 

 
 
15. NHS England and NHS Improvement’s (NHSE/I) NHS Oversight Framework (OF) 

2019/20 was introduced at the end of August 2019. There is a greater emphasis 
on system performance, alongside the contribution of individual healthcare 
providers and commissioners to system goals. The specific dataset for 2019/20 
broadly reflected previous provider and commissioner oversight and assessment 
priorities.  

 
16. There has been no update to the NHS Oversight Framework for 2019/20 or 

2020/21, which comprises a set of 60 indicators. The metrics are aligned to 

priority areas in the NHS Long Term Plan. 

https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/nhs-oversight-framework-for-2019-20/ 

 
17. NHSE/I were due to update the NHS Oversight Framework dashboard on the 

23rd April 2020, however due to the prioritisation of the COVID-19 response, 
some national data collection and reporting has been temporarily suspended by 
NHSE/I. As a result, there has been no further updates to the dashboard since 
the publication in February 2020. As there has been no additional information 
provided by NHSE/I since the last report to HOSC (June 20) the full set of metrics 

76

https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/nhs-oversight-framework-for-2019-20/


 
 

is not included in this section of the report. Locally sourced data is routinely 
updated and presented to the CCG Quality and Performance Committee and 
Board.  

 
18. The following table provides an explanation for the key constitutional indicators 

not being achieved. Locally sourced 2020/21 data has been provided in the table. 

Details of local actions in place in relation to these metrics are also shown. 

 
  
 
NHS Constitution 
metric and 
explanation of 
metric 
 

 
Latest 2020/21 
Performance 
 

 
Local actions in place/supporting 
information 
 

Cancer 62 days of 
referral to treatment  
The indicator is a 
core delivery 
indicator that spans 
the whole pathway 
from referral to first 
treatment. 
 
Shorter waiting times 
can help to ease 
patient anxiety and, 
at best, can lead to 
earlier diagnosis, 
quicker treatment, a 
lower risk of 
complications, an 
enhanced patient 
experience and 
improved cancer 
outcomes. 

National Target 
>85% 
August 2020 
 
ELR (All Providers) 
76% 
 
WL (All Providers) 
78% 
 
UHL (All patients) 
76% 

The cancer backlog has been impacted by 
the current COVID 19 position and is being 
monitored via the Cancer Design Group 
and Independent Sector (IS) Cell. The 
+104 day backlog has reduced. 
 
Referrals have returned to pre COVID 
levels  
 
Urgent priority 1 and 2 patients are being 
seen. Patients are being clinically 
prioritised in line with national guidance 
and activity is shifting to the IS providers to 
support recovery, which is being overseen 
by the IS Cell. 
 
Work is currently ongoing to look at the 
activity/demand by tumour site and 
capacity available.  Reviewing the gap and 
planning actions to address capacity needs 
as capacity will be challenged due to social 
distancing, donning, and doffing of PPE 
and air exchange, between patients. 

A&E admission, 
transfer, discharge 
within 4 hours 
The standard relates 
to patients being 
admitted, transferred 
or discharged within 
4 hours of their 
arrival at an A&E 
department. 
 
This measure aims to 
encourage providers 
to improve health 

National Target 
>95%  
 
September 2020 
UHL A&E + UCC’s  
79% 
 
UHL ED only 
70% 
 
LLR Urgent Care 
Centres only 
100% 
 

Performance for September shows a 
decline compared to August, as 
attendance has increased.  
 
In response to COVID 19, pathway and 
site changes have been made within UHL.   
 
Admission and discharge profiles are 
currently having minimal delays due to 
UHL responding to COVID 19. Non-
admitted breaches are at a lower rate than 
expected due to COVID 19 response, 
however, there has been a rise as ED 
attendance increases. 

77



 
 

outcomes and patient 
experience of A&E. 

 

18 Week Referral to 
Treatment (RTT) 
The NHS 
Constitution sets out 
that patients can 
expect to start 
consultant-led 
treatment within a 
maximum of 18 
weeks from referral 
for non-urgent 
conditions if they 
want this and it is 
clinically appropriate. 
   
 
 

National Target 
>92% 
August 2020 
 
ELR (All Providers) 
51%  
 
Total Waiting; 
22,036 against a 
target of <21,309 
(Aug plan) of which 
946 patients are 
waiting +52weeks. 
 
WL (All Providers) 
51%  
 
Total Waiting; 
25,936 against a 
target of <25,033 
(Aug plan) of which 
960 patients are 
waiting +52weeks. 

The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic has 
led to the RTT performance reducing as 
non-essential activity was cancelled to 
reduce footfall on hospital sites and free 
emergency medical bed capacity.  
 
There was a rapid change to utilise 
telephone appointments for patients who 
have been clinically assessed to not 
require to physically attend an outpatient 
appointment.  
 
Validation of the waiting list continues to 
align with national guidance and Trust 
policy.  
 
UHL’s Weekly Activity Management 
meeting in place with each service to 
support management of their waiting list.  
 
Day case and outpatient work continues 
with the Independent Sector and Alliance, 
with a weekly call to ensure capacity is 
utilised and patients are treated in order. 

Improving Access 
to Psychological 
Therapies (IAPT) 
 
The primary purpose 
of this indicator is to 
measure 
improvements in 
access to 
psychological therapy 
services for people 
with depression 
and/or anxiety 
disorders  
 
Recovery levels are a 
useful measure of 
patient outcome and 
helps to inform 
service development 

% adults 
accessing IAPT 
services, from a 
defined prevalence  
 
LLR/NHSE/I target 
>17.3% 
YTD July 2020 
ELR – 12.3% 
WL - 13.3% 
 
% of people who 
complete 
treatment who are 
moving to 
recovery 
 
National target 
>50% 
July 2020 
ELR – 58% 
WL – 55% 

The service has implemented a 
remote/home working model, offering 
telephone (assessment and treatment 
appointments) and online (IESO and 
Silvercloud) support. In addition, the 
service is implementing Microsoft Teams 
live events. 
 
A text message has been sent to all 
patients on waiting lists to let them know 
the service is still open and working and 
that the team will be in contact soon to 
discuss the options open to each patient. 
Communication has also gone out to GPs 
as a reminder that the service is still open 
to referrals. 
 
There is significant promotion work on 
social media and websites to increase 
referrals. 

Dementia 
 
Diagnosis rate for 
people aged 65 and 
over, with a diagnosis 
of dementia recorded 
in primary care, 

National Target 
>66.7% 
 
Sept 2020 
ELR – 62% 
WL – 64% 

There has been an expected dip in the 
dementia performance over recent months, 
due to the effect of COVID-19 on services, 
for example: Memory Assessment Services 
being paused, Routine CT scanning 
paused, Face to face assessments 
commencing in August 2020, Families, 

78



 
 

expressed as a 
percentage of the 
estimated prevalence 
based on GP 
registered 
populations 

carers and patients not presenting to 
primary care services due to the risks of 
COVID19. 
 
Locally and regionally these issues have 
been noted and support is being provided, 
however it will take months to recover to 
the national ambition, particularly whilst the 
social distancing directive remains in force 
and those with a memory concern in many 
cases falling into a shielding group. 

 
 
Other Cancer Metrics  
 

19. The August 2020 performance for the Cancer Wait Metrics is set out below: -  

 

 

Level Period Target

East 

Leicestershire 

and Rutland 

CCG

West 

Leicestershire 

CCG

CCG
August

20
93% 89.4% 91.0%

CCG
August

20
93% 94.0% 96.4%

CCG
August

20
96% 88.2% 97.5%

CCG
August

20
94% 77.8% 92.9%

CCG
August

20
98% 100.0% 100.0%

CCG
August

20
94% 97.9% 96.0%

CCG
August

20
85% 76.2% 78.3%

CCG
August

20
90% 25.0% -

CCG
August

20

No 

national 

standard

92.9% 80.0%

Metric

Cancer Waiting Times

31-Day Standard for Subsequent Cancer Treatments where the 

treatment function is (Radiotherapy)

The % of patients receiving their first definitive treatment for 

cancer within two months (62 days) of GP or dentist urgent 

referral for suspected cancer

Percentage of patients receiving first definitive treatment 

following referral from an NHS Cancer Screening Service within 

62 days.

% of patients treated for cancer who were not originally referred 

via an urgent GP/GDP referral for suspected cancer, but have 

been seen by a clinician who suspects cancer, who has upgraded 

their priority.

The percentage of patients first seen by a specialist within two 

weeks when urgently referred by their GP or dentist with 

suspected cancer

Two week wait standard for patients referred with 'breast 

symptoms' not currently covered by two week waits for 

suspected breast cancer

The percentage of patients receiving their first definitive 

treatment within one month (31 days) of a decision to treat (as a 

proxy for diagnosis) for cancer

31-Day Standard for Subsequent Cancer Treatments where the 

treatment function is (Surgery)

31-Day Standard for Subsequent Cancer Treatments (Drug 

Treatments)

79



 
 

 
 
Never Events at UHL 

 
20. During 2020/21, there have been 3 never events, most recently one in August 

2020 for the wrong route administration of a prescription drug. The patient was 

notified and monitored for over an hour for any possible effects of the incorrectly 

administered medication. There did not appear to be an impact on the patient. 

Actions have been put in place with the member of staff and departments.  

 
Areas of Improvement 
 

21. There are several areas which are also worth commenting on, that have shown 

improvement in recent months;  

 

 a small increase in the percentage of patients being treated within 18 weeks 
of referral in August; 

 two week waits for breast screening has achieved the target for August; 

 MRSA – 0 cases reported at UHL; 

 12-hour ED trolley wait - 0 breaches reported at UHL.  
 
Future Reporting  
 
22. The format of performance assurance reporting is likely to change as the new 

Quality and Performance Committee and system-wide groups request additional 

information. Wherever possible and appropriate Health Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee will receive reports similar to that sent to CCG public boards.  

 
 

Public Health Outcomes Performance – Appendix 3 and 4  
 
Benchmarking Update 

 
23. In relation to public health, final end of year performance data and comparative 

cost information is used to compare Leicestershire’s performance position across 

33 county areas. The analysis uses 31 adult health indicators and 16 child health 

indicators. For most metrics 2018/19 end of year data has been used. Looking at 

the position for adult health, Leicestershire is ranked 8th in performance terms, 

whereas for child health Leicestershire is ranked 11th. For net spend per head, 

the county is placed 3rd lowest of 33 comparator areas. Appendix 3 uses scatter 

charts to show the relationship between spend and performance. 

 
2019/20 End of Year Performance Update 
 
24. The Council’s draft Annual Delivery Report and Performance Compendium 

covers the performance of the County Council over the last 12 months or so and 

80



 
 

is being considered by Cabinet on 20 November. The Compendium includes 

dashboards (included as Appendix 4 and 5) which set out year end results for key 

performance indicators. The report also outlines some of the work of the Public 

Health Service against key outcome areas over the last year or so – attached as 

Appendix 6.     

Explanation of Performance Indicator Dashboards (Appendix  4 and 5) 
 
25. The dashboards show 2019/20 year-end outturn against performance targets 

(where applicable) with brief commentary. Where it is available, the dashboards 

indicate which quartile Leicestershire’s performance falls into. The 1st quartile is 

defined as performance that falls within the top 25% of relevant comparators. The 

4th quartile is defined as performance that falls within the bottom 25% of relevant 

comparators. The comparator group used is explained at the bottom of each 

dashboard. A red circle indicates a performance issue, whereas a green tick 

indicates exceptional performance. The direction of travel arrows indicate an 

improvement or deterioration in performance compared to the previous result. A 

summary of the results with reference to the previous year is set out below. 

 
Adult Public Health 
 
26. This dashboard covers 23 indicators, of which 7 show an improvement compared 

to the previous period, 4 display a deterioration, 7 show no change and data is 

not available for 5 indicators. The indicators that have improved cover health 

inequalities, smoking, drug treatment and physical activity. The indicators 

displaying lower performance cover healthy life expectancy, mortality from 

preventative causes and adult obesity. The indicators with similar results cover 

life expectancy, mortality from CVD, cancer and respiratory disease, hospital 

admissions for alcohol related causes and mortality attributable to air pollution. 

The number of indicators in each performance quartile are set out below. 

 

1st (Top) 
quartile 

2nd quartile 3rd quartile 
4th (bottom) 

quartile 

9 9 2 0 

 
Best Start in Life (Child Health) 
 
27. This dashboard covers child health and early years services. Looking at the 12 

indicators, 6 show an improvement compared to the previous period, while 1 

deteriorated and 3 show similar results. Data was not available for 2 indicators. 

The indicators that have improved cover smoking during pregnancy, 

breastfeeding, dental decay among 5 year-olds, take up of free education by 2 

year olds and child obesity. The indicator displaying lower performance is the 

chlamydia diagnosis rate, for which the aim is to improve detection. The 3 

81



 
 

indicators showing little change are the % of early years providers assessed as 

good or outstanding, take-up of free early education by 3 and 4 year olds and 

under 18 conceptions. The number of indicators in each performance quartile are 

set out below. The bottom quartile indicator is take-up of free early education by 2 

year olds 

 

1st (Top) 
quartile 

2nd quartile 3rd quartile 
4th (bottom) 

quartile 

5 3 3 1 

 
Health and Care 
 
28. The dashboard covers work with health partners to reduce admissions to hospital 

and residential care, facilitate discharge from hospital and reablement. A number 

of the indicators have associated Better Care Fund (BCF) targets. Looking at the 

9 performance indicators, 3 display improvement compared to the previous 

period. These cover admissions of older adults to residential and nursing care, 

service users finding it easy to find information and reablement. Two indicators 

show declining performance (hospital admissions due to falls and delayed 

transfers of care from hospital attributable to adult social care).  

 

Better Care Fund and Adult Care Health/Integration Performance 
 
29.  In relation to the BCF focus areas permanent admissions of older people to 

residential and nursing care homes per 100k pop is currently forecast at 373.8 

against a target of 552.1  

82



 
 

   
30. The % of those discharged from hospital into reablement and at home 91 days after is 

87.7% against a target of 88% as at the end of August 2020.  

 
31. In relation to delayed transfers of care the latest information published is for February 

2020, as previously reported. National data collection has been paused due to 

COVID-19.   

 

32. In relation to non-elective admissions into hospital for the period Apr-20 to Jul-20 

there have been 17,918 non-elective admissions compared to 23,338 for the same 

period in 2019, a variance of -5,420.   

   
 
List of Appendices 
 
Appendix 1 and 2 – Coronavirus and Covid-19 Contextual Information  
Appendix 3 – Public Health Benchmarking Dashboard  
Appendix 4 – Public Health Performance Dashboards 2019/20 
Appendix 5 – Health and Care Performance Dashboards 2019/20  
Appendix 6 - Public Health Delivery Narrative 2020.      
 
Background papers 
 
University Hospitals Leicester Trust Board meetings can be found at the following 
link: 
http://www.leicestershospitals.nhs.uk/aboutus/our-structure-and-people/board-of-
directors/board-meeting-dates/ 

83

http://www.leicestershospitals.nhs.uk/aboutus/our-structure-and-people/board-of-directors/board-meeting-dates/
http://www.leicestershospitals.nhs.uk/aboutus/our-structure-and-people/board-of-directors/board-meeting-dates/


 
 

 
Officers to Contact 
 
Kate Allardyce - NHS Midlands and Lancashire Commissioning Support Unit 
Kate.allardyce@nhs.net Tel: 0121 61 10112 
 
Philippa Crane – BCF Lead Intelligence Analyst  
Philippa.Crane@leics.gov.uk 
 
Natalie Davison - Public Health Intelligence Business Partner 
Natalie.Davison@leics.gov.uk 
 
Andy Brown – Operational BI and Performance Team, Leicestershire County Council 
Andy.brown@leics.gov.uk Tel 0116 305 6096  

84

mailto:Kate.allardyce@nhs.net
mailto:Philippa.Crane@leics.gov.uk
mailto:Andy.brown@leics.gov.uk


Weekly COVID-19 Surveillance Report in Leicestershire
Cumulative data from 01/03/2020 - 24/10/2020

This report summarises the information from the surveillance system which is used to monitor the cases
of the Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic in Leicestershire. The report is based on daily data
up to 24th October 2020.

The maps presented in the report examine counts and rates of COVID-19 at Middle Super Output Area.
Middle Layer Super Output Areas (MSOAs) are a census based geography used in the reporting of small
area statistics in England and Wales. The minimum population is 5,000 and the average is 7,200.

Disclosure control rules have been applied to all figures not currently in the public domain. Counts
between 1 to 7 have been suppressed at MSOA level.

An additional dashboard examining weekly counts of COVID-19 cases by Middle Super Output Area in
Leicestershire, Leicester and Rutland can be accessed via the following link:
https://public.tableau.com/profile/r.i.team.leicestershire.county.council#!/vizhome/COVID-19PHEWeeklyCases/WeeklyCOVID-
19byMSOA

Data has been sourced from Public Health England. The report has been complied by Strategic Business
Intelligence in Leicestershire County Council.

Appendix 1
85



COVID-19 cases  |  Cumulative data from 01/03/2020 - 24/10/2020:

9,508 cases  |  1,811 Pillar 1 cases  | 7,697 Pillar 2 cases

COVID-19 cases  |  Fortnightly data from 11/10/2020 - 24/10/2020

3,093 cases  |  173 Pillar 1 cases  | 2,920 Pillar 2 cases

Cases per week

20 Apr 15 Jun 10 Aug 5 Oct

Week of Specimen_Date [2020]

0

500

1000

1500

D
is
ti
nc
t 
co
un
t 
of
 ID

Moving average of cases per day

1 Mar 1 May 1 Jul 1 Sep 1 Nov

Day of Specimen_Date [2020]

0

50

100

150

200

250

M
ov
in
g 
A
ve
ra
ge
 o
f C
ov
id
-1
9 
ca
se
s

0100200300
Male

0 100 200 300
Female

0-19

20-29

30-39

40-49

50-59

60-69

70-79

80+

104

133

175

260

33

36

44

84

118

127

328

42

74

71

80

88

Population pyramid of Pillar 2 casesPopulation pyramid of Pillar 1 cases

0200400600800
Male

0 200 400 600 800
Female

0-19

20-29

30-39

40-49

50-59

60-69

70-79

80+

778

854

491

439

556

269

98

70

872

864

604

617

643

271

104

164

33 years median age*69 years median age*

Weekly COVID-19 Surveillance Report in Leicestershire

Breakdown of testing by Pillars of the UK Government’s COVID-19 testing programme:

Pillar 1 + 2
combined data from both Pillar 1 and Pillar 2
of the UK Government’s COVID-19 testing
programme

Pillar 1
data from swab testing in PHE labs and NHS
hospitals for those with a clinical need, and
health and care workers

Pillar 2
data from swab testing for the wider
population, as set out in government
guidance

Cumulative data from 01/03/2020 - 24/10/2020

* median age is the middle value in a range - half of the cases are younger than this age and half are older

86



Weekly COVID-19 Surveillance Report in Leicestershire

Rate of cumulative cases per 100,000 population by district

O
ad
by
 a
nd

W
ig
st
on

Ch
ar
nw
oo
d

B
la
by

H
in
ck
le
y 
an
d

B
os
w
or
th

H
ar
bo
ro
ug
h

M
el
to
n

N
or
th
 W
es
t

Le
ic
es
te
rs
hi
re

0K

1K

2K

R
at
e 
pe
r 
10
0,
00
0

Average England Rate

5 Jul 15 Jul 25 Jul 4 Aug 14 Aug 24 Aug 3 Sep 13 Sep 23 Sep 3 Oct 13 Oct23 Oct

Date [2020]

0

100

200

300

R
at
e 
pe
r 
10
0,
00
0 
po
pu
la
ti
on

Blaby

Charnwood

Harborough

Hinckley and Bosworth

Melton

North West Leicestershire

Oadby and Wigston

North West Leicestershire
Melton
Hinckley and Bosworth
Harborough
Blaby
England
Oadby and Wigston
Charnwood 368.0 per 100,000 population

278.9 per 100,000 population
209.4 per 100,000 population
172.4 per 100,000 population
148.2 per 100,000 population
142.3 per 100,000 population
132.8 per 100,000 population
127.4 per 100,000 population

Latest incidence per 100,000 population by district (weekly)

Trend of Incidence per 100,000 population by district (weekly)

COVID-19 cases  |  Fortnightly data from 11/10/2020 - 24/10/2020:

Melton
Harborough
North West Leicestershire
Oadby and Wigston
Hinckley and Bosworth
Blaby
Charnwood 1,371

403
332
305
276
264
142

vs. Eng   Sig. higher | Similar | Sig. lower

87



0 200 400 600

Oadby North & East

Loughborough - University

Loughborough Storer & Queen's Park

Oadby South & West

Thurmaston

Birstall Wanlip & Riverside

Loughborough Lemyngton & Hastings

Braunstone Town

Wigston Town

Wigston North

Hinckley Central

Glenfield

Kibworth & Great Glen

Houghton, Thurby & Scraptoft

Enderby & Glen Parva

Loughborough - Shelthorpe & Woodt..

Mountsorrel & Rothley

Loughborough - Outwoods

Thorpe Astley

Market Harborough South & Little Bo..

136

177

150

189

321

477

147

145

145

191

206

151

133

166

232

174

151

173

159

490

© Mapbox © OSM
0K 1K 2K 3K 4K

Loughborough - University

Oadby North & East

Loughborough Storer & Queen's Park

Oadby South & West

Birstall Wanlip & Riverside

Wigston Town

Wigston North

Leicester Forest East

Thurmaston

Houghton, Thurby & Scraptoft

Hinckley Central

Thorpe Astley

East Goscote & Queniborough

Braunstone Town

Birstall Central

Kirby Muxloe & Thurlaston

Whetstone

Syston East

Loughborough Garendon

Glenfield

© Mapbox © OSM

Confirmed COVID-19 cases by MSOA

Pillar
All

COVID-19 by MSOA  |  Total case results

9,508 cases  |  1,811 Pillar 1 cases  |  7,697 Pillar 2 cases

Confirmed COVID-19 rates per 100,000 population by MSOA

Specimen Date
01/03/2020 to 24/10/2020

88



Specimen Date
11/10/2020 to 24/10/2020

Confirmed COVID-19 cases by MSOA

Pillar
All

Confirmed COVID-19 rates per 100,000 population by MSOA

0 100 200 300 400

Loughborough - University

Loughborough Storer & Queen's Park

Oadby North & East

Birstall Wanlip & Riverside

Loughborough - Shelthorpe &
Woodthorpe

Loughborough - Outwoods

Mountsorrel & Rothley

East Goscote & Queniborough

Thurmaston

Sileby

163

316

143

65

65

56

62

59

69

56

© Mapbox © OSM

© Mapbox © OSM0K 1K 2K

Loughborough - University

Loughborough Storer & Queen's Park

Oadby North & East

East Goscote & Queniborough

Birstall Wanlip & Riverside

Quorn & Mountsorrel Castle

Birstall Central

Sileby

Wymeswold, Rearsby & Cossington

Loughborough - Outwoods

COVID-19 by MSOA  |  Case results for the last fourteen days

3,093 cases  |  173 Pillar 1 cases  | 2,920 Pillar 2 cases

89



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

COVID‐19:  
Data Update for Leicestershire  

Week 41 

20th  October 2020 

Appendix 2
91



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Strategic Business Intelligence Team 
Business Intelligence 
Chief Executive’s Department 
Leicestershire County Council 
County Hall, Glenfield 
Leicester LE3 8RA 
 
Tel    0116 305 4266 
Email:    natalie.davison@leics.gov.uk 
 
 
 
Produced by the Strategic Business Intelligence Team at Leicestershire County Council. 
 
Whilst every effort has been made to ensure the accuracy of the information contained within this 
report, Leicestershire County Council cannot be held responsible for any errors or omission relating to 
the data contained within the report. 
 

92



 

What have we learnt from the newly released 
Covid‐19 data? 

 

 
A series of publicly available dashboards examining Covid‐19 cases, deaths involving 
Covid‐19 and a district summary are available at the below links. A summary narrative 
to support the data in these dashboards then follows. 
 

 Deaths involving Covid‐19 

 Covid‐19 Summary at District Level 

 PHE Weekly Covid‐19 Cases  
 

1. One death1 involving Covid‐19 was recorded in Leicestershire in the last 
week.  
 

 As of week 41 2020 (up to 9th October), there have been a total of 550 deaths in Leicestershire. 
The number of weekly counts of deaths has remained the same at one death since the previous 
week.    

 Of all deaths involving Covid‐19 in Leicestershire, 340 (61.8%) were in hospital and 172 (31.3%) 
were in a care home. 

 In week 41, there was one death in a hospital in the past week, this occurred in Melton. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                       
 
1 Death counts are based on death occurrences. The death is counted as involving Covid‐19 if Covid‐19 was mentioned on the 
death certificate. Please note, Covid‐19 may not have been confirmed by a test. Source: Office for National Statistics (2019)  
 

93



 

 
Deaths (numbers) by local authority and place of death, for deaths that occurred up to 9th 
October but were registered up to 17th October. 
 

  

Care Home  Elsewhere  Home  Hospice  Hospital  Total 
Population 

Count  Rate  Count  Rate  Count  Rate  Count  Rate  Count  Rate  Count  Rate  LCI  UCI 

Blaby  21  20.9  1  1.0  4  4.0  1  1.0  58  57.8  85  84.6  67.6  104.7  100421 

Charnwood  40  21.9  1  0.5  3  1.6  4  2.2  79  43.3  127  69.5  58.0  82.7  182643 

Harborough  22  23.8  0  0.0  4  4.3  1  1.1  37  40.0  64  69.2  53.3  88.4  92499 

H&B  41  36.5  0  0.0  4  3.6  5  4.4  58  51.6  108  96.1  78.8  116.0  112423 

Melton  17  33.3  0  0.0  2  3.9  0  0.0  16  31.3  35  68.5  47.7  95.3  51100 

NWLeics  15  14.7  0  0.0  5  4.9  1  1.0  46  45.0  67  65.6  50.8  83.3  102126 

O&W  16  28.0  2  3.5  0  0.0  0  0.0  46  80.6  64  112.2  86.4  143.2  57056 

Leicestershire  172  24.6  4  0.6  22  3.2  12  1.7  340  48.7  550  78.8  72.3  85.6  698268 

Rutland  8  20.2  0  0.0  3  7.6  2  5.0  11  27.7  24  60.5  38.7  90.0  39697 

Leicester City  76  21.4  13  3.7  20  5.6  2  0.6  227  63.9  338  95.2  85.3  105.9  355218 

LLR  256  23.4  17  1.6  45  4.1  16  1.5  578  52.9  912  83.4  78.1  89.0  1093183 

 

2. No excess deaths were recorded in the last week in Leicestershire  
 

 Counts of excess deaths in Leicestershire have shown a declining trend (albeit with a small blips 
in week 30, week 36 and week 37), there was an increase in all deaths seen in week 41 compared 
to the previous week. The latest figures from ONS show that 125 deaths occurred in 
Leicestershire in week 41 of 2020. There have been no excess deaths reported in the last week. 

 The latest weeks data shows there was one death that mentioned Covid‐19 on the death 
certificate in week 41.  
 

 
 

94



 

3. Two areas in Hinckley and Bosworth have a significantly higher 
percentage of deaths involving Covid‐19 than the national percentage  
 

 The map below examines the statistical significance compared to England, of the percentage of 
deaths involving Covid‐19 by Middle Layer Super Output Area (MSOA) in Leicestershire and 
Rutland. These deaths occurred between 1st March and 31st July 2020 and were registered by 
15th August 2020. 

 Stoke Golding, Higham and Fenny Drayton in Hinckley and Bosworth recorded 16 deaths 
involving Covid‐19 in this time period, this represented 38.1% of all deaths. Hinckley Central, also 
in Hinckley and Bosworth recorded 20 deaths involving Covid‐19 and represented 32.3% of all 
deaths. Nationally, deaths involving Covid‐19 made up under a quarter (20.2%) of all deaths. 

 Eight MSOAs in Leicestershire and Rutland have a significantly lower percentage of deaths 
involving Covid‐19 compared to England. These are: 

o Bottesford, Harby& Croxton Kerrial in Melton (4, 8.5%)  
o Lutterworth in Harborough (4, 7.8%) 
o Mountsorrel & Rothley in Charnwood (3, 7.1%)  
o Sileby in Charnwood (1, 3.6%) 
o Syston West in Charnwood (1, 3.4%) 
o Leicester Forest East in Blaby (1, 3.3%) 
o Market Overton, Cottesmore and Empingham in Rutland (0, 0.0%)  
o Melton Mowbray West in Melton (1, 2.4%) 

 Further data examining deaths involving Covid‐19 by local area is available in the dashboard 
available at this link. 

 
Statistical Significance compared to England of the deaths involving Covid‐19 by Middle Layer Super 
Output Area, Leicestershire and Rutland, deaths occurring between 1st March 2020 and 31st July 2020 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

95



 

4. Weekly counts of cases have decreased in the past week in Leicestershire 
 
NOTE: The methodology for reporting positive cases changed on 2nd July 2020 to remove duplicates within and 
across pillars 1 and 2, to ensure that a person who tests positive is only counted once. Due to this change, all 
historic data has now been revised. Numbers of lab-confirmed positive cases now include those identified by 
testing in all settings (pillars 1 and 2) 

 
 As of 18th October, Leicestershire has recorded a total of 7,492 lab‐confirmed cases of Covid‐19. 

This data relates to pillar 1 and 2 cases.  
 The weekly aggregation of daily cases in Leicestershire shows the counts of cases showed an 

increasing trend throughout March and April. A peak in weekly counts was witnessed between 
the end of April and middle of May. Counts of cases had been showing a decreasing trend from 
the middle of May towards the beginning of August. An increase in the counts of cases has been 
witnessed from the end of August and throughout September. A peak in the counts of cases 
occurred at the beginning of October and has since decreased in the last week.  

 The latest weekly data shows 926 cases have been confirmed in Leicestershire in the last week. 
This count has decreased compared to the previous week where 1,141 cases were confirmed. 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

96



 

5. Charnwood and Oadby and Wigston have the highest weekly incidence 
rates of Covid‐19 cases for people all ages in the county  
 

 The incidence rate for Covid‐19 cases in Leicestershire has been increasing since mid‐September 
The incidence rate in Leicestershire is now higher (183.0 per 100,000 population) than the 
national rate of (168.7 per 100,000 population) as of 11th October, it should be noted that the 
national rate has also continued to increase. 

 There have been five peaks in the incidence rate for Covid‐19 in Oadby and Wigston, one around 
mid‐July, three smaller ones through August and one in mid‐September.  
Charnwood has witnessed one peak in the incidence rate for Covid‐19 around mid‐September. 

 The latest weekly incidence rate (as of 11th October) shows that Charnwood (294.3 per 100,000 
population) and Oadby & Wigston (259.6 per 100,000 population) have higher rates than the 
national (168.7 per 100,000).  This equates to 547 and 148 confirmed cases respectively in the 
last week for each of these districts. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

0.0

50.0

100.0

150.0

200.0

250.0

300.0

350.0

R
at
e 
p
er
 1
0
0
,0
0
0
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n

Incident Rate All Ages (per 100,000 population ‐Weekly) ‐ Registered 
Population

Blaby Charnwood Harborough

Hinckley and Bosworth Melton North West Leicestershire

Oadby and Wigston Rutland Leicestershire

97



 

6. Charnwood and Oadby and Wigston have the highest weekly incidence 
rates of Covid‐19 cases for people aged 17‐21 in the county. 
 

 The incidence rate for Covid‐19 cases in people aged 17‐21 in Leicestershire has been increasing 
since mid‐September. As of 11th October, the rate for Leicestershire (1004.7 per 100,000 
population) is higher than the national rate for this age group (622.7 per 100,000 population).   

 The incidence rate of Covid‐19 cases in people aged 17‐21 in Charnwood has continued to rise 
since mid‐September and peaked around the first week of October.  

 The latest weekly incidence rate of Covid‐19 cases for people aged 17‐21 (as of 11th October) 
shows that Charnwood (1398.6 per 100,000 population) and Oadby & Wigston (1033.3 per 
100,000 population) have higher rates  than England (622.7 per 100,000).  This equates to 243 
and 41 confirmed cases in the last week for each of these districts respectively. 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

0.0

500.0

1000.0

1500.0

2000.0

2500.0

R
at
e 
p
er
 1
0
0
,0
0
0
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n

Incident Rate aged 17‐21 (per 100,000 population ‐Weekly) ‐
Registered Population

Blaby Charnwood Harborough

Hinckley and Bosworth Melton North West Leicestershire

Oadby and Wigston Rutland Leicestershire

98



 

7. Charnwood has the highest weekly incidence rates of Covid‐19 cases for 
people aged 60+ in the county.  
 

 The incidence rate for Covid‐19 cases in people aged 60+in Leicestershire has been increasing 
since the end of September. Although the rate for Leicestershire (68.1 per 100,000 population) 
remains below the national rate (97.1 per 100,000 population) as of 11th October, it should be 
noted that the national rate has also continued to increase. 

 The incidence rate for Covid‐19 cases in people aged 60+ in Charnwood district has continued to 
rise since the end of September. The latest weekly incidence rate of Covid‐19 cases for people 
aged 60+ (as of 11th October) shows that Charnwood (107.6 per 100,000 population) is higher 
than the national rate (97.1 per 100,000) for this age group. This equates to 47 confirmed cases 
in Charnwood in the last week.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

0.0

20.0

40.0

60.0

80.0

100.0

120.0

R
at
e 
p
er
 1
0
0
,0
0
0
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n

Incident Rate aged 60+ (per 100,000 population ‐Weekly) ‐ Registered 
Population

Blaby Charnwood Harborough

Hinckley and Bosworth Melton North West Leicestershire

Oadby and Wigston Rutland Leicestershire

99



 

8. Leicestershire has the 2nd highest weekly rate of Covid‐19 cases out of 
its CIPFA similar areas 

 
Public Health England weekly Covid‐19 rates have not been updated for week 41, the following 
narrative relates to week 39.  

 There has been an increase in the weekly rate of Covid‐19 cases in Leicestershire from 32.7 (per 
100,000 population) in week 38 to 37.8 (per 100,000 population) in week 39. As of week 39 (21st  

September‐27th September), Leicestershire is ranked 70th (highest) out of 149 upper tier local 
authorities and ranked the 2nd highest out of its CIPFA similar areas after North Yorkshire. 

 The cumulative rate of Covid‐19 cases in Leicestershire has increased from 623.8 (per 100,000 
population) in week 38 to 669.4 (per 100,000 population) in week 39. As of week 39, 
Leicestershire is ranked 59th (highest) out of 149 upper tier local authorities and ranked 2nd   
highest out of its CIPFA similar areas after Northamptonshire.    
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

100



 

9. The MSOA with the highest count of Covid‐19 cases was in Loughborough 
– University in the last week 
 

 Between 4th October to 11th October (week 41), the MSOA with the highest count of confirmed 
cases of Covid‐19 were found in Loughborough – University with 111 reported cases.  This was 
followed by: 

o Loughborough Storer & Queen’s Park (72) 
o Oadby North & East (64) 
o Oadby South & West (28) 
o Loughborough Lemyngton & Hastings (25) 
o Narborough (24) 
o Kegworth & Belton (23) 
o Loughborough – Outwoods (22), Leicester Forest East (22)  
o Thurcaston, Woodhouse & Bradgate (21), Loughborough – Shelthorpe & Woodthorpe 

(21) 
o Kibworth & Great Glen (20) 

 

 All other areas recorded below 20 cases in the last week.  
 

 Areas that recorded between zero and two cases in the last week have been suppressed due to 
data disclosure and are represented as white in the map below.  

 

 
 
 
 
 

101



 

10. District Level Summary 
 

 Oadby & Wigston continues to have the highest rate of Covid‐19 cases and deaths in the county. 
The rate of cumulative cases is significantly higher in comparison to the England average. 

 The weekly counts of cases saw three peaks one in mid‐May, one in mid‐July and another at the 
beginning of September. There is also a peak in early October. 

 The weekly counts of cases have decreased from 129 in w/c 5th October to 115 in w/c 12th  
October. 

 The latest weeks data on death occurrences shows no deaths involving Covid‐19 were recorded 
in Oadby & Wigston from week 27 to week 41.  
 

 Hinckley & Bosworth has the fourth highest rate of Covid‐19 cases and second highest rate of 
deaths in the county. The rate of cumulative cases is significantly lower compared to the England 
average. 

 The weekly counts of cases saw a peak in late April with second peak on 8th June (57 cases). After 
this the weekly counts of cases had fluctuated, until the end of August and having since then 
shown an increasing trend. The latest weekly counts of cases have decreased, from 133 in w/c 
5th October to 96 in w/c 12th  October. 

 The latest weeks data shows no deaths involving Covid‐19 in Hinckley & Bosworth in week 41.  
 

 Blaby has the third highest rate of Covid‐19 cases in the county and third highest rate of deaths. 
The rate of cumulative cases is significantly higher in comparison to the England average.  

 The weekly counts of cases saw a peak before the middle of May and a smaller peak at the 
beginning of June. Since then, a further peak has been witnessed in the beginning of October. 
The latest weekly counts of cases have decreased from 151 in w/c 5th October to 129 in w/c 12th  
October. 

 The latest weeks data shows there were no deaths involving Covid‐19 in Blaby in week 41.  
  

 Harborough has the third lowest rate of Covid‐19 cases and third lowest rate of deaths in the 
county. The rate of cumulative cases is significantly lower in comparison to the England average. 

 The weekly counts of cases saw a peak towards the end of April and a smaller peak around mid‐
June, and there has been an increasing trend of cases since the end of August. The latest weekly 
counts of cases have decreased from 107 in w/c 5th October to 82 in w/c 12th  October. 

 The latest weekly counts of deaths involving Covid‐19 shows no deaths were recorded in 
Harborough in the past nine weeks (week 33 to week 41).  
 

 Charnwood has the second highest rate of Covid‐19 cases and fourth highest rate of deaths in 
the county. The rate of cumulative cases is significantly higher in comparison to the England 
average.  

 The weekly counts of cases saw a peak around mid‐May, there has been increasing trend since 
the end of August. The latest weekly counts of cases have decreased from 448 in w/c 5th October 
to 380 in w/c 12th  October. 

 The latest weeks data shows no deaths involving Covid‐19 in Charnwood in week 41.  
 

 
 
 
 

102



 

 Melton has the second lowest rate of Covid‐19 cases in the county and the second lowest rate of 
deaths in the county. The rate of cumulative cases is significantly lower than the England 
average.  

 The latest weekly counts of cases have increased, from 45 in w/c 5th October to 51 in w/c 12th  
October. 

 The latest weeks data shows one death involving Covid‐19 was recorded in Melton in week 41, 
this occurred in a hospital setting.  
 

 North West Leicestershire has the lowest rate of Covid‐19 cases and lowest rate in deaths in the 
county. The rate of cumulative cases is significantly lower than the England average.  

 The weekly counts of cases had shown a declining trend since the middle of June, however an 
increase in counts of cases has been witnessed since mid‐September. The weekly count of cases 
have increased from 128 in w/c 5th October to 73 in w/c 12th  October. 

 The latest weekly counts of deaths involving Covid‐19 shows no deaths were recorded in North 
West Leicestershire in the past 11 weeks (week 31 to week 41).   
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

103



 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Strategic Business Intelligence Team 
Strategy and Business Intelligence Branch  
 
Chief Executive’s Department 
Leicestershire County Council 
County Hall 
Glenfield 
Leicester 
LE3 8RA 
ri@leics.gov.uk 
www.lsr‐online.org 

104



Theme
Health - Adult

Comparator
Revenue
Deprivation

How to Read This Chart
The chart is divided up into quadrants based upon
average rank for all indicators (vertical axis) and net
revenue expenditure per head (horizontal axis) for
county councils. Authorities in the top right quadrant
are high performing and low spending, while authorities
in the bottom left are low performing and high
spending. The 'Deprivation' comparator uses local
authority 2019 Multiple Deprivation rank.
 'Overall Performance' is the rank of average rank for all
indicators, while 'LA Core Performance' only includes
themes that are related to county council functions;
 - Adult Social Care
- Better Care Fund
- Children's Social Care
- Corporate
- Environment & Waste
- Health - Adult
- Health - Child
- Libraries
- Safer Communities
- SEND
- Transport & Highways

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35

Comparator

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

20

22

24

26

28

30

32

34L
ow
 <
--
-  
   

   
  I
nd
ic
at
or
 R
an
k 
(H
ig
h 
= 
be
tt
er
 p
er
fo
rm
in
g)
   
  

   
  -
--
> 
H
ig
h

Buckinghamshire

Cambridgeshire

Cornwall

Cumbria

Derbyshire

Devon

Durham

East Sussex

Essex

Gloucestershire

Hampshire

Herefordshire

Hertfordshire

Kent

Lancashire Lincolnshire

Norfolk

North Yorkshire

Oxfordshire

Shropshire

Suffolk

Surrey

Warwickshire

West Sussex

Worcestershire

Source: LAIT, ASCOF, Fingertips, various. Produced by the Business Intelligence Service, Leicestershire County Council, 2020.

 Performance by Theme

High <---          Revenue Rank (High = more revenue per head)          ---> Low A.

Somerset

Northamptonshire

Staffordshire

Northumberland

Nottinghamshire

Wiltshire

Leicestershire

Appendix 3
105

rwilding
Highlight



Theme
Health - Child

Comparator
Revenue
Deprivation

How to Read This Chart
The chart is divided up into quadrants based upon
average rank for all indicators (vertical axis) and net
revenue expenditure per head (horizontal axis) for
county councils. Authorities in the top right quadrant
are high performing and low spending, while authorities
in the bottom left are low performing and high
spending. The 'Deprivation' comparator uses local
authority 2019 Multiple Deprivation rank.
 'Overall Performance' is the rank of average rank for all
indicators, while 'LA Core Performance' only includes
themes that are related to county council functions;
 - Adult Social Care
- Better Care Fund
- Children's Social Care
- Corporate
- Environment & Waste
- Health - Adult
- Health - Child
- Libraries
- Safer Communities
- SEND
- Transport & Highways

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35

Comparator

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

20

22

24

26

28

30

32

34L
ow
 <
--
-  
   

   
  I
nd
ic
at
or
 R
an
k 
(H
ig
h 
= 
be
tt
er
 p
er
fo
rm
in
g)
   
  

   
  -
--
> 
H
ig
h

Buckinghamshire

Cambridgeshire

Cornwall

Cumbria

Derbyshire

Devon

Durham

East Sussex

Essex

Gloucestershire

Herefordshire

Hertfordshire

Kent

Leicestershire

Lincolnshire

Norfolk

North Yorkshire

Northamptonshire
Shropshire

Somerset

Staffordshire

Surrey

Warwickshire

West Sussex

Source: LAIT, ASCOF, Fingertips, various. Produced by the Business Intelligence Service, Leicestershire County Council, 2020.

 Performance by Theme

High <---          Revenue Rank (High = more revenue per head)          ---> Low A.

Oxfordshire

Suffolk

Hampshire

Wiltshire

Northumberland

Nottinghamshire

Lancashire

Worcestershire

106

rwilding_1
Highlight



Wellbeing ‐ Public Health
Strategic 
Plan

Description
Quartile 
position

Direction of 
Travel

End of Yr 
2019/20

End of Yr
2018/19

Polarity Commentary

Public Health

* Life Expectancy – Males (Leics) 1st (Eng) → 80.7 80.8 High

Males in Leicestershire can expect to live over 1 year longer than 
the average for England. To reduce health inequalities we are 
tackling the wider determinants of health through a range of 
projects/activity. Latest data is for the period 2016‐18. 

* Life Expectancy – Females (Leics) 1st (Eng) → 84.2 84.1 High
Females in Leicestershire can expect to live 1 year longer than the
average for England. Latest data is for the period 2016‐18.

* Healthy Life Expectancy – Males (Leics) 2nd (Eng) ↓ 63.8 65.2 High
Males in Leicestershire can expect to live almost half a healthy year 
longer than the average for England (63.4 years). Latest data is for 
the period 2016‐18. 

* Healthy Life Expectancy – Females (Leics) 2nd (Eng) ↓ 63.9 65.7 High
Females in Leicestershire have the same healthy life expectancy as 
the average for England (63.9 years). Latest data is for the period 
2016‐18.

Slope Index of Inequalities – Males (Leics) 1st (Eng) ↑ 6.3 6.6 Low
The gap in life expectancy between the best‐off and worst‐off 
males in Leicestershire for 2016‐18 is 6.3 years. Ranked 5th best 
out of 16 similar areas.

Slope Index of Inequalities – Females (Leics) 2nd (Eng) ↑ 5 5.5 Low
The gap in life expectancy between the best‐off and worst‐off 
females in Leicestershire for 2016‐18 is 5.0 years.  Ranked 9th best 
out of 16 similar areas.

* Under 75 CVD Mortality (per 100,000 population) 1st (Eng) → 61.1 62.1 Low
A variety of work contributes to reducing cardiovascular disease.
Latest data is for the period 2016‐18.

* Under 75 Cancer Mortality (per 100,000 population) 1st (Eng) → 120.7 119.8 Low
Various actions are being implemented to help people to adopt 
healthier lifestyles and become more aware of cancer risk factors. 
Latest data is for the period 2016‐18.

* Under 75 Respiratory Disease Mortality (per 100,000
population)

1st (Eng) → 26.7 27.0 Low
Public health advice and support and wider prevention 
programmes for respiratory disease. Latest data is for the period 
2016‐18.

Appendix 4

107



Wellbeing ‐ Public Health
Strategic 
Plan

Description
Quartile 
position

Direction of 
Travel

End of Yr 
2019/20

End of Yr 
2018/19

Polarity Commentary

*
Age standardised mortality for preventative causes for age 
75 and under

1st (Eng) ↓ 156.2 151.8 Low

Deaths are considered preventable if, in the light of the 
understanding of the determinants of health at the time of death, 
all or most deaths from the underlying cause (subject to age limits 
if appropriate) could potentially be avoided by public health 
interventions in the broadest sense.

*
Prevalence of smoking among persons aged 18 years and 
over 

1st (Eng) ↑ 12.0% 13.2% Low
A new stop smoking service began in 2017. In 2019, the national 
average result was 13.9%.

Rate of hospital admissions for alcohol related causes (per 
100,000 population ‐ Leics) 

2nd (Eng) → 588 556 Low
Leicestershire has performed better than the England average 
since 2011/12. Latest data is for period 2018/19. 

* % who successfully completed drug treatment (non‐opiate) 2nd (Eng) ↑ 38.6% 34.7% High
Data shows completions in 2018 with non re‐presentations up to 6 
months.  The data presented is for Leicestershire and Rutland 
combined.

* % who successfully completed drug treatment (opiate) 1st (Eng) ↑ 8.2% 5.5% High
Data shows completions in 2018 with non re‐presentations up to 6 
months. The data presented is for Leicestershire and Rutland 
combined.

Cumulative percentage of the eligible population aged 40‐
74 offered an NHS Health Check who received an NHS 
Health Check in a five year period

3rd (Eng) ‐ N/A 42.8% High

New health check service contract with the GPs has been agreed 
along with efforts to encourage pharmacies and GPs to work 
together to improve health check uptake. Data relates to the time 
period  2014/15 ‐ 2018/19. No further update since value 
presented in 2018/19

* % of adults classified as overweight or obese (Leics) 3rd (Eng) ↓ 64.5% 60.6% Low
Data sourced from Active Lives Survey. Latest data is for period 
2018/19.

* % of physically active adults 2nd (Eng) ↑ 68.3% 64.3% High
Latest data, 2018/19, is derived from the Active Lives Survey. 
Leicestershire value is similar to the England value of 67.2%.

* % of physically inactive adults 2nd (Eng) ↑ 19.5% 23.3% Low
Latest data, 2018/19, is derived from the Active Lives Survey. 
Leicestershire value is significantly better than the England value of 
21.4%.

Fraction of mortality attributable to particulate air pollution  2nd (Eng) → 4.9% 5.3% Low
Latest data is for 2018. In 2018, the value for Leicestershire has 
been the lowest since recording in 2010.

108



Wellbeing ‐ Public Health
Strategic 
Plan

Description
Quartile 
position

Direction of 
Travel

End of Yr 
2019/20

End of Yr 
2018/19

Polarity Commentary

Coronavirus Response

Cumulative rate (per 100,000 population) of lab confirmed 
Covid‐19 cases (Pillar 1 & 2)

‐ ‐ 623.8 Low
Leicestershire ranked 60th highest out of 149 Upper Tier Local 
Authorities. National Cumulative rate (per 100,000 population) is 
631.2. Data as at week 38.

Cumulative death rate per 100,000 population for Covid‐ 19 ‐ ‐ 77.6 Low

Cumulative death rate (per 100,000 population) based on 
occurrences from Covid‐19 (up to 18th September 2020, but were 
registered to 26th September). The national cumulative death rate 
(per 100,000 population) is 89.4.

Number of excess deaths ‐ ‐ 538 Low
Cumulative excess deaths from week 1 to week 38 (18th 
September 2020)

% respondents feel well informed about coronavirus, 
including availability of support

1st/2nd ‐ 82.1% High
The result is well above the England average of 49% and reflects 
the information campaign run by the Council.

Notes: Public Health Outcomes Framework (PHOF) benchmarks are compared to all single / upper tier authorities. Direction of travel arrows are indicative, and do not necessarily represent 
statistically significant change.

109



Wellbeing ‐ Best Start in Life
Strategic 
Plan

Description
Quartile 
position

Direction of 
Travel

End of Yr 
2019/20

End of Yr 
2018/19

Polarity Commentary

* Smoking at time of delivery (Leics & Rutland) 1st (Eng) ↑ 8.5% 9.5% Low
Significant decreasing trend was witnessed over the previous five 
years. The data presented is for Leicestershire and Rutland 
combined in 2018/19

* Prevalence of breastfeeding at 6–8 weeks from birth (Leics) 2nd ↑ 47.1% 45.0% High
Data is for 2018/19 and the prevalence for Leicestershire is similar 
to England (46.2%)

* Percentage of 5 year olds with experience of visually 
obvious dental decay

1st (Eng) ↑ 18.2% 22.3% Low

Compared to the last survey results in 2016/17, there has been a 
significant improvement in 5 year olds with dental decay in 
Leicestershire in 2019/20. The latest result is significantly better 
than the national average. 

*
% of providers in early years assessed as good or 
outstanding

3rd → 95.7% 95.0% High
A high proportion of childcare providers in Leicestershire are rated 
as good or outstanding.

* % take‐up of free early education by 2 year olds 4th (2020) ↑ 64.0% 63.0% High
Take up of free childcare places for 2 year olds is similar to the 
previous year.

* % take‐up of free early education by 3 & 4 year olds 2nd (2020) → 95.0% 96.0% High Take up for 3 and 4 year olds remains high.

* % Achieving Good Level of Development (early years) 3rd (2019) ‐ N/A 72.1% High
Achievement in Leicestershire is now above the national average 
for the first time. Quartile position is in relation to 33 counties and 
reflects previous year's result.

* % Inequality gap in achievement across early learning goals 2nd (2019) ‐ N/A 28.7% Low
Quartile position is in relation to 33 counties and reflects previous 
year's result.

*
Excess weight in primary school age children in Reception 
(Leics)

1st (Eng) ↑ 19.6% 24.3% Low
Leicestershire performs significantly better than the England 
average of 22.6%, 2018/19.

*
Excess weight in primary school age children in Year 6 
(Leics)

1st (Eng) ↑ 30.0% 32.7% Low
 Leicestershire performs significantly better than the England 
average of 34.3%, 2018/19.

* Chlamydia diagnoses (per 100,000 aged 15‐24) (Leics) 3rd (Eng) ↓ 1561 1734 High
Slight decline in performance in chlamydia detection rate from 
2016 to 2018. No further update.

* Under 18 conception (rate per 1,000 females aged 15‐17) 
(Leics)

1st (Eng) → 12.2 12.3 Low
Leicestershire's teenage pregnancy rate has dropped for the 11th 
consecutive year ‐ lower than East Midlands and England rates. 
Latest data is 2018.

Notes: Public Health Outcomes Framework (PHOF) benchmarks are compared to all single / upper tier authorities

110



Wellbeing ‐ Health & Care
Strategic 
Plan

Description Quartile 
position

Direction of 
Travel

End of Yr 
2019/20

Target / 
Standard

End of Yr 
2018/19

Polarity Commentary

Unified Prevention, Information & Urgent Response

*
Permanent admissions of older people to residential and 
nursing care homes per 100,000 pop (ASCOF 2A Pt II) (BCF)

3rd 
(2018/19) ↑ 605.7 <585 689.4 Low

There was a reduction in the number of people aged 65 or over 
permanently admitted to residential or nursing homes during 
2019/20 compared to the previous year.

* Permanent admissions to residential or nursing care of 
service users aged 18‐64 per 100,000 pop (ASCOF 2A Pt I)

2nd  
(2018/19) → 5.5 <8.1 5.3 Low

The number of people aged 18‐64 permanently admitted to 
residential or nursing homes during 2019/20 was below target.

*
Non‐elective admissions to hospital per 100,000 pop per 
month  (BCF)

2nd 
(2017/18) → 836.27 864.94 819.53 Low

Non‐elective admissions to hospital continue to be lower than 
planned for although the rate per 100,000 population has increased 
in 2019/20.  There were 69,916 against a plan of 72,313 in 2019/20.

*
Admissions from injuries due to falls per 100,000 pop per 
month (BCF)

‐ ↓ 154.2 ‐ 143.2 Low
There were 2,690 emergency admissions for injuries due to falls for 
residents of Leicestershire aged 65 and over in 2019/20.

* % of people who use services who find it easy to find 
information about support (ASCOF 3D part 1)

4th  
(2018/19) ↑ 61.5% 74% 59.7% High

The proportion of service users who found it easy to find 
information in 2019/20 was slightly higher than the previous year.

Improved Discharge & Reablement

* Delayed transfers of care from hospital per 100,000 pop per 
month (BCF)

2nd  
(2017/18) → 217.17 240.44 213.51 Low

Current reporting on DTOCs is on hold due to resources being 
diverted to help support the Covid pandemic.  The figure of 217.17 
is the average for April ‐ Feb 19/20.  

* Delayed transfers of care attributable to adult social care 
only ‐ average days per month 

1st  
(2018/19) ↓ 163 207 94 Low

Current reporting on DTOCs is on hold due to resources being 
diverted to help support the Covid pandemic.  The figure of 163 is 
the average for April ‐ Feb 19/20.  

*
% of people aged 65+ still at home 91 days after discharge 
from hospital into reablement / rehabilitation services 
(ASCOF 2B Pt I) (BCF)

2nd  
(2018/19) → 88.1% 88.0% 87.5% High

Performance in 2019/20 was similar to the previous year, and just 
over the BCF target.

*
% of people receiving reablement with no subsequent long‐
term service (ASCOF 2D)

2nd  
(2018/19) ↑ 87.5% 82.0% 84.5% High

ASCOF 2D measures the proportion of people who had no need for 
ongoing services following reablement.  During 2019/20 
performance was higher than the previous year and above the 
target.

Notes: ASCOF benchmarks are compared to all social services authorities
BCF indicator targets are for 2018/19. 'ASCOF' refers to the Department of Health Adult Social Care Outcomes Framework

Appendix 5

111



Wellbeing ‐ Health & Care
Strategic 
Plan

Description Quartile 
position

Direction of 
Travel

End of Yr 
2019/20

Target / 
Standard

End of Yr 
2018/19

Polarity Commentary

Personalisation

*
% of people who use services who have control over their 
daily life (ASCOF 1B)

4th 
(2018/19) → 73.4% ‐ 74.3% High

The proportion of service users stating that they have control over 
their daily life is similar to the previous year.

% of people using social care who receive self‐directed 
support (national, ASCOF 1C Pt 1a)     

3rd  
(2018/19) → 97.2% 97.0% 96.7% High

The proportion of people in receipt of a personal budget has 
increased by 0.5 percentage points on last year.

% of carers receiving self‐directed support (ASCOF 1C Pt 1b)
3rd 

(2018/19) → 99.8% 99.0% 99.8% High
The proportion of carers in receipt of a personal budget remained 
constant between 18/19 and 19/20.

% of service users receiving support via cash payments 
(ASCOF 1C Pt 2a)   

1st  
(2018/19) ↓ 47.5% 40.0% 49.9% High

There has been a small reduction in the proportion of service users 
with a direct payment

% of carers receiving direct payments (ASCOF 1C Pt 2b)
2nd  

(2018/19) → 98.4% 97.0% 98.1% High
The proportion of carers in receipt of a direct payment was similar 
to and slightly above the previous year, and above the 97% target.

Coronavirus Response
Number of people shielded from coronavirus (supported 
with essential supplies)

‐ ‐ 5,300 ‐ N/A High
Of the 14,400 people who registered for support by 31st July 2020, 
5,300 noted a need for support with essential supplies.

Number of people shielded from coronavirus (supported 
with basic care needs)

‐ ‐ 1,200 ‐ N/A High
Of the 14,400 people who registered for support by 31st July 2020, 
1,200 noted they needed support with basic care needs.

Dementia

* Dementia diagnosis rate by GPs 2nd (Eng) → 68.9% 66.7% 72.1% High

The indicator shows the rate of persons aged 65 and over with a 
recorded diagnosis of dementia compared to the number estimated 
to have dementia given the characteristics of the population and the 
age and sex specific prevalence rates.  Data is for 2019.

Care Quality

Overall satisfaction of people who use services with their 
care and support (ASCOF 3A)

4th 
(2018/19) ↑ 59.9% ‐ 58.5% High

The level of satisfaction ‐ calculated from the annual survey of 
service users ‐ has increased by 1.4 percentage points between 
2018/19 and 2019/20.

Overall satisfaction of carers with their care and support 
(ASCOF 3B)

3rd 
(2018/19) ‐ N/A ‐ 36.6% High

The bi‐annual carers survey was not due to be completed in 
2019/20, and the 2020/21 survey has been postponed for a year 
due to the Covid pandemic. 

% of Care Homes requiring improvement or inadequate ‐ 
rating

‐ → 18% ‐ 17% Low This indicator is based on Care Quality Commission (CQC) data.

% of Home Care Providers requiring improvement or 
inadequate ‐ rating

‐ → 11% ‐ 12% Low
This indicator is based on Care Quality Commission (CQC) data.  No 
Home Care providers were rated as inadequate.

* Social care related quality of life (ASCOF 1A)
4th 

(2018/19) → 18.5 ‐ 18.6 High
This measure is drawn from a number of questions in the annual 
survey of service users including such topics as control over daily 
life, and how time is spent and social contact.  

112



Wellbeing ‐ Health & Care
Strategic 
Plan

Description Quartile 
position

Direction of 
Travel

End of Yr 
2019/20

Target / 
Standard

End of Yr 
2018/19

Polarity Commentary

* Carers reported quality of life (ASCOF 1D)
2nd 

(2017/18) ‐ N/A ‐ 7.5 High

Similar to the indicator above, this is drawn from a number of 
questions in the biennial survey of carers including topics such as 
control over daily life, social participation and safety.  The survey 
was not carried out in 2019/20, and the 2020/21 survey has been 
postpone for a year due to the Covid pandemic

People reach their potential

*
% of adults with a learning disability in paid employment 
(ASCOF 1E)

1st 
(2018/19) → 11.2% 11.2% 11.3% High

The proportion of people aged 18‐64 with a learning disability 
known to the council who are in paid employment remains high at 
11%.

*
Gap in employment rate between those in contact with 
secondary mental health services and the overall rate

4th (Eng) → 77.80% ‐ 74.50% Low Data is for 2017/18 and 2018/19.

Notes: ASCOF benchmarks are compared to all social services authorities. 'ASCOF' refers to the Department of Health Adult Social Care Outcomes Framework.  113



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 6 

Public Health 

Leicestershire County Council’s vision is for its residents to be able to make informed 

and healthy choices for themselves, contributing to a reduction in health inequalities 

and an improved healthy life expectancy. We support the population to stay well 

through prevention and early intervention and through influencing the wider 

determinants of health and wellbeing such as the environment, housing, employment 

and education.  Our public health function plays a key role in contributing to these 

aims. A number of public health issues are prioritised in our Health and Wellbeing 

Strategy.  

This year the vital importance of effective local public health services has been 
highlighted by our response to the Covid-19 pandemic. In early March the first case 
of covid-19 was reported in the county. Close contacts were given health advice 
about symptoms and emergency contact details to use if they become unwell in the 
14 days after contact with the confirmed case. The second confirmed case was 
reported on 9 March.  

In May 2020 it was announced that LLR had been chosen among the local 
authorities to lead work and share best practice on the Government’s new trace and 
test service. This was a positive step for local people to support the fight against 
Covid-19. The council also received around £6.6m to support care home providers to 
tackle the spread of Covid-19 and accepted additional funding to support the role in 
the trace and test service.  

On 29 June 2020 the Secretary of State for Health reported a high number of 

positive cases in Leicester. The Council confirmed its commitment to keeping 

residents safe following the decision to institute the first local lockdown of Leicester 

as a result of the spike in a number of areas within the county. Some areas that 

bordered the city were included in the lockdown zone as a result of local case levels, 

and risks of further increases in positive cases. We worked closely with Leicester 

City Council and the Government to bring down the overall number of cases. The 

Council also produced a map and a postcode checker detailing which parts of the 

county would be impacted by the increased restrictions. It has supported the closure 

of schools in the affected areas as well as a range of service changes such as a 

pause of birth registrations and ceremonies. Baroness Harding and the Secretary of 

State, Matt Hancock, spoke of the impressive local partnership working. 

Incident Management Teams (IMTs) - have been established in areas in the 

County where there has been a high incidence of Corona virus (Covid-19) positive 

cases, these meetings have been led by the Director of Public Health involving 

colleagues from different organisations to implement rapid local actions to restrict 

further spread of infection including: communications, testing, contact tracing 

contacts of positive cases and outbreak management.  

  

115

https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/coronavirus-covid-19/how-you-can-help/increased-restrictions-for-leicester-and-parts-of-leicestershire-announced


Public Health Services  

The Council has been moving to a social model of public health with greater 
involvement of public health across other services and a strong emphasis on 
prevention for a number of years. 

Online Health and Support Information Hub - we want people to get support as 
quickly as possible when they need it. Our online information hub provides an 
access point for immediate support. First Contact Plus enables people to search 
from their own home through a broad range of wellbeing information, all in one place. 
The service includes information and links to organisations which provide support 
around topics such as health, falls, feeling safe, living independently, debts and 
benefits, work, learning, volunteering and families and relationships. First Contact 
Plus also signposts people to community groups, national charities and public health 
services.   

Unified Prevention – our Unified Prevention Board (UPB) oversees the 
development and delivery of Leicestershire’s prevention offer, a key part of the 
Health and Wellbeing Board’s Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy. The UPB 
coordinates activities across a wide range of partners, ensuring everyone 
collaborates to deliver our prevention priorities, services and communication plans.  
The UPB has continued to develop links between the prevention/social prescribing 
offer and the new Integrated Teams across Leicestershire. Work has focussed on 
strengthening engagement between partners and Integrated Teams in each locality. 
District Council and Public Health representatives are now part of each Integrated 
Team’s board, helping shape the prevention focus in each area. 

Social Prescribing - the board has worked on the social prescribing model for 
Leicestershire. In January 2019, further work began to develop the social prescribing 
model as the wrap-around prevention offer to support Integrated Teams. This initially 
focussed on the needs of 3 cohorts of people, those who are frail, those who have 
multiple long-term conditions, and those with high health and care costs. The UPB 
partners are focusing on achieving a joined up social prescribing model across 
Leicestershire that supports the framework for social prescribing in primary care in 
the NHS Long Term plan. Continuing the development of the wrap-around 
prevention offer for Integrated Teams is one of the core activities of the UPB with 
Social Prescribing Link Worker roles starting to be established within the new 
Primary Care Networks.  

Integrated Healthier Lifestyle Services - helping people live healthy lifestyles is 
vital.  Our weight management and stop smoking services are designed to give 
people the right support that will have a positive impact on their overall health and 
wellbeing.  The services include the support of friendly advisors offering free, tailored 
support to help with weight loss, giving up smoking and becoming healthier in 
general, either via text, Skype, phone or face-to-face appointments. The weight 
management service offers tailored support and intervention for people who are 
overweight that can fit into daily routines straight away. The team offers advice to 
people struggling to achieve and maintain a healthy weight and nutritional advice 
together with becoming more physically active. The service consists of a two-part 
approach and includes adult and children weight management services. The Quit 
Ready stop-smoking service offers a range of behavior intervention, medication and 
support. Both services consist of a 12-week intervention with the patient.  

116



Stop Smoking – in April 2020 we reported an increase in people wanting support to 

give up smoking. Covid-19 acted as a catalyst for this increase in demand. More 

than 200 people contacted our Quit Ready service in March and received tailored 

digital support and intervention from the comfort of their homes. Quit Ready offers a 

12-week, evidence-based treatment programme run by a team of specialist advisers 

via the service’s helpline and digital service. In addition to weekly advice sessions, 

service users – including those who were self-isolating or shielded due to 

coronavirus – could also receive nicotine replacement therapy or e-cigarettes 

through the post, with no face-to-face contact required at any stage. 

Local Area Coordinators (LACs) – LACs support vulnerable people by developing 
networks of community-based support and utilising existing community assets. They 
operate in local neighbourhoods, closely linked to housing and community health 
services and to recreational and social opportunities. There are now 16 LACs 
covering 23 locations. By improving the quality of life and independence of 
individuals and building stronger community links, LACs help to prevent people from 
reaching crisis point and reduce demand for health and social care services. 

NHS Health Check – this is part of a national mandated programme in England. It is 
aimed at 40-74-year-olds to help reduce their risk of cardiovascular disease, 
diabetes, stroke, kidney disease and some forms of dementia. In Leicestershire, 
residents who are GP registered are invited every 5 years are to take up their free 
health check via an invitation from their GP practice. It’s free, and helps people 
understand the chances of getting health problems as they get older and what they 
can do to improve their health. The health check programme in Leicestershire is the 
responsibility of our Public Health Department. 

Healthy Weight and Diet – good nutrition is an essential part of a healthy lifestyle. 
Diet combined with physical activity can help people reach and maintain a healthy 
weight, reduce the risk of chronic disease and promote overall health. To help 
combat overweight and obesity we commission Tier 2 Leicestershire Weight 
Management Service that sits within the Integrated Lifestyle Service and makes one 
part of the provider arm service. As part of the weight management offer we also 
provide the Cooks4Life programme that works with schools and families in 
Leicestershire and the Master Gardeners programme helps people to learn to grow 
nutritious food 

Weight Management - the weight management service offers support to 
Leicestershire residents who are overweight. Its programmes set a 5% body weight 
loss goal, giving a results-focused approach that enables service users to track their 
progress. The service features a team of senior dieticians and nutritionists who help 
those looking to manage their weight, through a 12-week intervention programme. 
The service also offers low level support for those who are not in in need of intensive 
support i.e. Weight Watchers App support together with 3 contact telephone support 
sessions from a Nutritionist. The service has been operating since January 2020 and 
have received approximately 500 referrals to by mid- May. The Childrens’ weight 
management programme supports children who are overweight and provides group 
interactive sessions called Healthy Eating Healthy Activity. This group support offer 
provides parents and children with advice and support on making healthier food 
choices, nutritional information and recipe ideas to maintain a healthy weight. This is 
also in collaboration with the National Child Measurement Programmes and working 

117



with schools and School Nurses in providing support to children who are considered 
not having a healthy weight. This, together with the Cooks4Life programme in 
schools provides for an overall healthy eating offer for families.  

Good Food Charter and Plan – food is important for Leicestershire’s health, 
economy and sustainability. In December 2018 we approved a new Good Food 
Charter and Plan for Leicestershire.  The Food Plan provides a strategic approach 
that values and prioritises sustainability, local provenance and healthy food in polices 
and procurement, whilst also developing community capacity and assets in relation 
to food growing, cooking and eating. The Good Food Charter provides an over-
arching ambition to drive the future of food in Leicestershire. The plan 
includes supporting Melton Borough Council and Harborough District Council in the 
national Sustainable Food Cities scheme by promoting healthy and sustainable food 
and alleviating food poverty and diet–related ill health and improving access to 
affordable healthy food. It will mean Leicestershire can become a member of the 
Sustainable Food Cities network which would open up funding opportunities and 
support from national experts. 

Substance Misuse - this year has been dominated by the response to the Covid-19 
pandemic for both the Public Health Department and our commissioned providers. 
The focus in the early part of the year was to support substance misuse treatment 
services to adapt their service delivery whilst continuing to deliver safe, high quality 
interventions for people with alcohol and/or drug related problems. We are pleased 
to say that both our community substance misuse treatment service and in-patient 
detoxification service remained open and accessible to service users. Where safe to 
do so interventions moved to digital and remote applications including e-modules 
and video, and phone calls. All service users were re-assessed and where clinically 
indicated face-to-face support was continued with all Covid-19 safety precautions 
strictly in place. The annual Substance Misuse Recovery Week of events planned, 
organised a delivered by the local recovery community during September moved to a 
digital festival and staff both supported and took part in the ‘virtual festival’ which has 
been a great success. The planned re-procurement of substance misuse treatment 
services due to take place throughout this year in readiness for 2021 has been 
postponed due to the Covid-19 pandemic. However, the joint work with 
commissioning partners continued and is now preparing for new contracts for April 
2022.  

Sexual Health Strategy – poor sexual health can affect anyone, often when it is 
least expected.  In April 2020 we commenced consultation on a new Sexual Health 
Strategy for the next three years. The Strategy was approved in June 2020. It will 
see us continue to work with partners to ensure services meet the needs of 
residents. The proposals focus on giving people the right information to make 
positive decisions about their sexual and reproductive health and reducing health 
inequalities by focusing on the needs of people at high risk of poor sexual 
health.   There is continued focus on supporting schools in their work around 
relationships and sex education and in access to services through new technology. 
The 2020-23 Sexual Health Strategy which was approved, will build on the progress 
of the previous strategy and will aim to reduce the impact of Covid-19 on people’s 
sexual health and wellbeing. A new integrated sexual health service model has been 
implemented, incorporating more self-service access such as online services and 

118



vending. This provided a good base to promptly respond to service changes required 
in response to the Covid-19 pandemic.  

Workplace Health Programme - the top priorities for our workplace health 
programme include poor sleep management, low physical activity levels and poor 
fruit and vegetable consumption. As the work continued, the programme is 
addressing these priorities with organisations to achieve better outcomes for the 
Leicestershire workforce with a workplace health tool being developed for use by 
partners and staff within their organisation and the workplace charter.  

Homelessness Prevention and Housing Related Support - in October 2019 
following consultation we agreed a revised approach and new model for 
homelessness prevention and housing related support. The model provides a 
combination of 30 beds of hostel-based accommodation and outreach housing-
related support for people at risk of, or experiencing homelessness, with 3 full time 
specialist housing-related support workers.  

Warm Homes Fund – the Warms Homes Service supports and educates members 
of the public and organisations to reduce fuel poverty and provide practical advice. In 
December 2019, following a successful funding bid which resulted in a £3.4m award, 
we entered into a contract with E.ON. to deliver a 2-year project to address fuel 
poverty in Leicestershire. The project aims to reduce excess winter mortality and ill-
health caused by cold homes.  It will provide physical improvements to the home and 
financial and behavioural advice to ensure residents maintain a level of resilience 
and independence to keep warm at home. There will be an additional advisor post 
within the Public Health First Contact Plus service. 

 

Children Get the Best Start - Child Health 

Ensuring that our children get the best start in life is a priority and also an investment 
in our future. We want to support parents to get it right in the 1001 critical days after 
birth and to ensure that children are prepared and ready for school, whatever their 
background. 

0-19 Healthy Child Programme - our service model for the Healthy Child 
Programme comprises a combined health visitor and school nursing service. The 
service prioritises the health of looked after children, children with SEND, traveller 
families and those at risk of exploitation. 

Breast Feeding and Maternity Support – low breastfeeding rates are linked with 
inequalities in health, deprivation and reduced life expectancy. Breastfeeding peer 
support services are available in 6 areas and breastfeeding champions have been 
nominated in both health visiting and family wellbeing centre teams. The ‘baby 
buddy’ app and ‘meals on heels’ app have been embedded across the county.  

Early Years Support - in spring 2018 we brought together our Early Years Special 
Educational Needs and Inclusion Service, our Early Learning and Childcare Service 
and our Early Years Autism Team into a single Early Years and Child Care Service 
in order to pool our early years expertise. The single service provides support to 
ensure that young children get the best start in life and that their health, development 
and learning are the best they can be. The service works directly with children and 
families as well as with early years’ providers and schools. 

119



Healthy Tots and Healthy Schools – following the launch of new websites in 2018, 
the Leicestershire Healthy Schools programme (LHSP) will launch a new and 
updated accreditation process. The new process is aligned with the most recent 
evidence and guidance and provides schools with the best guidance to improve pupil 
wellbeing. Both LHSP and Healthy Tots programmes continue to provide a range of 
evidence-based workshops for school staff, including staff and pupil mental health, 
bereavement, RSHE and much more. LHSP is also supporting the delivery of the 
DfE Wellbeing for Education Return to ensure pupils mental health and wellbeing is 
supporting during the COVID-19 pandemic.   

Oral Health Promotion – the Oral Health Promotion Team moved in house to the 
Public Health Department in August 2018.The service provides oral health training in 
supervised tooth brushing for pre-school settings, training for frontline staff, oral 
health resource library and advice and displays. The service works with 
professionals to promote oral health and prevent tooth decay. 

 

Mental Health  

The considerable burden of mental illness means that strengthening individual 
resilience and helping people with mental illness to recover remain priorities for us.  
We are a partner in the Better Care Together Mental Health work-stream. The 
supporting programme incorporates a range of interventions aimed at helping people 
avoid becoming mentally ill and at mitigating the impact of mental illness in those 
who experience problems. 

Mental ill Health Prevention - our RU OK? website provides information about 
sources of support. As part of the local Mental Health Partnership group we have 
developed supporting practices. Mental Health First Aid training is offered to front 
line staff. Our adult learning service has also designed a number of opportunities for 
adult social care users including those anxious and depressed. Healthier in Mind is 
progressing a mental health strategy for LLR owned with local communities. During 
Mental Health Awareness week in May 2020 councils, police and the NHS across 
the area came together to encourage residents who were experiencing mental health 
concerns during the pandemic to seek support. Tailored mental health information, 
advice and support was available via the Start a Conversation website on a three-tier 
basis: for those in crisis, who require urgent or emergency help; for those 
experiencing symptoms of depression or anxiety, who are struggling to cope; and for 
those who are more worried than usual and wish to improve their mental wellbeing. 
The resources help to signpost people to the most appropriate support for them in a 
clear and effective way. 

Children’s Mental Health -   as part of the approach a toolkit has been launched for 
schools and an emotional wellbeing curriculum pack developed by young people on 
our County Youth Council. The pack has been launched to Leicestershire Secondary 
Schools as part of their Mental Health Awareness campaign and includes a variety of 
activities for work with young people aged 11 to 18. Through ‘routes to resilience’ we 
have supported an evidence-based approach to helping schools and families in their 
work developing the character, resilience and emotional wellbeing of children and 
young people. The programme has been offered to all state maintained and state 
funded primary schools, secondary schools and colleges across the county. 

120



Suicide Prevention - local suicide prevention plans are led and delivered by the 
LLR Suicide Audit and Prevention Group (SAPG). The group consists of key 
partners and stakeholders from the Council, local NHS trusts, Leicestershire Police 
and many more. The group also lead the collective suicide awareness and 
prevention campaign, Start a Conversation.  

Start a Conversation is a suicide prevention campaign that aims to build a 
community that is committed to the mental health and wellbeing of residents. A non-
judging environment where care and support is available to those in distress or those 
bereaved or affected by suicide. Through a raised awareness and open and honest 
conversations about suicide we believe that every person has the potential to make 
a difference and save a life. The campaign is led by the council, working in 
partnership with a number of organisations, from a variety of sectors from the 
community, that have come together with a commitment to prevent suicide. We 
would like residents and communities to be more aware of the warning signs of 
suicidal behaviour and to have an open and honest approach to conversations about 
suicide. 

In September 2020 we delivered a week-long series of events over World Suicide 
Prevention day to raise awareness of the LLR suicide prevention campaign. The 
events were taken up by more than 400 people and events ranged from exploring 
novel research in suicide first-responders to providing suicide bereavement training. 
The Suicide Audit and Prevention Group also continues to meet regularly and have 
been meeting weekly since the start of official Covid-19 lockdown, in March 2020. 
The group are providing a rapid response to support residents throughout the 
pandemic and are continuing efforts to deliver the local suicide prevention strategic 
approach, agreed in June 2020.  

 

Physical Health - Sport and Physical Activity 

The role of physical activity in improving our health and wellbeing is increasingly 
acknowledged, helping to reduce the major causes of premature death and illness, 
as well as the prevention and management of chronic diseases. Leicester-Shire and 
Rutland Sport (LRS), working closely with the County Council, play a key role to 
deliver sport and physical activity opportunities which support communities in 
achieving the UK Chief Medical Officers physical activity guidelines.   

Physical inactivity directly contributes to one in six deaths in the UK. In November we 
supported recommendations in the Director of Public Health’s Annual Report, on 
physical activity. This involves a coordinated approach to promote healthy weight 
across the life course by a range of different organisations, including an active 
environment, travel, early years and schools, people and families, workplace and 
workforces, active communities and physical activity as medicine. A strong overall 
systems leadership approach being essential. LRS led on developing 
Leicestershire’s Physical Activity and Sport Strategy, which sets out a long-term 
vision for physical activity and sport and a framework for local action.  

Working with the Council LRS, in partnerships with wider organisations implements 
range of services.  

121



Sport and Physical Activity Grant - the Sport and Physical Activity (SPA) Grant 
Agreement represents a collaborative commissioning approach in Leicestershire to 
link up the physical activity related work of the County Council, Leicester-Shire and 
Rutland Sport (LRS) and the district councils and their local leisure, sport and 
physical activity providers. Each year, districts produce a commissioning plan, based 
on the Public Health Commissioning plan, outlining how they will deliver local 
programmes and campaigns. 

Early Years Physical Activity - purposeful physical play/physical activity: high 
quality training course opportunities and an annual Conference with Awards, that 
Early Years practitioners or anyone that works with children under the age of 5 can 
access. Also supporting early years settings to deliver active travel interventions and 
to promote walking, cycling to parents. 

Active Travel - working with the Safe & Sustainable Travel Team to support the 
School Sport & Physical Activity Networks and local Schools to implement Active 
Travel Initiatives such as Active Travel Month, Active Travel Grants, School Banner 
Competitions and Bike-ability. 

Active Families - Active Families is a 4-year project funded by Sport England to 

engage inactive families in physical activity, creating behaviour change and 

encouraging families to become more active. In relation to weight management, 

supporting the Leicestershire Weight Management Service to integrate physical 

activity into the children’s group-based sessions. 

Workplace Wellbeing - public health and six local authorities have also funded LRS 

to develop a Wellbeing @ Work package which organisations across LLR can 

access free of charge to support the implementation of workplace health initiatives. 

One of the major programmes is the Workplace Health Needs Assessment which 

provides practical advice on workplace health and standardised survey questions to 

identify the key priority areas including healthy eating, physical activity, smoking and 

alcohol awareness and sleep and stress management. 

Getting People Active – during 2019/20 £580,294 was invested into County 
Locality Sport and Physical Activity Plans. £798K DfE funding was also secured for 
holiday activities and food programmes within Leicestershire and £569K secured for 
77 local clubs and organisations resulting from funding officer support. 43 
organisations were supported to compete a Workplace Health Needs Assessment, 
engaging with 6,100 employees. £80,619 was invested in the development of 25 
new Satellite Clubs. 58 clubs have been sustained since the beginning of the 
programme. 

Healthy at Home - as the COVID-19 pandemic saw the country fall into lockdown, 

the Healthy at Home online offer was developed to help support the public get and 

stay active safely. The Healthy at Home landing page has seen over 8,500 page 

visits with the 4 key sub-pages on Working at Home, Wellbeing at Home, Active at 

Home and the virtual activity search engine totalling over 13,000 page visits. A 

partnership with BBC Radio Leicester saw over 2,016 hours of activity logged by the 

public on the LRS Activity Tracker during the Active Foxes Challenge. Creative 

social media content featuring videos, staff imagery and staff blogs was developed to 

engage the public during the lockdown. Over 4,300 Healthy at Home activity bags 

122



containing information and support along with activity equipment were delivered to 

targeted groups across Leicestershire, Leicester & Rutland. 

Sports Organisational Support - the Sports Organisation Support (SOS) initiative 
was designed to provide assistance to sports clubs and organisations to help them 
navigate through the COVID-19 restrictions. Specialist financial, risk management 
and health and safety advice was provided to over 100 sport and physical activity 
organisations to help them continue to operate and re-open safely.  The SOS grant 
fund was established to help clubs and organisations pay essential costs to ensure 
they were able to continue operating and provide an invaluable service to the many 
people that attend them. Nearly £50,000 was granted to support 35 sports 
organisations in the county through the fund.  

School Games Virtual Summer Championships - COVID-19 meant the School 
Games Championships could not run in its traditional format, however this didn't stop 
school children from across the county coming together, virtually, to take part in the 
first School Games Virtual Summer Championships in June. With over 3,000 young 
people putting forward their best score in a range of challenges, and there were over 
15,000 entries into the 4 sports categories. The week-long championships started in 
mid-June during National School Sport Week and ran throughout the week, with 
young people able to take part in the challenges and upload their scores to represent 
their school. The virtual Championships gave even more young people the 
opportunity to participate and represent their school in this interactive county-wide 
competition, as the challenges were open to all and accessible, whether they were 
taking part individually at home, or back in a school environment. 123 schools were 
represented in the competition over the week. 

Active Together - is a physical activity movement designed to support the residents 
of Leicester, Leicestershire & Rutland to become more active.  Whilst central 
coordination of Active Together is driven by LRS, it is designed to be owned and 
utilised by a wide range of partners to support them to promote consistent physical 
activity messages which link to their own organisational programmes and outcomes.  
The focus during this time has been on developing a public facing campaign 
supported by our partners.  Active Together along with the straplines of "My Way", 
"Let's Do This" and "Welcoming You Back Safely" have been used via social media 
to promote being active in your local place, return of the leisure facilities and active 
travel to school.  October and November will see an offline offer being develop 
through use of billboards, ad-vans and radio. 

123



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

HEALTH OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE – 11 
NOVEMBER 2020 

 

DEVELOPMENT OF A HEALTHY WEIGHT STRATEGY FOR 
LEICESTERSHIRE 

 

REPORT OF THE  
DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH. 

 
 

Purpose of the Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to seek views of the committee on the new 

proposed healthy weight strategy for Leicestershire.  This forms part of 
the consultation process. 

 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 
2. The Leicestershire Joint Strategic Needs Assessment chapter on 

Obesity: Physical Activity, Healthy Weight and Nutrition was published in 
September 2019. One of the recommendations was to develop a healthy 
weight strategy for Leicestershire that adopts a whole systems approach 
across the life-course. 

 
3. The healthy weight strategy also forms part of the Leicestershire Food 

Plan which was endorsed by Cabinet on the 18 December 2018. 
 

4. A draft framework for the healthy weight strategy was presented to 
Cabinet on the 20th October 2020.  Cabinet approved the draft for 
consultation. 

 
Background 
 
5. More than half (61%) of adults and a third (30%) of year 6 primary 

school children living in Leicestershire are overweight or obese.  
Overweight and obesity is more common in socio-economically 
disadvantaged communities and is associated with many long-term 
conditions. There is emerging evidence that people with a high body 
mass index are more at risk of developing complications of Covid-19.  

 
6. The economic burden of overweight/obesity is significant across 

England.  The NHS spends £6.1bn per year on obesity-related ill health, 

125 Agenda Item 11



local government spends and estimated £0.35bn in social care costs 
and the cost to the wider UK economy is around £27bn. 

 

7. There is considerable evidence that obesity is a complex issue that 
requires a complex system response, where all sectors work together, 
with the public, to address it. The draft strategy outlines an approach 
that brings together responsibilities of the private and public sectors and 
the general public, to tackle obesity and help people maintain a healthy 
weight.  This is Leicestershire’s ‘whole systems approach’. 

 
Structure of the strategy  

 
8. The Leicestershire-wide strategy is divided into three themes and 5 

objectives and will run over a 5-year period.  
 
9. Theme 1 addresses action that tackles the obesogenic environment that 

we live in 
 
Strategic Objective 1: to improve the awareness and the 
availability of healthy and sustainable food and drink in all 
sectors. For example, promoting the accreditation of food and 
catering business through ‘Food For Life Served Here’; 
 
Strategic Objective 2: to support settings to prevent obesity and 
increase healthy weight in adults, children and families. For 
example, through the Leicestershire Healthy Schools 
programme; 

 
10. Theme 2 addresses action that focuses on providing individuals with the 

information and support they need to manage their own weight and that 
of their families 

 
Strategic Objective 3: to co-ordinate a healthy weight pathway 
which includes prevention, self-management and weight 
management support. For example, increasing uptake of the 
Leicestershire Weight Management Service; 

 
11. Theme 3 addresses leadership by partner organisations (e.g. NHS, 

districts) to ensure that the wider workforce is equipped to promote 
healthy weight and that policies are conducive to healthy weight  

 
Strategic Objective 4: develop workforces that are confident and 
competent talking about and promoting healthy weight. For 
example training more professionals in Making Every Contact 
Count; 
 
Strategic Objective 5: Working with partners and stakeholders to 
support the development of a whole systems approach to 
healthy weight, using for example the Leicestershire Food plan 
partnership work. 

126



 
Consultation 

 
12. An 8-week public consultation will take place from 2 November to 27 

December 2020. This will include a series of targeted online focus 
groups with weight management service users and members of the 
equalities challenge group and an online questionnaire-based 
consultation. 

 
13. Findings from the consultation will be used to inform the final strategy 

that will be taken to Cabinet in Spring 2021. 
 

Background Papers  
 
14. Cabinet 20th October 2020 

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5998&V
er=4 
 

15. Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2018-22 

https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/council-plans/the-

strategic-plan 

 

16. Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 2018:21 Obesity: physical activity, 
healthy weight and nutrition. 
https://www.lsr-online.org/uploads/obesity-physical-activity-healthy-
weight-and-nutrition.pdf?v=1568369427 

 
17. Leicestershire Good Food Plan and Good Food Leicestershire Charter 

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s143186/LCC%20Cabinet%20repo
rt%20Leicestershire%20Food%20Charter.pdf 

 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
18. None 

 
Officer to Contact 
 
19. Mike Sandys, Director of Public Health  

Tel: 0116 305 4259 email: mike.sandys@leics.gov.uk 

 

20. Elizabeth Orton, Consultant in Public Health 

Tel: 0116 305 5347 email: elizabeth.orton@leics.gov.uk 

 
 
List of Appendices 
 
21. Appendix A Draft healthy weight strategy 

127

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5998&Ver=4
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5998&Ver=4
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/council-plans/the-strategic-plan
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/council-plans/the-strategic-plan
https://www.lsr-online.org/uploads/obesity-physical-activity-healthy-weight-and-nutrition.pdf?v=1568369427
https://www.lsr-online.org/uploads/obesity-physical-activity-healthy-weight-and-nutrition.pdf?v=1568369427
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s143186/LCC%20Cabinet%20report%20Leicestershire%20Food%20Charter.pdf
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s143186/LCC%20Cabinet%20report%20Leicestershire%20Food%20Charter.pdf
mailto:mike.sandys@leics.gov.uk
mailto:elizabeth.orton@leics.gov.uk


 
 
Equalities and Hunan Rights Implications  
 
22. An Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessment Group has been 

established and will run alongside the development of the Strategy. An 
Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessment (EHRIA) screening was 
undertaken and concluded that there are several positive impacts on 
protected characteristic groups including age, pregnancy and maternity, 
community cohesion and deprived communities. 
 

23. However, there were three protected characteristics groups identified as 
having possible barriers to benefits from the Strategy: 

 
i. Disability: people with disabilities (including those with learning 
disabilities, dementia and cognitive impairment) may have additional 
communication needs. Adaptations may be needed to enable these 
groups to access services outlined in this strategy. This is particularly 
relevant given the high levels of obesity in those with learning 
disabilities. Physical disabilities may also limit people engaging in 
active travel.  

 
ii. Race and also religion or belief: people will be supported in this 
strategy regardless of race and religion or belief. However, 
culture/ethnicity-specific diets need to be considered. Barriers to 
accessing support and services may include language/communication 
difficulties and cultural acceptability.  Some groups e.g. South Asian 
communities have a higher risk of diabetes and these additional needs 
require consideration. Additional interventions and considerations may 
be needed when engaging with some of our communities. 
 

24. These are key areas of development for the Strategy and consultation 
will enable a better understanding of any potential 
barriers/disadvantages in these groups, help to identify ways to mitigate 
these, and strengthen support for these groups in the Strategy. A full 
EHRIA will also be completed during the development of the final 
Strategy. 

128



Draft Healthy 
Weight Strategy 
for Leicestershire 

DRAFT

129



DRAFT

Contents

Introduction 3
Why do we need a healthy weight strategy? 4
Why is it an issue? 4
Our vision  5
The local context 5
Outcomes  7

Delivery themes and strategic objectives 8
Delivery theme 1  
Promoting a healthy weight environment  9

Strategic objective 1  
Improve the awareness and availability of healthy and  
sustainable food and drink in all sectors 11

Strategic objective 2 
Support settings to prevent obesity and increase healthy  
weight in adults, children and families 12

Delivery theme 2 
Support for people to achieve a healthy weight  14

Strategic objective 3 
Co-ordinate healthy weight pathway including prevention,  
self-management and supported weight management 15

Delivery theme 3 
Prioritise healthy weight through systems leadership  16

Strategic objective 4 
Develop a workforce that is confident  
and competent talking about and promoting healthy weight  16

Strategic objective 5 
Working with partners and stakeholders to support the  
development of a whole systems approach to healthy weight  17

Appendices 18

130



Introduction 
The 2021-2026 Healthy Weight Strategy sets our 
partnership priorities and approach to promote a healthy 
weight and tackle obesity in Leicestershire. 
Obesity is a complex and multifaceted problem that requires coordinated, 
effective action to change the food, physical activity and social environments 
from ‘obesogenic’ to ones which promote a healthy weight. If we are going 
to take effective action to reverse obesity at population level, we need to 
work together with partners in a ‘whole systems’1 approach to create an 
environment that facilitates healthy choices and supports individuals to 
achieve and maintain a healthy weight. 

This strategy builds on the Recommendations within the Leicestershire 
Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 2018-2021 Chapter on Obesity: Physical 
Activity, Healthy Weight & Nutrition. 

The main focus will be on Healthy Weight and Nutrition whilst making the 
links to the Leicester-Shire & Rutland (LRS) Physical Activity and Sport 
Strategy 2017-2021, which sets out a long-term vision for physical activity 
and sport across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland and encompasses 
everything from supporting the least active residents to build activity into 
their everyday lives, through to the development of future Olympians, 
Paralympians and World Champions.

Maintaining a healthy weight has many benefits, including improved 
health related quality of life and reduced risk of health conditions 
including heart disease, stroke, type 2 diabetes, liver disease, and some 
cancers. However, most adults are above a healthy weight; it has become 
the social norm. Of significant concern is that 1 in 5 children start school 
above a healthy weight and this proportion rises to 1 in 3 at year 6 of 
Primary School. There are marked and growing health inequalities, with 
the prevalence of obesity in children in the most deprived parts of the 
country more than twice that in the least deprived. This has implications 
not just for health for employers and social care needs: each year, obesity 
and its related ill health costs the UK NHS £6.1bn: it also costs local 
government in England £0.35bn in social care costs and the wider UK 
economy £27bn. 

This Strategy document is a commitment to working together with a range 
of sectors, including food, health, education, planning, transport, sport and 
leisure, and economic development to support our communities to start, live 
and age well, and develop in a way which facilitates healthy behaviours and 
a healthy weight.

1 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/whole-systems-approach-to-obesity

Draft Healthy Weight Strategy for Leicestershire

3  |  Leicestershire County Council  

DRAFT

131

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/whole-systems-approach-to-obesity


Why do we need a healthy weight strategy?
The prevalence of overweight and obesity in the UK has risen dramatically  
since 1993, and whilst the increase has slowed down since 2001, the trend  
is still upwards.

The prevalence of children in reception year who 
were either overweight or obese in 2018/19 was 
22.6% for England and 19.6% for Leicestershire. 

Nearly two-thirds of adults (62%) in England were classed  
as being overweight (a body mass index (BMI) of over 25)  
or obese (a BMI of over 30) in 2017/18. 

In Leicestershire 60.6% of adults were either  
overweight or obese in 2017/18.

The figures for Year 6 pupils in 2018/19 was 34.3% for England and 30.0% for 
Leicestershire. 2

As deprivation increases the number of children at a healthy weight decreases, 
and the number of children measured as overweight or obese increases.

Physical inactivity and a sedentary lifestyle are also a primary contributor to an 
increase in prevalence of overweight and obesity in the UK 

The physical activity data for both adults and children and young people in 
Leicestershire can be found in Appendix A 

Why is it an issue?
• Poor diet contributes to nearly half of Coronary Heart Disease3

• Poor diet contributes to a third of all cancer deaths4

• Being overweight increases the risk of high blood pressure, high cholesterol 
and pre-diabetes5

• Severe obesity reduces life expectancy by 8-10 years6

2 https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/search/Obese%20Adults#page/0/gid/1/pat/6/par/E12000004 ati/102/
are/E06000015

3 Yusuf,S.et al (2004) Effect of potentially modifiable risk factors associated with myocardial infarction in 
52 countries (the INTERHEART study): case-control study. Lancet; 364: 937-52

4 Doll, R. Peto, R (1981) The causes of cancer: quantitative estimates of avoidable risks in cancer in the 
United States today. Journal of the National Cancer Institute; 66:1191-208

5 http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20170110171057/ https://www.noo.org.uk/NOO_
about_obesity/obesity_and_health/health_risk_child  [accessed on 04/04/2018]

6 Dent M, Swanston D (2010) Briefing Note: Obesity and life expectancy

Draft Healthy Weight Strategy for Leicestershire

4  |  Leicestershire County Council  

DRAFT

132

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/search/Obese Adults#page/0/gid/1/pat/6/par/E12000004/ati/102/are/E06000015
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/search/Obese Adults#page/0/gid/1/pat/6/par/E12000004/ati/102/are/E06000015
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20170110171057/
https://www.noo.org.uk/NOO_about_obesity/obesity_and_health/health_risk_child
https://www.noo.org.uk/NOO_about_obesity/obesity_and_health/health_risk_child


Our vision 
“Our vision is a future where everyone in Leicestershire 
can eat well, be physically active and develop in a way 
which facilitates a healthy weight”.
We will work together with a range of sectors to make lasting changes to the 
food, physical activity and social environment to promote a healthy weight. Our 
aim is to increase the number of adults, children and families who are a healthy 
weight in Leicestershire by 2026. 

The local context
This strategy is closely aligned with the LRS Physical Activity & Sport Strategy 
2017- 2021 for LLR7, the Leicestershire Food Plan8 the Leicestershire Corporate 
Strategy ‘Working together for the benefit of Everyone’, Leicestershire County 
Council’s Strategic Plan 2018- 20229, the Leicester and Leicestershire Local 
Industrial Strategy10 and the Wellbeing@workprogramme, with integrated action 
plans to achieve our shared objectives.

Through a strong evidence base this strategy will tailor its approach to address 
the needs of the population and key stages where people are more at risk of 
obesity across the life course. Whilst recognising that there are people in all 
population groups who are not a healthy weight, this strategy will focus on areas 
in Leicestershire with the highest prevalence of childhood and adult obesity.

The LRS Physical Activity Strategy 2017-2021 vision is for LLR ‘to be the most 
physically active and sporting place in England, with 4 ambitions to ‘Get Active, 
Stay Active, Active Places and Active Economy’. It is also based on 4 foundations: 
1. Well lead 
2. Insight driven 
3. Skilled and representative workforce 
4. Effective marketing and communications. 

7 https://www.lrsport.org/uploads/lrs-physical-activity-sport-strategy-2017-2021.pdf

8 https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/news/food-plan-firmly-on-the-table

9 https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/field/pdf/2019/6/27/LCC-Strategic-Plan-2018-22.
pdf

10 https://www.llep.org.uk/strategies-and-plans/our-local-industrial-strategy/

Draft Healthy Weight Strategy for Leicestershire

5  |  Leicestershire County Council  

DRAFT

133

https://www.lrsport.org/uploads/lrs-physical-activity-sport-strategy-2017-2021.pdf
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/news/food-plan-firmly-on-the-table
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/field/pdf/2019/6/27/LCC-Strategic-Plan-2018-22.pdf
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/field/pdf/2019/6/27/LCC-Strategic-Plan-2018-22.pdf
https://www.llep.org.uk/strategies-and-plans/our-local-industrial-strategy/


The Leicestershire Food Plan (see Appendix B) is part of the national Sustainable 
Food Cities (SFC) framework. It links to the Leicestershire Corporate Strategy – 
‘Working together for the benefit of Everyone’ with areas of commonality across 
all five strategic outcomes
• Correct infrastructure enabling a healthy population for a Strong Economy
• Opportunities for children to get the best start in life, and reducing health 

inequalities through enhanced community Wellbeing and Opportunity 
associated with healthier environments and support to gain a healthy weight

• Families more able to maintain a healthy lifestyle in a self-sufficient way – 
keeping people safe

• Communities are more able to plan the future of their ‘healthy place’, taking 
greater control of the place of health within Great Communities including 
recognising the impact of obesogenic environments and seeking to change 
them

• ‘Health in all policies’ and ‘Healthy Partners, Healthy Place’ enable 
environments that encourage healthier habits in Affordable and Quality 
Homes through creating spaces where people can lead active lifestyles and 
participate in community food activities

This strategy links to the Leicester and Leicestershire Local Industrial 
Strategy – A Healthy Climate for Growth by linking mainly to the core theme 
of Healthy People – improving the quality of life and wellbeing of the population 
and supporting the need for improved public transport, promotion of cycling 
and walking (and associated infrastructure) and the need for more green space 
to encourage greater levels of activity. There is also the recognition that Healthy 
Businesses need a healthy workforce.

It also links to LLR wellbeing@workprogramme – which essentially is a 
workplace health needs assessment (sourced from Public Health England & 
Healthy Working Futures (2017) ‘Workplace Health Needs Assessment’) 
to identify key priority areas of employee health including healthy eating and 
physical activity. The results can be used to shape the development of a health 
and wellbeing action plan that employees’ value and feel is reflective of their 
needs.

Draft Healthy Weight Strategy for Leicestershire

6  |  Leicestershire County Council  

DRAFT

134



Outcomes 
Monitoring of the prevalence of healthy weight in children and adults is a 
requirement of the national public health outcomes framework. The key 
performance indicators relevant to a healthy weight are:
• 2.02i – Breastfeeding initiation
• 2.02ii – Breastfeeding at 6-8 weeks
• 2.06i – Child excess weight in 4-5-year olds
• 2.06ii – Child excess weight in 10-11-year olds
• 2.11i – Proportion of the population meeting the recommended 

‘5-a-day’ on a ‘usual’ day
• 2.11ii – Average number of portions of fruit consumed daily at aged 

15 years
• 2.11iii – Average number of portions of vegetables consumed daily 

(adults)
• 2.11iv – Proportion of the population meeting the recommended 

‘5-a-day’ at age 15
• 2.11v – Average number of portions of fruit consumed daily at age 15
• 2.11vi – Average number of portions of vegetables consumed daily at 

age 15
• 2.12 – percentage of adults (aged 18+) classed as overweight or 

obese - current method
• 2.12 – percentage of adults (aged 16+) classed as overweight or 

obese

Other information available to help form an overall picture of trends in the 
Leicestershire/UK population are - 
• Food Insecurity: From 2019 the annual national Family Resources 

Survey (An annual report that provides facts and figures about the 
incomes and living circumstances of households and families in the 
UK) included 10 questions on Food Insecurity. These questions are 
detailed in Appendix C.

• Physical Activity datasets from the Active Lives Survey: Sport 
England run two surveys: Active Lives Adult, which is published twice 
a year and replaced the Active People Survey, and the world-leading 
Active Lives Children and Young People, which is published annually. 
Both give a unique and comprehensive view of how people are getting 
active. We have local Sport and Physical Activity datasets for adults 
and children across LLR taken from Sport England’s Active Lives 
Survey, the most recent is from May 2018 - May 2019.

Draft Healthy Weight Strategy for Leicestershire

7  |  Leicestershire County Council  

DRAFT

135



Delivery themes and  
strategic objectives 
The Leicestershire healthy weight strategy is structured around 3 delivery themes. 
Each theme identifies objectives needed to achieve our vision.

Healthy weight delivery themes 
• Promoting a healthy weight environment 

Population approaches to improve the wider health environment to promote 
healthy weight (this is aligned to the Active Places strand of the LRS Physical 
Activity & Sport Strategy)

• Supporting individuals to achieve and maintain a healthy weight 
Provision of weight management services across the life course to increase the 
number of people who are a healthy weight 

• Prioritising healthy weight through systems leadership
Develop a workforce that is competent and confident to talk about and 
promoting healthy weight and working with partners to develop healthy 
weight policy 

Environment 
conducive  

to healthy weight

Systems leadership enables healthy  
weight policy and practice

Individuals 
empowered to 

maintain a  
healthy weight

Food and 
drink outlets 
and retailers

Policy

Settings e.g. care 
homes, workplace, 
nurseries, schools

Campaigns, 
support for self 
management

Professional 
weight loss 

support

Workforce

Draft Healthy Weight Strategy for Leicestershire

8  |  Leicestershire County Council  

DRAFT

136



Delivery Theme 1 
Promoting a Healthy Weight Environment 

Why is it important for Leicestershire? 

Obesogenic environment
We are living in an obesogenic environment, with an abundance of energy 
dense food, motorised transport and sedentary lifestyles11

Out of home food outlets
More than one quarter (27.1%) of adults and one fifth of children eat food 
from out of-home food outlets at least once a week. Meals consumed out of 
the home tend to be associated with bigger portion sizes and higher intakes of 
fat, sugar and salt12

Active Environments 
As part of our drive to create an active environment, Active Design brings 
together the planning and considerations that should be made when designing 
the places and spaces we live in. It’s about designing and adapting where we 
live to encourage activity in our everyday lives, making the active choice the 
easy choice.13 

In 2018 there were 473 Fast Food Outlets in Leicestershire (from Food 
Standards Agency (FSA) Food Hygiene Rating Scheme (FHRS) data 
(31/12/2017 Snapshot and 02/07/2018 snapshot for Bury data))

There is a known association between the exposure to fast food outlets and 
food consumption, BMI and obesity. Obesity is also associated with decayed 
missing or filled teeth in children with links to poor diet and food poverty is 
associated with low consumption of fruit and vegetables and deficiencies in 
certain nutrients14. 

11 https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/
file/296248/Obesity_and_environment_March2014.pdf 

12 https://publichealthmatters.blog.gov.uk/2017/03/31/healthmatters-obesity-and-the-food-
environment/

13 https://www.sportengland.org/how-we-can-help/facilities-and-planning/design-and-cost-guidance/
active-design

14 Sustain (2016) Measuring household insecurity in the UK https://www.sustainweb.org/resources/files/
reports/MeasuringHouseholdFoodInsecurityintheUK.pdf 

Draft Healthy Weight Strategy for Leicestershire

9  |  Leicestershire County Council  

DRAFT

137

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/296248/Obesity_and_environment_March2014.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/296248/Obesity_and_environment_March2014.pdf
https://publichealthmatters.blog.gov.uk/2017/03/31/healthmatters-obesity-and-the-food-environment/
https://publichealthmatters.blog.gov.uk/2017/03/31/healthmatters-obesity-and-the-food-environment/
https://www.sportengland.org/how-we-can-help/facilities-and-planning/design-and-cost-guidance/active-design
https://www.sportengland.org/how-we-can-help/facilities-and-planning/design-and-cost-guidance/active-design
https://www.sustainweb.org/resources/files/reports/MeasuringHouseholdFoodInsecurityintheUK.pdf
https://www.sustainweb.org/resources/files/reports/MeasuringHouseholdFoodInsecurityintheUK.pdf


The healthy weight environment is a complex area of development work 
– it flows throughout many of the issues of Sustainable Food Cities and 
therefore the Leicestershire Food Plan. It encompasses many areas of 
work including – 
• Enabling active travel
• Local planning – including advertising (amount of junk food 

advertising along with where the adverts appear), numbers of fast food 
outlets and lack of availability of healthy/fresh food (with commonly 
used terms Food Deserts and Food Swamps)

• Affordability of ‘good food’ as a viable and available alternative 
• Information available to the public and campaigns (e.g. Sugar Smart)
• Encouraging food outlets to offer and promote healthier options
• Work with employers to encourage payment of the Living Wage (as 

determined by the Living Wage Foundation at £9.30/£10.75 in 
London, not the Government ‘National Living Wage’ at £8.72) 

• Work with specific groups and backbone services e.g. schools, care 
homes and holiday clubs

• Skills and resources to help families to cook and eat healthily
Ultimately, many of the environmental aspects focus on how we can 
‘manipulate’ a locality to try to stimulate behaviour change - an example 
being the ‘Refill’ movement – aiming to install free water refill stations in 
places where people visit so that they can keep hydrated, but also reduce 
their intake of sugary drinks (with the added benefit of reduced single use 
plastic bottles).

Some elements of this theme cross over with the work with partners in 
Strategic Objective 5 and will be delivered with them as part of designing 
and developing a healthier environment.

This theme also links to ‘Active Design’ which is a combination of 10 
principles that promote activity, health and stronger communities through 
the way we design and build our towns and cities. Sport England, in 
partnership with Public Health England, have produced the Active 
Design Guidance which works as a step-by-step guide to implementing 
an active environment. This guidance builds on the original objectives of 
improving accessibility, enhancing amenity and increasing awareness, 
and sets out the 10 principles of Active Design, these are: activity for all 
neighbourhoods, walkable communities, connected walking & cycling 
routes, co-location of community facilities, network of multi-functional 
open space, high quality streets & spaces, appropriate infrastructure, 
active buildings, management maintenance and monitoring and 
evaluation, activity promotion and local champions. 

Draft Healthy Weight Strategy for Leicestershire

10  |  Leicestershire County Council  

DRAFT

138



Strategic Objective 1 
Improve the awareness and availability of healthy 
and sustainable food and drink in all sectors

What are we doing now?
• Local organisations and key stakeholders are working together through 

the Leicestershire food Plan to develop multiple food hubs to tackle food 
poverty including access to affordable (surplus) food, training and resources 
as well as developing volunteer opportunities. 

•  In 2019 Leicestershire was successful in obtaining funding for a Holiday 
Activity and Food Programme – this programme enabled children qualifying 
for free school meals to access free places in summer holiday clubs 
including a nutritious meal helping with food insecurity 

• Food for Life is commissioned in Leicestershire and works to increase 
the uptake of school meals – this has seen an increase in the number of 
children eating meals that conform to the national school food standard

• Leicestershire Traded Services distribute 35,000 meals a day to schools in 
the areas, they have recently been awarded Gold Food for Life Served Here 
for their menu meaning that school children are eating food with a greater 
nutritional content that comply with the Food Based & Nutrition based 
standards. 

What else will we do? 
Food retail and outlets
• Government Buying Standards – promotion for local food & catering 

businesses / increase number of establishments accredited through ‘Food 
for Life Served Here’ 

• Regulation and licensing of fast food outlets (in conjunction with district 
and borough councils) especially close to schools, early year settings. We 
will also look at supporting outlets to offer/promote healthier options e.g. 
Healthier Options Takeaway (HOT) merit scheme in Nottinghamshire 

Social and community food projects
• Promoting the production and availability of Quality food you can trust: 

More fresh, local, seasonal, sustainable food, with low climate impact 
and high welfare standards – we will find ways of increasing availability to 
communities.

• Eating together: More opportunities for social contact through food, building 
families, tackling loneliness, and bringing communities together.

Links with other plans and workstreams 
• Continue to support the development of The Leicestershire Food Plan and 

playing an active role as part of our membership of the Sustainable Food 
Cities Network 

• Work with our colleagues in the Transport team and across Leicester City 
Council to explore how we might limit junk food advertising

Draft Healthy Weight Strategy for Leicestershire

11  |  Leicestershire County Council  

DRAFT

139



Strategic Objective 2 
Support settings to prevent obesity and increase 
healthy weight in adults, children and families

What are we doing now? 
• UNICEF Baby Friendly Initiative15: Stage 3 standards achieved: for Health 

Visiting Services (Leicestershire Partnership NHS Trust) University Hospitals 
of Leicester Maternity Services (Leicester General Hospital) and Baby 
Friendly University Programme at De Montfort University (Midwifery course) 

• Food for Life Award16 – over 50% of schools in Leicestershire are 
participating in this whole school food and nutrition programme 

• Leicestershire Healthy Schools Programme17– over 90% of schools are 
engaged with this programme and have achieved healthy school status by 
fulfilling the criteria for the 4 core themes including healthy eating/ food in 
schools and physical activity 

• Leicestershire Healthy Tots Programme18 Many early year settings are 
participating in the healthy tots’ programme and have achieved Healthy 
Tots status by fulfilling the criteria for the 3 core themes including healthy 
eating and physical activity

• Workplace Health Award19 LRS Wellbeing at Work- supporting workplaces 
to improve health and wellbeing at work

• Public Health England Clinical Champion Training: Upskilling health 
professionals such as midwives to increase their confidence of delivering 
physical activity messages

• Targeted physical activity campaigns and programmes
• Whole School approach to physical Activity
• Leicestershire Weight Management Service 
• Inviting parents and grandparents to join pupils for school meals, raising 

awareness of pupil’s food choices in school to replicate within the home
• Older people living in care homes joining children in for school meals, 

reducing isolation for the older generation and role modelling social dining 
for the children   

• Parental support provided through education programme such as 
PEASS (Portion size, e numbers and additives, sugar and salt) that also 
includes Food for Life ( FFL)  Served Here and school food standards, 
this programme, (currently in development, led by FFL) will aid parents 
understanding of the level of food quality provided by Leicestershire Traded 
Services and the benefits of this on health and the environment

15 https://www.unicef.org.uk/babyfriendly/accreditation/

16 https://www.foodforlife.org.uk/

17 https://www.leicestershirehealthyschools.org.uk/

18 https://www.leicestershirehealthytots.org.uk/

19 https://www.lrsport.org/wellbeingatwork

Draft Healthy Weight Strategy for Leicestershire

12  |  Leicestershire County Council  

DRAFT

140

https://www.unicef.org.uk/babyfriendly/accreditation/
https://www.foodforlife.org.uk/
https://www.leicestershirehealthyschools.org.uk/
https://www.leicestershirehealthytots.org.uk/
https://www.lrsport.org/wellbeingatwork


What else we will do? 
Maternity, children and young people settings
• Continue to promote accreditation to UNICEF’s Baby Friendly Initiative

• Gold Level for Health Visiting, Leicester General Hospital’s Maternity 
Unit and De Montfort University – Midwifery course. 

• Support- Children & family Wellbeing Centres, UHL’s Maternity Hospital 
and Neonatal Unit at Leicester Royal Infirmary site and De Montfort 
University Health Visiting course achieve stage 1,2, 3 standards 

• Undertake an Infant Feeding Health Needs Assessment and use this to 
inform the refresh of the LLR Infant Feeding Strategy and action plan 

• Continue to support schools to renew their healthy school status and to 
achieve healthy schools plus by achieving meaningful outcomes regarding 
healthy weight 

• Continue to support and recruit early year settings to renew and achieve 
• Healthy Tots status
• Continue to recruit and support to the Food for Life Programme – to achieve 

bronze, silver and gold level awards 
• Support schools to prepare and implement the healthy eating and physical 

activity component of the statutory Relationships Sex and Health Education 
commencing in September 2020.

Workplace setting
• See also recommendations from the JSNA and the Leicester-shire and 

Rutland sport strategy

Other settings
• Increase uptake of healthy start vouchers and explore coordinated 

mechanisms for using vouchers to access fruit and veg
• Social Prescribing - Fruit and Veg on prescription and other mechanisms for 

increasing access to Fruit and Veg 
• Piloting approaches for community projects looking at access and support 

for people to use fresh healthy food
• Ensure that all health & care professionals are aware of the healthy weight 

initiatives are signposting and referring to services
• Identify actions needed within the adult social care sector to help with later 

life healthy weight 

Draft Healthy Weight Strategy for Leicestershire

13  |  Leicestershire County Council  

DRAFT

141

https://www.lrsport.org/uploads/lrs-physical-activity-sport-strategy-2017-2021.pdf  
https://www.lrsport.org/uploads/lrs-physical-activity-sport-strategy-2017-2021.pdf  


Delivery Theme 2 
Support for People to achieve  
a Healthy Weight 

Why is it important for Leicestershire?
Statistics for Leicestershire show that 61% of adults and 30% of year 6 primary 
school children are overweight or obese. Supporting people to achieve and 
maintain a healthy weight is an important part of the system approach and needs 
to support people who are underweight, overweight or obese. Different services 
are needed to support people in these different weight categories and need to 
be joined up between Public Health and CCG-commissioned programmes and 
pathways. 

Indicators of importance to this theme include:
• % of pregnant women in Leicestershire who were classified as obese 

(Maternity HNA data) 
• % of babies that are initially breastfed in Leicestershire 
• % of babies in Leicestershire that are being breastfed at 6-8 weeks 
• The prevalence of children in reception class in 2018/19 overweight/ obese 
• The prevalence of children in year 6 in 2018/19 who were overweight or 

obese 
• The % of adults in Leicestershire who are overweight or obese in 2018/19

Draft Healthy Weight Strategy for Leicestershire

14  |  Leicestershire County Council  

DRAFT

142



Strategic Objective 3 
Co-ordinate healthy weight pathway including 
prevention, self-management and supported 
weight management

What are we doing now? 
• Universal services – ante-natal programme – Bumps to Babies, advice 

on infant feeding (breast feeding/ formula feeding) advice on weaning/ 
introduction of solids/ portion sizes for very young children. Purposeful 
physical play. Cook & Eat/ Health for Under 5s/ Health for Kids/ Health 
for Teens 

• Leicestershire weight management services- child and adult weight 
management services 

• The Standard Operating Guidance for the 0-19 Healthy Child 
Programme includes a healthy weight care pathway 

• Healthy Weight care pathway for adults and children  
• Review of the current Healthy Weight Management service – JSNA 

chapter and recommendations 
• Alignment to the new Physical Activity pathway – ensuring that everyone 

has access to physical activity at a place and appropriate level for them.

What more do we need to do? 
• Work with CCGs to commission a specialist weight management service 

for adults
• Promotion of the Sugar Smart campaign20 Sugar Smart is a campaign 

by food charity Sustain working with councils, businesses, institutions 
and other sectors to help reduce overconsumption of sugar in their local 
areas.

• Campaign for Real Food – to reduce the consumption of ultra-processed 
food and drinks. A healthy sustainable diet: Less processed food high 
in fat, sugar/ salt, less but better-quality meat, and MORE fruit and 
vegetables, whole grain and sustainable fish. 

• Start 4 Life Change 4 Life 
• Communications Plan-for the Leicestershire Healthy weight Strategy – 

increase self- referral 
• Link into Good Food Leicestershire communications plan and events

20  http://sustainablefoodcities.org/campaigns/2017sugarsmartuk.html

Draft Healthy Weight Strategy for Leicestershire

15  |  Leicestershire County Council  

DRAFT

143

http://sustainablefoodcities.org/campaigns/2017sugarsmartuk.html


Delivery theme 3 
Prioritise healthy weight through systems 
leadership 

Why is it important for Leicestershire?
Health & Care Professionals are in a unique position to talk to patients about 
their weight and evidence has shown that people respond well to professionals 
in relation to taking action around their weight. However if not done sensitively 
it can result in people feeling stigmatised or confused about where to access 
support. Leadership and professional support is an important part of the system 
strategy.

Strategic objective 4 
Develop a workforce that is confident  
and competent talking about and promoting 
healthy weight 

What are we doing now? 
• PHE Physical activity champions in UHL Maternity Services 
• Making Every contact Count (MECC) – MECC lite and Healthy 

Conversations (MECC Plus) and Getting it Right First Time
• Face to face and e learning module for UHL Maternity Services staff / 

0-19 Healthy Child Programme staff on healthy weight before/ during 
and post pregnancy 

• NHS Health Checks
• Early years, Care workers physical activity training, upskilling of the 

community to lead physical activity sessions 
• Work across care homes re nutrition guidance and training
• Link to workforce element of LRS Physical Activity & Sport Strategy 

What else will we do?
• Expand MECC Lite / Healthy Conversations MECC Plus training on 

healthy weight 
• Develop MECC E Learning modules on healthy weight (E Leaning MECC 

Plus module being developed for healthy weight before/ during/ post 
pregnancy 

• Assess knowledge and practice gaps for planning officers – obesogenic 
environment/ Health impact assessments – new housing developments 
(access opportunity for active travel, healthy affordable food 

• Review, develop and evaluate healthy weight training for staff 

Draft Healthy Weight Strategy for Leicestershire

16  |  Leicestershire County Council  

DRAFT

144



Strategic Objective 5 
Working with partners and stakeholders  
to support the development of a whole  
systems approach to healthy weight 

What are we doing now? 
• Leicestershire Food Plan – the food plan is working on several different 

areas of the food system and with multiple partners. Our main areas 
of collaboration are within the Food and Drink Sector where we are 
developing with alongside Leicester City Council, the Leicester and 
Leicestershire Enterprise Partnership and the Food and Drink Forum; and 
on food production (particularly agriculture) alongside the GWCT and 
Brooksby Melton College. We are also working with specific community 
groups on several project areas, Melton and Harborough are supporting us 
to translate our food plan within communities. These areas of work aren’t 
all related to Healthy Weight, but there are many cross-overs.

• LRS Physical Activity and Sport Strategy- vision is for LLR ‘to be the most 
physically active and sporting place in England, with 4 ambitions to ‘Get 
Active, Stay Active, Active Places and Active Economy’. It is also based on 
4 foundations: 
• Well lead 
• Skilled and representative 

workforce

• Insight driven 
• Effective marketing and 

communications 

What else can we do? 
• Develop a ‘health in all policies’ approach to review how healthy weight 

can be incorporated into existing strategies and policies, commissioning 
specifications and work areas to support and promote healthier weight 
environment 

• Use a ‘health equity’ approach in developing healthy weight approaches, 
whereby support and services are proportionate to unmet need, and 
pathways and services are carefully considered to avoid inadvertently 
increasing health inequalities.

• Work with partners to develop a ‘healthy partners, healthy place’ approach 
to incorporate health considerations in planning decision making, 
considerations for economic growth and provision of green infrastructure. 

• Work with partners to encourage paying of the Living Wage including 
investigating designation of Leicestershire as a Living Wage County 
(https://www.livingwage.org.uk/living-wage-places)

• Investigate the potential to work alongside Leicester City Council and the 
Leicester and Leicestershire Enterprise Partnership to align to the B Corp 
accreditation for companies in the area – this evaluates impact on workers, 
community, environment and customers.

• Food plan examples of best practice 

Case study examples of how a whole systems approach to obesity has worked 
in other areas can be found in Appendix D.

Draft Healthy Weight Strategy for Leicestershire

17  |  Leicestershire County Council  

DRAFT

145

https://www.livingwage.org.uk/living-wage-places


Appendix A 
Sport & Physical Activity levels for adults across LLR taken from 
Sport England’s Active Lives Survey (May- 2018-May 2019) 

Sport & Physical Activity levels for Children & Young People in 
school years 1-11 across LLR Taken from Sport England’s Active 
Lives Survey (May 2018- 2019 ) 

May  
2018-19

Active  
(150+ mins 
per week)

Fairly active  
(30-149 mins 

per week)

Inactive  
(> 30 mins 
per week)

Blaby 64.5% 13.1% 22.4%
Charnwood 63.1% 14.0% 22.9%
Harborough 64.7% 12.6% 22.7%
Hinckley and Bosworth 61.5% 13.5% 25.0%
Melton 66.4% 12.8% 20.8%
NW Leics 61.6% 13.2% 25.1%
Oadby and Wigston 59.2% 11.1% 29.7%
Leicester 61.7% 12.7% 25.6%
Rutland 65.1% 13.9% 21.0%
Leicestershire 63.0% 13.2% 23.9%
LLR 62.6% 13.1% 24.3%
England 63.2% 12.0% 24.8%

May  
2018-19

Active  
(average 60+ 
mins per day)

Fairly active  
(average 30-59 
mins per day)

Inactive  
(average > 30 
mins per day)

Blaby * * *
Charnwood 48.7% 31.3% 20.1%
Harborough 56.9% 24.0% 19.1%
Hinckley and Bosworth 47.5% 27.0% 25.4%
Melton 52.4% 20.6% 27.0%
NW Leics 47.5% 22.5% 29.9%
Oadby and Wigston * * *
Leicester 47.1% 22.5% 30.5%
Rutland 56.3% 23.7% 20.1%
Leicestershire 51.5% 24.2% 24.4%
LLR 51.0% 23.8% 25.2%
England 46.8% 24.2% 29.0%

*indicates numbers have been suppressed due to the small numner of schools surveyed

Draft Healthy Weight Strategy for Leicestershire

18  |  Leicestershire County Council  

DRAFT

146



PHE Fingertips data on Physically Active and Physically 
Inactive adults and physically active children & Young People in 
Leicestershire (including district/ Borough Council Percentages) 

Note: PHE do not include data for “fairly active” adults or for “fairly active/inactive”  
children and young people

*indicates numbers have been suppressed due to the small numner of schools surveyed

Percentage of 
physically active 

adults

Percentage 
of physically 

inactive adults

Percentage 
of physically 

active children 
and young 

people
Period 2017/18 2017/18 2017/18
Blaby 62.5 23.9 *
Charnwood 64.2 22.9 48.7
Harborough 68.7 19.7 56.9
Hinckley and Bosworth 64.7 26.0 47.5
Melton 69.7 18.2 52.4
NW Leics 61.1 25.3 47.5
Oadby and Wigston 60.7 25.4 *
Leicestershire 64.3 23.3 51.5
England 66.3 22.2 46.8

Draft Healthy Weight Strategy for Leicestershire

19  |  Leicestershire County Council  

DRAFT

147



Appendix B  
Sustainable Food Cities Framework 
Sustainable Food Cities is a framework managed by three national charities – 
Sustain, The Soil Association and Food Matters – Leicestershire is a member 
along with 56 other places.

Sustainability is a very broad concept and is about direction of travel rather 
than reaching a specific destination. The Sustainable Food Cities framework is 
structured across six areas or key issues:
1. Promoting healthy and sustainable food to the public 
2. Tackling food poverty, diet-related ill health and access to affordable healthy 

food
3. Building community food knowledge, skills, resources and projects
4. Promoting a vibrant and diverse sustainable food economy
5. Transforming catering and food procurement
6. Reducing waste and the ecological footprint of the food system 

Appendix C  
National Family Resources Survey 
1. “We worried whether our food would run out before we got money to buy 

more.” Was that often, sometimes, or never true for you in the last 30 days? 
2. “The food that we bought just didn’t last and we didn’t have money to get 

more.” Was that often, sometimes, or never true for you in the last 30 days? 
3. “We couldn’t afford to eat balanced meals.” Was that often, sometimes, or 

never true for you in the last 30 days? 
4. In the last 30 days, did you or other adults in the household ever cut the size 

of your meals or skip meals because there wasn’t enough money for food? 
(Yes/No) 

5. (If yes to question 4) How often did this happen—almost every month, some 
months but not every month, or in only 1 or 2 months? 

6. In the last 30 days, did you ever eat less than you felt you should because 
there wasn’t enough money for food? (Yes/No) 

7. In the last 30 days, were you ever hungry, but didn’t eat, because there 
wasn’t enough money for food? (Yes/No) 

8. In the last 30 days, did you lose weight because there wasn’t enough money 
for food? (Yes/No) 

9. In the last 30 days did you or other adults in your household ever not eat for 
a whole day because there wasn’t enough money for food? (Yes/No) 

10. (If yes to question 9) How often did this happen – almost every month, 
some months but not every month, or in only 1 or 2 months? 

Draft Healthy Weight Strategy for Leicestershire

20  |  Leicestershire County Council  

DRAFT

148



Appendix D 
Case studies 
Case Studies with Examples of whole systems projects working towards reduction 
and prevention of obesity

All these examples show working across multiple issues as well as multiple 
stakeholders and key with these is also leadership at various levels be it Sadiq 
Kahn (Major of London) or a GP in a practice. 

Social Prescribing – Measham and Kindling Trust
A doctor’s surgery in Measham has land available and is developing plans to 
incorporate fruit/vegetable planting on that land. It would be used as a social 
prescribing resourced managed through TCV (funding is currently being sought). 
This is a perfect combination of growing food (and therefore more likely to take 
pride in and eat the produce) and physical activity on land in a familiar setting. 
There will also be the opportunity to work with the audience to support with 
cooking skills.

In Greater Manchester the Kindling Trust works to support people with growing 
and accessing fresh fruit and veg. This funded project saw people receiving fruit 
and veg on prescription, along with support to grow and cook. https://kindling.
org.uk/more_than_medicine_film 

Transport for London Advertising ban on junk food
TFL recently banned junk food advertising on its assets – this was a big decision 
as TFL has one of the largest advertising assets in the world.

Campaigns 
Healthy start vouchers, campaign to include measure of food 
poverty in national statistics, coca cola Christmas tour ban, 
refill water campaign.
Various campaigns revolve around SFC and its partners including – 

Healthy Start voucher campaign – supporting places to increase uptake in 
vouchers so that people in food poverty can access support.

A recent campaign called for national statistics to include asking people about 
food security – the government has committed to measuring household food 
insecurity following pressure from charities involved with SFC.

A campaign as part of Sugar Smart (an SFC campaign) which saw some places 
refusing permission to stop the coke truck on public land, and letters and protests 
at supermarkets allowing the truck to stop. There was also a spotlight shone on 
the fact that the truck was visiting areas with worse than average health problems 
relating to diet-related disease and some locations where 30% of the children 
have experienced tooth decay.

Linked to this, Sugar Smart has also looked at raising the profile of water as 
opposed to sugary drinks, and the need to offer free water in public places. 
Leicester are looking at this as part of their new Food Plan.

Draft Healthy Weight Strategy for Leicestershire

21  |  Leicestershire County Council  

DRAFT

149

https://kindling.org.uk/more_than_medicine_film
https://kindling.org.uk/more_than_medicine_film


Vegpower in Leicestershire
Supporting schools with Veg Power packs. We will be providing finance for 50 
schools in Leicestershire to have free resources to participate in the 202 Veg 
Power campaign. This will be coordinated with Food for Life and Leicestershire 
Traded Services so that national advertising (ITV, channel 4 and supermarket 
product advertising) links with vegetables used in school meals and this is then 
capitalised upon in school with use of resources.

Blackburn & Darwin: training staff to help tackle weight issues in the early year 
settings, using 8 e-learning modules including: behaviour change techniques, 
unhealthy weight in early year settings, nutrition, physical activity and sedentary 
behaviour and culture.

Blackpool: Healthy food awards for local take away and restaurants, family-
based weight management services, ‘Giving Up Loving Pop’ (GULP) campaign in 
secondary schools 

Soil Association’s Out to Lunch campaign ranks children’s food in 28 of the UKs 
most popular restaurants and supermarket cafes 

Carlisle: Fruit & Veg snack van for communities (as an alternative to an ice-cream 
van)

Essex: School activities including Daily Mile, Let’s Get Cooking, Active Heart 
lessons in schools

Draft Healthy Weight Strategy for Leicestershire

22  |  Leicestershire County Council  

DRAFT

150



Draft Healthy Weight Strategy for Leicestershire

23  |  Leicestershire County Council  

DRAFT

151



DRAFT

152


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the meeting held on 9 September 2020.
	8 Healthwatch Leicestershire report - Patient experience of Children and Adolescents Mental Health Services.
	CAMHS-report

	9 Healthwatch Leicestershire Report - Using dental services with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities.
	Dentistry and SEND

	10 Health Performance Report.
	Appendix 1 - 20201027 COVID-19 Cases Weekly Hotspots Report
	Appendix 2 - Week41_COVID19_Leicestershire_V1.01
	Appendices 3  4 - PH Benchmarking  AR Dashboards
	Appendix 5 - AC Benchmarking  AR Dashboards Edit
	Appendix 6 - Public Health narrative

	11 Development of a Healthy Weight Strategy for Leicestershire.
	U0494 Healthy Weight Strategy 04
	_Hlk38965823
	_Hlk38966003
	_Hlk36630951
	_Hlk36630845
	Introduction 
	Why do we need a healthy weight strategy?
	Why is it an issue?
	Our vision 
	The local context
	Outcomes 

	Delivery themes and 
strategic objectives 
	Delivery Theme 1
Promoting a Healthy Weight Environment 
	Strategic Objective 1
Improve the awareness and availability of healthy and sustainable food and drink in all sectors
	Strategic Objective 2
Support settings to prevent obesity and increase healthy weight in adults, children and families

	Delivery Theme 2
Support for People to achieve 
a Healthy Weight 
	Strategic Objective 3
Co-ordinate healthy weight pathway including prevention, self-management and supported weight management

	Delivery theme 3
Prioritise healthy weight through systems leadership 
	Strategic objective 4
Develop a workforce that is confident 
and competent talking about and promoting healthy weight 
	Strategic Objective 5
Working with partners and stakeholders 
to support the development of a whole 
systems approach to healthy weight 

	Appendix A 






